TITLE 22 BELLINGHAM MUNICIPAL CODE SHORELINE MASTER PROGRAM

Table of Contents

	CONTENTS	
HOW TO L	ISE THIS DOCUMENT	ix
	CTION	
22.01 AUT	HORITY AND PURPOSE	1
22.01.10	AUTHORITY	1
22.01.20	TITLE	
22.01.30	PURPOSES	
22.01.40 22.01.50	GOVERNING PRINCIPLES (WAC 173-26-186)FINDINGS	
22.01.50	ENACTMENT	
22.01.70	LIBERAL CONSTRUCTION	
22.02 SHC	RELINE GOALS AND POLICIES	
22.02.10	GENERAL GOALS AND Policies	
22.02.20	SHORELINE GOALS	
22.03 JUR	ISDICTION, MAPS AND ENVIRONMENT DESIGNATIONS	19
22.03.10	SHORELINE JURISDICTION	19
22.03.20	SHORELINE MAPS	
22.03.30	SHORELINE ENVIRONMENT DESIGNATIONS	
22.04 SHC	RELINES OF STATEWIDE SIGNIFICANCE	44
22.04.10	ADOPTION OF POLICY	
22.04.20	DESIGNATION	
22.04.30	GENERAL POLICIES	
	PLICABILITY, EXEMPTIONS, RELATIONSHIP TO OTHER REGU	
	ID NONCONFORMITY	
22.05.10 22.05.20	APPLICABILITYEXEMPTIONS	
22.05.20	RELATIONS	
22.05.40	NONCONFORMITY	
22.06 SHC	RELINE PERMITS	57
22.06.10	PERMIT PROCESS	
22.06.20	SUBMITTAL REQUIREMENTS	57
22.06.30	SHORELINE SUBSTANTIAL DEVELOPMENTS	
22.06.40	VARIANCES	
22.06.50 22.06.60	CONDITIONAL USESFEES	
22.06.60	APPEALS	
22.06.70	STATE ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY ACT (SEPA) COMPLIANCE	
22.06.90	EXPIRATIONS AND EXTENSIONS	
22.06.100	PERMIT REVISIONS	
22.07 ADN	MINISTRATION AND LEGAL PROVISIONS	65
22.07.10	ADMINISTRATION	65
22.07.20	AMENDMENTS	65

22.07.30	PENALTIES AND VIOLATIONS	65
22.07.40	REMEDIES	66
22.07.50	SEVERABILITY	67
22.07.60	REVISED PROGRAM	
22.07.70	REFERENCES TO PLANS, REGULATIONS OR INFORMATION SOURCES	
22.08 GEN	ERAL POLICIES AND REGULATIONS	
22.08.10	SHORELINE BUFFERS	
22.08.20	MITIGATION SEQUENCING	
22.08.30	CRITICAL AREAS	
22.08.40	CRITICAL SALTWATER HABITATS (Fish and Wildlife Habitat Conservation A	
22.08.50	CRITICAL FRESHWATER HABITATS (Fish and Wildlife Conservation Areas)	
22.08.60	CRITICAL AREA REGULATIONS FOR WETLANDS WITHIN THE SHORELI	
22 00 70	JURISDICTION	
22.08.70	FLOOD HAZARD REDUCTION	
22.08.80	CRITICAL AREA REGULATIONS FOR GEOLOGIC HAZARD AREAS WITH	
22.08.90	THE SHORELINE jurISDICTION (this entire section; OLCR) PUBLIC ACCESS	
22.08.90	SHORELINE NATIVE VEGETATION MANAGEMENT	
22.08.100	WATER QUALITY, STORMWATER, AND NONPOINT POLLUTION	
22.08.110	SHORELINE MODIFICATIONS / STABILIZATION	90
22.08.120	ARCHAEOLOGICAL AND HISTORIC RESOURCES	
22.08.130	DREDGING AND DISPOSAL	
22.08.150	IN-WATER STRUCTURES	
22.08.160	CLEARING AND GRADING	
22.08.170	LANDFILL	
22.08.180	LIGHTING	
22.08.190	PARKING	
22.08.200	SIGNAGE	106
22.08.210	STORMWATER MANAGEMENT FACILITIES	107
22.09 USE	POLICIES AND REGULATIONS	109
22.09.10	AQUACULTURE	109
22.09.20	BOATING FACILITIES	
22.09.30	COMMERCIAL DEVELOPMENT	
22.09.40	FOREST PRACTICES	
22.09.50	INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT	
22.09.60	PIERS, FLOATS, PILINGS - LAKE WHATCOM AND LAKE PADDEN	
22.09.70	PIERS, FLOATS, PILINGS WITHIN MARINE SHORELINES	
22.09.80	RECREATIONAL DEVELOPMENT	
22.09.90	RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT	
22.09.100	RESTORATION AND CONSERVATION	
22.09.110	ROADS, RAILWAYS, AND UTILITIES	
_	NITIONS	128
	RELINE DESIGNATION MAPS, SHORELINES OF STATEWIDE SNIFICANCE AND DEVELOPMENT REGULATION MATRICES	4
22.11.10	SHORELINE DESIGNATION MAPSSHORELINES OF STATEWIDE SIGNIFICANCE MAP	
22.11.20		

LIST OF APPENDICES

APPENDIX A – Shoreline Characterization and Inventory	A-1
APPENDIX B – Restoration Plan	B-1
APPENDIX C – Shoreline Environment Designation CriteriaC-Error! Bookmark r	ot defined.
APPENDIX D – CMZ Documentation	D-1
APPENDIX E – Submittal Requirements	.E-1

This page intentionally left blank

PREFACE

The City of Bellingham, through adoption of this Shoreline Master Program, intends to implement the Washington State Shoreline Management Act and its policies including protecting the State's shorelines and their associated natural resources, identifying areas for preferred uses, and providing opportunities for the general public to have access to and enjoy shorelines in general.

The Shoreline Management Act (SMA or the Act), Chapter RCW 90.58.020, states:

"The legislature finds that the shorelines of the state are among the most valuable and fragile of its natural resources and that there is great concern throughout the state relating to their utilization, protection, restoration and preservation. In addition it finds that ever increasing pressures of additional uses are being placed on the shorelines necessitating increased coordination in the management and development of the shorelines of the state. The legislature further finds that much of the shorelines of the state and the uplands adjacent thereto are in private ownership; that unrestricted construction on the privately owned or publicly owned shorelines of the state is not in the best public interest and therefore, coordinated planning is necessary in order to protect the public interest associated with the shorelines of the state while, at the same time, recognizing and protecting private property rights consistent with the public interest. There is, therefore, a clear and urgent demand for a planned, rational, and concerted effort, jointly performed by federal state and local governments, to prevent the inherent harm in an uncoordinated and piecemeal development of the state's shorelines.

"It is the policy of the state to provide for the management of the shorelines of the state by planning for and fostering all reasonable and appropriate uses. This policy is designed to insure the development of these shorelines in a manner which, while allowing for limited reduction of rights of the public in the navigable waters, will promote and enhance the public interest. This policy contemplates protecting against adverse effects to the public health, the land and its vegetation and wildlife, and the waters of the state and their aquatic life, while protecting generally public rights of navigation and corollary rights incidental thereto."

The Act places additional importance on those shorelines of the state that are within the interest of all the citizens of Washington State. These are called shorelines of statewide significance (SSWS). In Bellingham, these are the shorelines of Bellingham Bay and Lake Whatcom. RCW 90.58.020 of the Shoreline Management Act goes on to state the following:

"The legislature declares that interest of all people shall be paramount in the management of shorelines of statewide significance. The department (of Ecology) in adopting guidelines for shorelines of statewide significance, and local government in developing master programs for shorelines of statewide significance shall give preference to uses in the following order of preference which:

¹ Please refer to BMC 22.04 for the precise definition of 'Shorelines of Statewide Significance.'

- 1 Recognize and protect the statewide interest over local interest;
- 2. Preserve the natural character of the shoreline;
- 3. Result in long-term over short term benefit;
- 4. Protect the resources and ecology of the shoreline;
- 5. Increase public access to publicly owned areas of the shorelines;
- 6. Increase recreational opportunities for the public in the shoreline;
- 7. Provide for any other element as defined in RCW 90.58.100 deemed appropriate or necessary.

"In the implementation of this policy, the public's opportunity to enjoy the physical and aesthetic qualities of natural shorelines of the state shall be preserved to the greatest extent feasible consistent with the overall best interest of the state and the people generally. To this end uses shall be preferred which are consistent with control of pollution and prevention of damage to the natural environment, or are unique to or dependent upon use of the state's shoreline. Alterations of the natural condition of the shorelines of the state, in those limited instances when authorized, shall be given priority for single-family residences and their appurtenant structures, ports, shoreline recreational uses including but not limited to industrial and commercial developments which are particularly dependent on their location on or use of the shorelines of the state and other development that will provide an opportunity for substantial numbers of the people to enjoy the shorelines of the state. Alterations of the natural condition of the shorelines and shorelands of the state shall be recognized by the department. Shorelines and shorelands of the state shall be appropriately classified and these classifications shall be revised when circumstances warrant regardless of whether the change in circumstances occurs through man-made causes or natural causes. Any areas resulting from alterations of the natural condition of the shorelines and shorelands of the state no longer meeting the definition of 'shorelines of the state' shall not be subject to the provisions of Chapter 90.58 RCW.

"Permitted uses in the shorelines of the state shall be designed and conducted in a manner to minimize, insofar as practical, any resultant damage to the ecology and environment of the shoreline area and any interference with the public's use of the water." (RCW 90.58.020)

In order to implement this policy, the City, through this Master Program, strives to achieve the following objectives which are also identified in WAC 173-26-251-3 (Shoreline Guidelines) and Bellingham Municipal Code (BMC) 22.04.30 *General Policies*:

- The City has consulted with state agencies (regulatory and non-regulatory) and affected Indian Tribes via the Technical Advisory Committee for recommendations on protection of SSWS and the resources they provide.
- Preserve the SSWS for future generations by preventing irreversible harm or damage to the resource and implement restoration goals for long-term recovery.
- Identify areas where certain uses should be located and developed given the presence and importance of ecological resources within and outside of the City's jurisdiction. Water-

- dependent uses, public access, recreational opportunities and essential public facilities are examples of uses that should be appropriately sited in order to protect a resource.
- Develop use regulations that are protective of the resource that a SSWS provides without conflicting with the overall objectives of the SMA.
- Develop consistency between the City's Comprehensive Plan and the policies for SSWS.

This page intentionally left blank

HOW TO USE THIS DOCUMENT

The following summary provides an overview of the Shoreline Master Program (SMP or Program) contents with a brief explanation of its general format and procedures. Readers should refer to the Introduction for additional information on the history and rationale behind shoreline management.

PROGRAM FORMAT

The City of Bellingham SMP includes goals, policies and regulations. The SMP is a comprehensive plan for how shorelines should be used and developed over time. Goals, policies and regulations provide direction for shoreline users and developers on issues such as use compatibility, setbacks, public access, building height, parking locations, mitigation, and the like.

The general purpose, goals and policies are found in BMC 22.01 and 22.02. Together they provide direction and context for the specific policies and regulations in the Program. Policies are broad statements of intention that are generally phrased using words such as "should." For example, "In-water structures should be constructed with material and treatments that will not impair or degrade water quality." In contrast, regulations are requirements that are necessary to implement the policies. For example, "Treated pilings are prohibited in Lake Whatcom and Lake Padden."

BMC 22.03 describes the shoreline jurisdiction consistent with state regulations as well as the shoreline environment designations that are applied to each shoreline reach. The environment designation section includes information on interpretation, purpose, management policies and general regulations such as buffers. The shoreline designations function similar to zoning districts in that they determine which uses are allowed, which are conditional, and which are prohibited in shoreline areas.

Shorelines designated as "shorelines of statewide significance" (SSWS) by the Shoreline Management Act (RCW 90.58) are listed in BMC 22.04, along with policies for their use. Shorelines of statewide significance are major resources from which all people of the state derive benefit. These areas must be managed to ensure optimum implementation of the Act's objectives.

BMC 22.05 explains the types of development the Program has jurisdiction over, which activities it recognizes as exempt or non-conforming, and its relationship to other ordinances and laws.

BMC 22.06 contains procedures and review criteria for substantial development permits, conditional use permits and shoreline variances. BMC 22.07 addresses the administration of the Program's regulations and other legal provisions.

General policies and regulations, including uses allowed in required buffers, criteria for maximizing a buffer area as well as the comprehensive policies and regulations for specific shoreline uses such as commercial development, industrial development, recreation, and the like, are described in BMC 22.08 and 22.09. Some developments may be subject to more than one of the subsections.

BACKGROUND INFORMATION

The 2004 City of Bellingham Shoreline Characterization and Inventory (SCI) is included as APPENDIX A². The policies and regulations of this SMP are based on the results of the SCI. This shoreline inventory was compiled to meet the requirements in RCW 90.58.100(1) and WAC 173.26.201(2). The City assembled a Technical Advisory Committee consisting of the following state, local, tribal, and non-profit agencies to assist with the SCI, and provide professional guidance and recommendations:

Department of Ecology Department of Natural Resources Whatcom County ReSources Coastal Geological Services Inc. WA State Fish and Wildlife Port of Bellingham Lummi Nation and Nooksack Tribe Puget Sound Action Team

The City considered plans, studies, surveys, inventories, and systems of classification made or being made by federal, state, regional, or local agencies, by tribes and private individuals, and by other organizations dealing with pertinent shorelines of the state. The data sources are identified in the Literature Reviewed section of the SCI.

The SCI identifies data gaps that can be filled over time as resources become available. This will allow the City to build a more complete inventory so that when this SMP is updated or amended in seven years (as is required by state law) new data and information can be used to develop new goals, policies and regulations for shoreline protection.

The SCI includes a Geographic Information System (GIS) database. This GIS will link the inventory information to parcels and applicable goals, policies and regulations, and it will be easily updated as additional data become available. The SCI contains data on:

- Ecosystem-wide processes (landscape analysis): vegetative cover, impervious areas, soils, hydrology, and habitat connectivity. Areas are characterized as sustainable, not sustainable, or impaired.
- Water body/reach specific data: zoning, physical land use patterns, coverage within basin, critical areas, degraded areas, priority habitats, cleanup sites, public access sites, floodplains and channel migration zones, historic resources, sustainable conditions, fish use, restoration opportunities, and physical characteristics of shoreline. Shorelines are characterized as sustainable, not sustainable, or impaired.

 $^{^2\,}$ A CD copy of the SCI can be purchased from the Planning Department for \$2.

Also included as part of the City's SMP update is a Restoration Plan (APPENDIX B). Restoration planning is the mechanism to be used by the City to achieve a net gain in ecological functions throughout each watershed. Restoration planning is different than regulatory controls because the latter are developed to maintain 'no net loss' of ecological function within shorelines. Regulatory controls can include, but are not limited to, a sequence of mitigation measures and development of setbacks or buffer specifications. The Restoration Plan is a comprehensive set of restoration objectives and opportunities identified through already completed planning efforts or on a project-by-project basis. Examples include the City of Bellingham Park, Recreation and Open Space Plan (2005), the 1995 Whatcom Creek Trail Master Plan, the Greenways Levies and Programs, and work already identified and completed by the Washington Conservation Crew. While individual project proposals may not achieve full restoration of shoreline areas, restoration planning is intended to identify and prioritize restoration objectives and specify individual restoration projects that can be completed when resources become available.

The City of Bellingham is fortunate that substantial restoration planning efforts have been put forth over the last five to seven years. The Bellingham Bay Demonstration Pilot Project Habitat Documentation Report, the Waterfront Futures Group (WFG) Framework Plan, the Whatcom Creek Environmental Assessment and Restoration Plan (for the pipeline fire), and the Environmental Resources Division of the City's Public Works Department (to name only a few) all make specific restoration opportunity recommendations. The SMP Restoration Plan is not intended to take the place of or prioritize itself over these or other already established restoration plans that the City has initiated or completed.

INITIAL PROCEDURES

If you intend to develop or use lands adjacent to a shoreline of the state as defined in BMC 22.03, consult first with the Planning Department to determine if you need a shoreline permit; they will also tell you about other necessary government approvals.

To find out if your proposal is permitted by the Program, first determine which shoreline environment designation applies to your site. Then check to see if the environment designation policies and regulations in BMC 22.03 allow the proposed use. Your proposal may be permitted outright, allowed only as a conditional use, or prohibited. It may also require a variance.

Although your proposal may be permitted by Program regulations or even exempt from specific permit requirements, all proposals must comply with all relevant policies and regulations of the entire Program as well as the general purpose and intent of the SMP.

For development and uses allowed under this Program, the City must find that the proposal is generally consistent with the applicable policies and regulations, unless a variance is to be granted. When your proposal requires an approval or statement of exemption, submit the proper application to the City's Permit Center. Processing of your application will vary depending on its size, value, and features. Contact the Planning and Community Development Department at (360) 676-6982 for additional information.

This page intentionally left blank

INTRODUCTION

The shorelines of Bellingham have great social, ecological, recreational, cultural, economic and aesthetic value. Bellingham's lake, river, and near-shore areas provide citizens with clean water; deep-water port and industrial sites; habitat for a variety of fish and wildlife including salmon, shellfish, forage fish, and waterfowl; archaeological and historical sites; open space; and areas for boating, fishing, and other forms of recreation. In many cases, Bellingham's shoreline resources are limited and irreplaceable. Use and development of shoreline areas must be carefully planned and regulated to ensure that these values are maintained over time.

The City of Bellingham Shoreline Master Program (SMP or the Program) is a result of Washington State legislation requiring all jurisdictions to adequately manage and protect shorelines of the state. Washington's Shoreline Management Act (SMA or Act) (Revised Code of Washington [RCW] 90.48) was passed by the Legislature in 1971 and adopted by the public in a 1972 referendum. The goal of the SMA is "to prevent the inherent harm of uncoordinated and piecemeal development of the state's shorelines." The Act specifically states:

"It is the policy of the State to provide for the management of the shorelines of the State by planning for and fostering all reasonable and appropriate uses. This policy is designed to insure the development of these shorelines in a manner, which, while allowing for limited reduction of rights of the public in the navigable waters, will promote and enhance the public interest. This policy contemplates protecting against adverse effects to the public health, the land and its vegetation and wildlife, and the waters of the State and their aquatic life, while protecting generally public rights of navigation and corollary rights incidental thereto."

The City of Bellingham prepared this SMP to meet the requirements of the Washington State SMA. This SMP provides goals, policies, and regulations for shoreline use and protection and establishes a permit system for administering the Program. The goals, policies, and regulations contained herein are tailored to the specific geographic, economic, and environmental needs of the City of Bellingham.

The Shoreline Management Act and its implementing legislation (Washington Administrative Code [WAC] 173-26 or Shoreline Guidelines) establish a broad policy giving preference to shoreline uses that:

Depend on proximity to the shoreline ("water-dependent uses"),

Protect biological and ecological resources, water quality and the natural environment, and

Preserve and enhance public access or increase recreational opportunities for the public along shorelines.

The overall goal of this SMP is to achieve rational, balanced, and responsible use of our irreplaceable shorelines. In implementing this Program, the public's opportunity to enjoy the

physical and aesthetic qualities of shorelines of the State shall be preserved to the greatest extent feasible. Implementing the SMP must protect the ecological function of shorelines and, at a minimum, achieve a 'no net loss' of ecological function. Single-family residences; ports; shoreline recreational uses (including but not limited to parks, marinas, piers, and other improvements); water-dependent industrial and commercial developments; and other developments that depend on a shoreline location shall be given priority. Permitted shoreline uses shall be designed and conducted to minimize damage to the ecology of the shoreline and/or interference with the public's use of the water and, where consistent with public access planning, provide opportunities for the general public to have access to the shorelines.

The City of Bellingham last updated its SMP in 1989. Since that time, there have been substantial changes in the way shorelines are regulated. New scientific data and research methods have improved our understanding of shoreline ecological functions and their value in terms of fish and wildlife, water quality and human health. This information also helps us understand how development in these sensitive areas impacts these functions and values. The new Shoreline Guidelines, upon which this SMP is based, reflect this improved understanding and place a priority on protection and restoration of shoreline ecological functions.

22.01 AUTHORITY AND PURPOSE

22.01.10 AUTHORITY

Authority for enactment and administration of this Shoreline Master Program (SMP) is the Washington State Shoreline Management Act of 1971, Chapter 90.58 Revised Code of Washington (RCW), also referred to herein as "the Act" or SMA.

22.01.20 TITLE

This document shall be known and may be cited as Title 22 of the Bellingham Municipal Code (BMC) and referred to as "The Bellingham Shoreline Master Program," "the Program," or "the Master Program."

22.01.30 PURPOSES

- A. Consistent with the Shoreline Management Act, this Program is intended "to prevent the inherent harm of uncoordinated and piecemeal development of the state's shorelines."
- B. The specific purposes of this Program are to implement the following laws or the applicable elements of the following:
 - 1. Shoreline Management Act: RCW 90.58;
 - 2. Shoreline Guidelines: WAC 173-26:
 - 3. Shoreline Management Permit and Enforcement procedures: WAC 173-27;

and to achieve consistency with the following laws or the applicable elements of the following:

- 4. The Growth Management Act: RCW 36.70A;
- 5. Bellingham Comprehensive Plan, 2006; and
- 6. Bellingham Development Regulations pursuant to RCW 36.70A
- C. Further, this Program seeks to administer protection of critical areas within shoreline jurisdiction that is at least equal to that of the Critical Areas Ordinance and provides for no net loss of shoreline ecological function, BMC 16.55. (NOTE: This language mirrors RCW 90.58.090 [4])

OUTSIDE LEGAL COUNCIL REVISIONS

22.01.40 GOVERNING PRINCIPLES (WAC 173-26-186)

The following principles are from WAC 173-26-186:

A. The purpose and intent of these governing principles is to articulate a set of foundation concepts that underpin the Shoreline Guidelines, guide the development of the planning policies and regulatory provisions of master programs, and provide direction to the Department of Ecology in reviewing and approving master programs. These governing principles, along with the policy statement of RCW

90.58.020, other relevant provisions of the Act, the regulatory reform policies and provisions of RCW 34.05.328, and the policy goals set forth in WAC 173-26-176 and 173-26-181 should be used to assist in interpretation of any ambiguous provisions and reconciliation of any conflicting provisions of the guidelines.

- 1. The Shoreline Guidelines are subordinate to the Act. Any inconsistency between the guidelines and the Act must be resolved in accordance with the Act.
- 2. The Shoreline Guidelines are intended to reflect the policy goals of the Act, as described in WAC 173-26-175 and WAC 173-26-180.
- 3. All relevant policy goals must be addressed in the planning policies of master programs.
- 4. The planning policies of master programs (as distinguished from the development regulations of master programs) may be achieved by a number of means, only one of which is the regulation of development. Other means, as authorized by RCW 90.58.240, include, but are not limited to: the acquisition of lands and easements within shorelines of the state by purchase, lease, or gift, either alone or in concert with other local governments and accepting grants, contributions, and appropriations from any public or private agency or individual. Additional other means may include but are not limited to, public facility and park planning, watershed planning, voluntary salmon recovery projects and incentive programs.
- 5. The policy goals of the Act, implemented by the planning policies of master programs, may not be achieved by development regulations alone. Planning policies should be pursued through the regulation of development of private property only to an extent that is consistent with all relevant constitutional and other legal limitations (where applicable, statutory limitations such as those contained in RCW 82.02 and RCW 43.21C.060) on the regulation of private property.
- 6. The territorial jurisdiction of the master program's planning function and regulatory function are legally distinct. The planning function may, and in some circumstances must, look beyond the territorial limits of shorelines of the state. (RCW 90.58.340) The regulatory function is limited to the territorial limits of shorelines of the state, RCW 90.58.140(1) as defined in RCW 90.58.030(2).
- 7. The planning policies and regulatory provisions of master programs and the comprehensive plans and development regulations, adopted under RCW 36.70A.040, shall be integrated and coordinated in accordance with RCW 90.58.340, RCW 36.70A.480, RCW 34.05.328(1)(h) and 1995 Washington laws Chapter 347, §1.
- 8. Through numerous references to and emphasis on the maintenance, protection, restoration, and preservation of fragile shoreline natural resources, public health, the land and its vegetation and wildlife, the waters and their aquatic life, ecology, and environment, the Act makes protection of the shoreline environment an essential statewide policy goal consistent with the other policy

goals of the Act. It is recognized that shoreline ecological functions may be impaired not only by shoreline development subject to the substantial development permit requirement of the Act but also by past actions, unregulated activities, and development that is exempt from the Act's permit requirements. The principle regarding protecting shoreline ecological systems is accomplished by these guidelines in several ways, and in the context of related topics. These include:

- a. Local government is guided in its review and amendment of local master programs so that it uses a process that identifies, inventories, and ensures meaningful understanding of current and potential ecological functions provided by affected shorelines.
- b. Local master programs shall include policies and regulations designed to achieve no net loss of those ecological functions.
 - i. Local master programs shall include regulations and mitigation standards ensuring that each permitted development will not cause a net loss of ecological functions of the shoreline; local government shall design and implement such regulations and mitigation standards in a manner consistent with all relevant constitutional and other legal limitations on the regulation of private property.
 - ii. Local master programs shall include regulations ensuring that exempt development in the aggregate will not cause a net loss of ecological functions of the shoreline.
- c. For counties and cities containing any shorelines with impaired ecological functions, master programs shall include goals and policies that provide for restoration of such impaired ecological functions. These master program provisions shall identify existing policies and programs that contribute to planned restoration goals and identify any additional policies and programs that local government will implement to achieve its goals. These master program elements regarding restoration should make real and meaningful use of established or funded non-regulatory policies and programs that contribute to restoration of ecological functions, and should appropriately consider the direct or indirect effects of other regulatory or non-regulatory programs under other local, state, and federal laws, as well as any restoration effects that may flow indirectly from shoreline development regulations and mitigation standards.
- d. Local master programs shall evaluate and consider cumulative impacts of reasonably foreseeable future development on shoreline ecological functions and other shoreline functions fostered by the policy goals of the Act. To ensure no net loss of ecological functions and protection of other shoreline functions and/or uses, master programs shall contain policies, programs, and regulations that address adverse cumulative impacts and fairly allocate the burden of addressing cumulative impacts among

development opportunities. Evaluation of such cumulative impacts should consider:

- i. Current circumstances affecting the shorelines and relevant natural processes; and
- ii. Beneficial effects of any established regulatory programs under other local, state, and federal laws; and
- iii. Reasonably foreseeable future development and use of the shoreline. It is recognized that methods of determining reasonably foreseeable future development may vary according to local circumstances, including demographic and economic characteristics and the nature and extent of local shorelines.
- e. The guidelines are not intended to limit the use of regulatory incentives, voluntary modification of development proposals, and voluntary mitigation measures that are designed to restore as well as protect shoreline ecological functions.
- 9. To the extent consistent with the policy and use preference of RCW 90.58.020, this chapter (WAC 173-26) and these principles, local governments have reasonable discretion to balance the various policy goals of this chapter in light of other relevant local, state and federal regulatory and non-regulatory programs and to modify master programs to reflect changing circumstances.
- 10. Local governments, in adopting and amending master programs and the Department of Ecology in its review capacity shall, to the extent feasible, as required by RCW 90.58.100(1):
 - a. Utilize a systematic interdisciplinary approach which will insure the integrated use of the natural and social sciences and the environmental design arts;
 - b. Consult with and obtain the comments of any federal, state, regional or local agency having any special expertise with respect to any environmental impact;
 - c. Consider all plans, studies, surveys, inventories, and systems of classification made or being made by federal, state, regional, or local agencies, by private individual, or by organizations dealing with pertinent 'shorelines of the state';
 - d. Conduct or support such further research, studies, surveys, and interviews as are deemed necessary;
 - e. Utilize all available information regarding hydrology, geography, topography, ecology, economics, and other pertinent data; and

- f. Employ, when feasible, all appropriate, modern scientific data processing and computer techniques to store, index, analyze, and manage the information gathered.
- 11. In reviewing and approving local government actions under RCW 90.58.090, the Department of Ecology shall insure that the state's interest in shorelines is protected, including compliance with the policy and provisions of RCW 90.58.020.

22.01.50 FINDINGS

- Α. The Bellingham City Council concurs with the State Legislature in finding that "the shorelines of the State are among the most valuable and fragile natural resources and that there is great concern throughout the state relating to their utilization, protection, restoration, and preservation. In addition, it finds that ever increasing pressures of additional uses are being placed on the shorelines necessitating increased coordination in the management and development of the shorelines of the state. The legislature further finds that much of the shorelines of the state and the uplands adjacent thereto are in private ownership; that unrestricted construction on the privately owned or publicly owned shorelines of the state is not in the best public interest; and therefore coordinated planning is necessary in order to protect the public interest associated with the shorelines of the state while, at the same time, recognizing and protecting private property rights consistent with the public interest. There is, therefore, a clear and urgent demand for a planned, rational and concerted effort, jointly performed by federal, state and local governments, to prevent the inherent harm in an uncoordinated and piecemeal development of the state's shorelines." (RCW 90.58.020)
- B. By ratifying Initiative 43B in the 1972 General Election, the people of the State approved the Shoreline Management Act. This law vests counties and cities with the primary responsibility for conserving certain shorelines through comprehensive planning and reasonable regulation of development and use.
- C. This Council deems the goals, objectives, shoreline environment designations, policies, regulations, and procedures set forth in this SMP to be essential to protection of the public health, safety and general welfare of the people of the City of Bellingham.

22.01.60 ENACTMENT

The City Council of Bellingham does hereby ordain and enact into law this SMP and all sections and paragraphs of this Title.

22.01.70 LIBERAL CONSTRUCTION

As provided for in RCW 90.58.900, the Shoreline Management Act is exempted from the rule of strict construction; the Act and this SMP shall therefore be liberally construed to give full effect to the purposes, goals, objectives, and policies for which the Act and this SMP were enacted and adopted, respectively.

22.02 SHORELINE GOALS AND POLICIES

22.02.10 GENERAL GOALS AND POLICIES

- A. The goals and policies of this SMP are intended to be comprehensive goal statements. These statements reflect and carry forward the 'shoreline' elements within the various plans listed below:
 - 1. Department of Ecology Shoreline Master Program Guidelines WAC 173-26 (2003);
 - 2. Waterfront Futures Group (WFG) Framework and Action Plan (October, 2004) and resolution #2005-04 adopting the Guiding Principles and endorsing subarea recommendations and early action items;
 - 3. City of Bellingham Comprehensive Plan (2006) and applicable Individual Neighborhood Plans;
 - 4. Final Environmental Impact Statement City of Bellingham Comprehensive Plan Update (2004);
 - 5. Port of Bellingham Comprehensive Scheme of Harbor Improvements;
 - 6. Whatcom Creek Waterfront Action Plan (1998);
 - 7. Squalicum Creek Floodplain Management Plan (1994);
 - 8. Watershed Master Plan (1995), as amended;
 - 9. City of Bellingham Park, Recreation and Open Space Plan (2005);
 - 10. Whatcom Creek Trail Master Plan (1995); and
 - 11. Squalicum Creek Greenway Master Plan (1995).

22.02.20 SHORELINE GOALS

A. SHORELINE USE

The shoreline use element considers the proposed general distribution and general location and extent of the use of shorelines and adjacent land areas for housing, business, industry, transportation, agriculture, natural resources, recreation, education, public buildings and grounds, utilities and other categories of public and private land use.

1. Goal

a. Coordinate shoreline uses to insure uses that result in long-term over short-term benefit, protect and restore the shoreline resources and ecological functions, increase public access to the shoreline, and promote economic development and accommodate water-dependent uses.

2. Objectives

a. Upland areas adjacent to waters with appropriate depth shipping channels should be preserved for water-dependent and water-related uses unless

- otherwise stated. Water-enjoyment uses should be provided where substantial numbers of citizens can enjoy access to the water, physical or visual. (RCW 90.58.020)
- b. Marine shorelines such as Boulevard, Marine, Zuanich Point Parks and Little Squalicum Beach should be preserved for long-term water-enjoyment and public access, and the shorelines in said locations should be restored and/or at least bioengineered to provide improved shoreline ecological function.
- c. Shoreline mixed-use development should be promoted in the areas between the historic Georgia Pacific (GP) log pond and Roeder Avenue, between the Taylor Avenue Dock and BNRR trestle in Fairhaven, Squalicum Marine Center between the inner and outer boat basins, the Squalicum Peninsula and the Cornwall Avenue Landfill. Shoreline mixed uses should be located in these areas due to their waterfront location, proximity to high-density residential areas, trail linkages and urban core areas (Central Business District & Fairhaven).
- d. Where shoreline mixed uses occur, those areas should also be targeted for the restoration of shoreline ecological function.
- e. At the time of annexation, the Mount Baker Plywood Peninsula should be considered a preferable area for mixed-use water-oriented development. These mixed-use shoreline developments have the opportunity to restore shoreline ecological functions, attract substantial numbers of citizens to the shoreline for public access, and stimulate economic development.
- f. The Whatcom, Squalicum, Chuckanut and Padden Creek estuary systems as well as those pocket estuaries identified on the Marine maps in BMC 22.11 should be restored to achieve a net gain in ecological function. Restoration may include, but should not be limited to:
 - i. Creation of intertidal zone and bank re-sloping;
 - ii. Landfill, debris and piling removal;
 - iii. Remediation of contaminated aquatic and upland sediments;
 - iv. Establishment of native riparian and aquatic vegetation;
 - v. Identification of appropriate public access opportunities.
- g. The Whatcom, Squalicum and Chuckanut Creek corridors should be restored and enhanced to achieve a net gain in shoreline ecological function.
- h. Lagoons that are defined as pocket estuaries and pocket beaches, despite being heavily impacted over time, should be restored and protected for their ability to support a variety of marine and upland species, especially salmon.

- i. Impacts to Lake Whatcom as a drinking water source and a recreational area should be minimized. Uses within the Lake Whatcom Watershed should be guided by Joint Resolution Numbers 92-73 and 92-68 and the Lake Whatcom Reservoir Regulatory Chapter (BMC 16.80). Impervious surfaces and in-water and over-water structures should be reduced or minimized and native vegetation should be retained or established to help reduce impacts to this valuable resource. These local directives are mission statements for the City of Bellingham, Whatcom County and Water District Number 10 to protect and improve the water quality within the Lake Whatcom Watershed.
- j. Lake Padden should be regulated and preserved as a regional recreational attraction. The lake shoreline should be preserved and enhanced where feasible to improve the shoreline ecology and public access opportunities. Existing and new upland activities should be developed and/or monitored to preserve water quality for continued water-enjoyment and ecological function.

B. RESTORATION AND CONSERVATION

The restoration and conservation element provides for the preservation of existing and rehabilitation of degraded natural resources, ecosystem processes and functions, scenic vistas, and aesthetics. (Specific restoration sites called out in this section are examples and are not an exhaustive compilation. Please see the Restoration Plan, APPENDIX B for listings.)

1. Goal

a. Restoration and conservation should occur via comprehensive restoration planning, public land acquisition, placing of conservation easements, site design and as development / redevelopment occurs. Activities that restore and enhance ecological functions of our shorelines should be emphasized. This Master Program's regulations and policies are required to achieve no net loss of shoreline ecological function on a reach and watershed scale. The restoration priority goals and objectives in the Restoration Plan (APPENDIX B) are intended to restore and improve ecological functions of our shorelines citywide.

- a. Restoration should improve the ecological functions of aquatic and upland areas within shorelines.
- b. Shoreline restoration and conservation efforts should be coordinated with Whatcom County, Port of Bellingham and other public agencies, especially for shoreline systems whose watersheds extend into County jurisdiction.
- c. Development should take appropriate steps to avoid shoreline modification and stabilization, utilize a range of Low Impact Development techniques, minimize site disturbance, and avoid or minimize impacts to critical areas within shorelines.

- d. Redevelopment should be encouraged to improve ecological functions and restore riparian buffers where feasible.
- e. Shorelines of Lake Whatcom should be restored in such a manner that bulkheads are removed, in-water structures are minimized, and a variety of native vegetation is planted within close proximity to the shoreline so that natural processes are reintroduced.
- f. Restoration projects should be consistent with management recommendations developed by the Lake Whatcom Inter-jurisdictional Coordinating Team, (ICT) and the TMDL Response Plan (10-5-09 WS) as referenced in the Restoration Plan, APPENDIX B.
- g. Shoreline modification that is intended to restore shorelines impacted by historical uses should be designed and constructed to restore natural processes within shorelines.
- h. Restoration should be conducted in such a manner as to be consistent with the priority goals and objectives within the Restoration Plan, Appendix B.
- i. Voluntary restoration should occur as resources become available with guidance from the Restoration Plan, Appendix B.
- j. Comprehensive restoration planning should implement a framework of citywide restoration goals and priorities consistent with RCW 90.58.340, including for the non-SMA stream drainages and wetlands contributing to the shorelines of the state. Restoration planning should also prioritize projects so that when resources are made available, projects will already be identified for their anticipated improvements to our natural systems.
- k. Squalicum, Whatcom, Padden and Chuckanut Creek estuaries as well as other tidally influenced lagoons or pocket estuaries and pocket beaches should be restored in order to provide an improved level of habitat function and processes. These pocket estuaries are valuable for their diversity of aquatic and upland species habitat opportunities and their ability to support non-natal anadromous fish. As redevelopment occurs adjacent to these areas, these estuaries should be restored to achieve the following:
 - i. Improved tidal floodwater attenuation;
 - ii. Improved nutrient filtering and recycling;
 - iii. Higher quality shellfish habitat;
 - iv. Increased biological support and habitat value for juvenile salmonids and other upland species;
 - v. Shoreline stabilization and large woody debris (LWD) recruitment via native vegetation.

- 1. Restoration efforts should be consistent with the Function Analysis sections for each shoreline reach within the 2004 City of Bellingham Shoreline Characterization and Inventory (SCI).
- m. Bellingham's shorelines and their ecological functions should be inventoried simultaneous with future updates to the Shoreline Master Program and the City's Critical Areas Ordinance in order to determine if there has been a net gain in overall ecological function of our shoreline areas and within our watersheds.
- n. Conservation efforts should be focused on protecting and sustaining ecological functions via protection with conservation easements or dedications to the City of Bellingham for public benefit.
- o. Restoration should occur as remediation of contaminated sediments or sites occur within shorelines and should result in a net gain in shoreline ecological function.

C. ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

The economic development element provides for the location and design of industries, transportation facilities, port facilities, tourist facilities, commerce and other developments that depend on the shorelines of the state for their location or use.

1. Goal

- a. Preserve the federal shipping channels and their adjacent upland areas for water-oriented uses. Priority should be given for water-dependent and water-related uses in these areas because they have appropriate depth for a variety of vessels including commerce, tourism, transient and permanent moorage and transportation linkages.
- b. Upland areas that are not within proximity to the aforementioned shipping channels should be reserved for water-related and water-enjoyment uses and shoreline mixed uses where appropriate.
- c. Development on freshwater shorelines should allow for uses consistent with the applicable underlying zoning while improving the shoreline ecological function of the adjacent water body.

- a. Development on shorelines should result in no net loss of ecological function. Redevelopment should be encouraged to improve ecological functions and restore riparian buffers.
- b. Development of areas for water-dependent uses should be consistent with applicable state and federal laws.
- c. Economic development on City shorelines should focus on a multi-use concept with emphasis on 'infill' areas identified in the 2004 Comprehensive Plan EIS. Providing public access to the shorelines should be an integral element of mixed-use development. Restoring, enhancing

- and protecting shoreline ecological functions should also be implemented such that a no net loss of shoreline ecological function is achieved.
- d. Shoreline mixed uses are encouraged along the marine waterfront especially where either redevelopment planning occurs or where navigability is not presently available. Mixed uses should include all uses that are not water-oriented such as services, retail, offices and residential uses, where appropriate, along with water-oriented uses. Examples of potential areas for shoreline mixed uses are the south side of the Whatcom Waterway between the historic GP log pond and Roeder Avenue, Cornwall Avenue Landfill, the area between Padden Lagoon and Taylor Dock, Bellwether Peninsula and Marine Center, Tilbury Cement Plant and the Mount Baker Plywood Peninsula.
- e. Where economic development occurs along Whatcom, Squalicum and Chuckanut Creeks, their estuaries and/or their tributary confluence zones, riparian and ecological function should be restored, enhanced and/or protected. Developments should be designed to improve public access and should be oriented towards the shoreline in a manner that does not conflict with riparian restoration.
- f. Riparian corridors of the City should be protected such that there is a net gain in shoreline ecological function. Additional protection standards may be employed in concert with other opportunities including but not limited to: acquiring ownership, employing effective design standards, reducing impervious lot coverage, and using Low Impact Development techniques.
- g. Overall, economic development of our shorelines should continue to be a viable opportunity and provide for restoration of ecological function and public access where appropriate.

D. PUBLIC ACCESS

The public access element provides for public access to publicly or privately owned shoreline areas where the public is granted a right of use or access to the water either physically or visually.

1. Goal

a. Public access should be provided wherever feasible and where it will not impact ecological functions and habitat connectivity. As the Bellingham population increases and areas along City shorelines redevelop, preservation of existing access and development of new access opportunities to the shorelines for our citizens must be balanced with protection and preservation of shoreline ecological function.

2. Objectives

a. Public access should be provided to all marine shorelines unless it impacts the existing ecological function of shorelines and provided it does not impact existing water-dependent uses and/or compromise the health, safety and welfare of our citizens.

- b. Public access opportunities should be provided to our creeks provided there is no net loss of shoreline ecological function including impacts to existing habitat corridors within those riparian areas. Where a conflict exists between public access and protection, protection should take precedence.
- c. Public access, whenever feasible, should be designed and developed per adopted and approved public access plans such as the City of Bellingham Park, Recreation and Open Space Plan (2005) and the Port of Bellingham Comprehensive Scheme of Harbor Improvements and the Waterfront District Master Plan, upon its adoption.
- d. Public access opportunities should be provided in the form of view overlooks, street ends that abut marine or fresh water, orientation of development to the shoreline, and/or property acquisition.
- e. The development of public access facilities should preserve the existing upland character and preserve and restore where feasible the ecological function of the City's shorelines.
- f. Public access should continue to be developed to the Whatcom, Squalicum, Padden and Chuckanut Creek corridors especially where connections can be made to other trail and transportation linkages and public open spaces.
- g. Restoration of the estuarine systems along our shorelines should include public access where habitat conditions, topography and safety considerations allow.
- h. Areas identified for establishment or enhancement of shoreline public access may include but should not be limited to:
 - i. Central Avenue Waterfront and historic Georgia Pacific campus;
 - ii. Colony Wharf;
 - iii. Pocket beach at the head of the I & J Waterway;
 - iv. Pocket beach at the foot of Cornwall Avenue and around the perimeter of the Cornwall Avenue Landfill;
 - v. Over-water walkway from the south end of the Cornwall Avenue Landfill to the north end of Boulevard Park;
 - vi. At-water level trail connecting Marine Park to the Edgemoor and Chuckanut shoreline areas and eventually to the Coast Millennium Trail near Woodstock Farm:
 - vii. Pocket beaches at the foot of C and G Streets;
 - viii. Perimeter of the Mount Baker Plywood Peninsula;

- ix. Little Squalicum Beach;
- x. Whatcom, Squalicum, Padden and Chuckanut Creek estuaries;
- xi. Shoreline between Taylor Avenue Dock and Alaska Ferry Terminal;
- xii. Perimeter of Georgia Pacific ASB.
- i. Marine shorelines at Boulevard, Marine and Zuanich Point Parks, Little Squalicum Beach and at the head of Chuckanut Bay should be preserved for long-term public access and ecological restoration. Shoreline mixed uses in the areas such as the south side of the Whatcom Waterway between the historic GP log pond and Roeder Avenue, Cornwall Avenue Landfill, the area between Padden Lagoon and Taylor Dock, Bellwether Peninsula and Marine Center, Tilbury Cement Plant and the Mount Baker Plywood Peninsula should be encouraged to take advantage of their shoreline location and proximity to high-density residential areas, trail linkages and urban core areas (for example, Central Business District & Fairhaven).
- j. Public access at Lake Padden, Bloedel Donovan, Whatcom Falls, Cornwall and Arroyo Parks should be preserved, as these are excellent opportunities for a substantial number of citizens to access the shorelines.
- k. Due to their unique and/or fragile geological or biological characteristics and importance to local citizens, designated fish and wildlife habitat and conservation areas should be protected from the adverse effects of public access.
- Public access opportunities along the marine waterfront should be coordinated with Burlington Northern Railroad to provide safe access for citizens.

E. RECREATION

The recreation element provides for the preservation and expansion of recreational areas and opportunities, including but not limited to parks, tidelands, beaches, bicycle and pedestrian paths, viewpoints and other recreational amenities.

1. Goals

- a. The amount of shorelines dedicated to public recreation should be increased and their potential optimized.
- b. Development of recreation uses should not result in a net loss of shoreline ecological function.

2. Objectives

- a. Water-oriented recreational uses should be promoted along the shorelines so long as the ecological function of the shoreline is not decreased by such activities. Recreation that is not water-oriented should only be located in areas where potential water-dependent uses are not anticipated.
- b. Development of recreational facilities along City shorelines should implement Low Impact Development techniques whenever feasible.
- c. The objectives of the City of Bellingham Park, Recreation and Open Space Plan (2005) should be implemented where applicable through this plan's policies and regulations, and especially Chapter 4 (Opportunities).
- d. Land should be acquired and bicycle/pedestrian trails should be constructed along shoreline routes as indicated in the City of Bellingham Park, Recreation and Open Space Plan (2005).
- e. The City should pursue an ongoing program of shoreline property acquisition for public access at the time of development via purchase, dedication and granting of public access easements. The City should also pursue Local Improvement District provisions for future public access features.
- f. Existing and new upland activities should be developed and/or monitored to preserve water quality for continued water-enjoyment recreational uses (e.g., swimming, boating, fishing and bird-watching).

F. CIRCULATION

The circulation element consists of the general location and extent of existing and proposed transportation routes including arterials and access streets, terminals, and other public utilities and facilities, all correlated with the shoreline use element.

1. Goal

a. Develop a balanced and efficient water and land transportation system that minimizes adverse environmental impacts on shorelines while contributing to the functional and visual enhancement of the system. Development of new circulation plans should emphasize alternative modes of transportation (e.g., bicycles, pedestrians) within close proximity to shorelines as opposed to new systems for automobiles.

- a. New roadways for vehicle circulation should be located outside of or minimized within the shoreline jurisdiction. Where no feasible alternative exists for new roadways, mitigation should be provided and should be designed for a variety of transportation modes or multi-modal.
- b. Where new roadways do occur in shoreline jurisdiction, the result should be no net loss of shoreline ecological function.

- c. Circulation from Downtown to and along the Central Waterfront including the Georgia Pacific property should continue to be developed through the Whatcom Creek/Maritime Heritage Center/Old Town Corridor for alternative modes of transportation (pedestrians, bicyclists, ADA).
- d. A continuous circulation system along the marine shoreline from the Little Squalicum Beach to the Post Point Lagoon should be created and preserved for alternative transportation modes. Pedestrian circulation to Whatcom, Squalicum, Chuckanut and Padden Creeks and their associated estuaries should be improved where ecological functions of the shoreline will not be adversely affected. Where there is a conflict between circulation systems and ecological functions and/or habitat, then the ecological functions and habitat shall take precedence. Recreational circulation should continue along Lake Padden and Lake Whatcom where such circulation will not adversely impact the ecological function of the shoreline.
- e. Existing shoreline circulation should be redesigned to accommodate varied modes of transportation and, where feasible, be used as a means of increasing public enjoyment of the shorelines. Examples include but are not limited to water taxis, transit, 'trolley' or railway circulation between Downtown and Fairhaven, new bike lanes or public walkways over-water between the central waterfront and Fairhaven.
- f. Existing water transportation systems for industrial, commercial and recreational uses should be maintained. Where feasible and consistent with the Waterfront Futures Group Framework Plan, access points at the aquatic / upland interface should be installed where water-borne circulation can provide alternate means of mobility throughout the City and the region, as well as enhance the economic and recreational benefits to the public provided that there is no net loss of shoreline ecological function.

G. HISTORY, CULTURAL AND EDUCATION

This element provides for protection and restoration of buildings, sites, and areas having historical, cultural, scientific, or educational values.

1. Goal

a. Protect the public's interest in the conservation, preservation, and protection of the state's archaeological resources, and the knowledge to be derived and gained from the scientific study of these resources.

- a. Shoreline areas having historical and/or cultural significance, especially those shorelines that historically supported the Lummi Nation and Nooksack Tribe, should be identified, preserved, protected, and restored.
- b. Cooperation among public and private groups in the research and study of historical or cultural sites within the City should be encouraged.

- c. Historical or cultural sites should be considered in park and open space and public access planning, subject to consultation with the Lummi Nation and Nooksack Tribe.
- d. Funds for the acquisition and/or restoration of sites having historical/cultural significance should be sought.
- e. Efforts to protect and promote the historical, cultural, scientific and educational resources within the City of Bellingham should be prioritized. These include but are not limited to:
 - i. Lummi and Nooksack Tribal resources (cultural, historical);
 - ii. Maritime Heritage Center (cultural, historical, educational);
 - iii. Little Squalicum Beach (historical);
 - iv. Chuckanut, Padden, Whatcom and Squalicum Creek estuaries (scientific, educational); and
 - v. Lake Whatcom Watershed (all).
- f. Development and redevelopment along the marine shorelines should be consistent with RCW 27.44 and RCW 27.53 and WAC 25-48.

H. FLOOD DAMAGE MINIMIZATION

Flood damage minimization is the ability to regulate future development and required infrastructure and plan for restoration of floodplain functions.

1. Goal

a. Establish and implement appropriate floodplain management strategies to minimize private and public property damage, and to improve the ecological functions and prevent habitat loss in wetlands, streams, estuaries and the marine near-shore.

- a. The applicable elements of BMC 17.76 (Construction in Floodplains) and the 1995 Watershed Master Plan, as amended, and the Squalicum Creek Floodplain Management Plan (October 1995) should be implemented concurrent with development to manage frequently flooded areas along Bellingham's shorelines.
- b. New scientific studies/information on tsunamis and sea level rise should be used to guide shoreline development as it becomes available and accepted as scientifically valid. ³

³ City staff is monitoring information available from the University of Washington's Climate Impact Group and others to determine the sea level rise scenarios most likely to occur in Puget Sound. That determination will be included in the Adaptation section of the Climate Change Action Plan currently under construction by the Environmental Resources Division of Public Works. Same division will also be participating in the Washington

- c. Development within channel migration zones (CMZs) should be prohibited.
- d. Actions within shorelines should be conducted in a way that maintains and restores the CMZ where floodplains and/or CMZs are identified.

I. WATER QUALITY

All development actions taken Citywide affect water quality. This Program should implement policies and regulations that improve water quality of our shorelines.

1. Goal

a. All development along the shorelines of the City should include measures to protect and/or improve water quality.

- a. Improvements to water quality within the City of Bellingham should be achieved via the Restoration Plan in APPENDIX B. The Restoration Plan specifies priority goals, objectives, management recommendations and restoration projects that are intended to achieve an improvement to water quality within the City. The Restoration Plan is not intended to take the place of or have priority over existing water quality improvement programs already underway by the City of Bellingham or as required by the State.
- b. Current (2005) stormwater standards and Low Impact Development techniques should be used for development on shoreline parcels where site conditions allow. Low Impact Development techniques within the 2005 Department of Ecology Stormwater Management Manual for Western Washington should be incorporated into site design to minimize impacts on water quality and ecological function where appropriate.
- c. Impervious surfaces should be reduced or minimized and native vegetation of a height and species sufficient to provide shade and filtration to adjacent water bodies should be retained or established to help reduce pollutant loading to shorelines, especially Lake Whatcom, and other water bodies that are listed on the Department of Ecology's 303(d) list. (33 USC 1313d, RCW 90.48, WAC 173-201A and WAC 173-204.)
- d. In-water structures should be minimized or bioengineered where feasible to help improve the near-shore environment for those species that use and depend on it.
- e. Existing stormwater systems should be retrofitted to provide improved water quality treatment.
- f. Uses and restoration planning within the Lake Whatcom Watershed should be guided by the Lake Whatcom Reservoir Management Plan Joint Resolution Numbers 92-73 and 92-68 and the Lake Whatcom Reservoir

- Regulatory Chapter, BMC 16.80 (also known as the Silver Beach Ordinance or SBO) to improve the water quality within the Lake Whatcom Watershed.
- g. As of 2009, the TMDL Response Plan is the most current and up to date scientific information available to protect and improve the water quality of Lake Whatcom. This response plan includes elements of the 2010-2014 Work Plan established by the Inter-jurisdictional Coordinating Team (ICT) as well as the Recommended Management Action for Protection and Restoration of the Lake Whatcom Reservoir prepared by the Lake Whatcom Reservoir Technical Review Task Force in May 2009. This plan should be implemented either through future code revisions or in the development of future watershed protection programs. (10/5/2009 WS)

NOTE: The Lake Whatcom Work Plans are written by the Lake Whatcom Interjurisdictional Coordinating Team (ICT) which is comprised of staff from City of Bellingham, Whatcom County and Water District #10. The ICT writes the plans, implements the plan tasks, and reports on task progress to the Joint Councils and Commissioners biannually. The ICT also responds to the respective jurisdictions as new issues and priorities arise.

22.03 JURISDICTION, MAPS AND ENVIRONMENT DESIGNATIONS

22.03.10 SHORELINE JURISDICTION

- A. The provisions of this Program shall apply to all shorelines of the state, all shorelines of statewide significance and shorelands (all referred to as shorelines) as defined in RCW 90.58.030. The shoreline maps within BMC 22.11.10 *Shoreline Designation Maps* and 22.11.20 *Shoreline and Statewide Significance Map* show the bodies of water that have been identified as shorelines, generally, and are an integral part of this Program.
- B. The extent of shoreline jurisdiction on an individual lot, parcel or tract is to be determined by field investigations and a survey /or engineered drawings and the resultant materials are the sole responsibility of the project applicant/owner. Said investigation/survey/ engineered drawings shall be included in shoreline permit application submittals in order for the City to determine the extent of shoreline jurisdiction.4
- C. Shorelines of the state may also be Fish and Wildlife Habitat Conservation Areas. as designated in BMC 16.55.470. Critical areas that may occur within the City of Bellingham's shoreline jurisdiction per BMC 16.55 include: wetlands, frequently flooded areas, geologically hazardous areas, and fish and wildlife habitat conservation areas. All such critical areas that are within the shoreline jurisdiction shall be managed and regulated per this Program.
 - 1. When a critical area overlaps into the jurisdiction of a shoreline or is partly within and partly outside of shoreline jurisdiction, the buffer and/or setback from the portion of the critical area that is outside of the shoreline jurisdiction is subject to the Critical Areas Ordinance; BMC 16.55.
- D. In the City of Bellingham, shorelines of the state are:
 - 1. Bellingham Bay (also a shoreline of statewide significance seaward of extreme low tide per BMC 22.04 and as shown in BMC 22.11.20 *Shorelines of Statewide Significance Map*);
 - 2. Lake Whatcom (also a shoreline of statewide significance per BMC 22.04 and as shown in BMC 22.11.20 *Shorelines of Statewide Significance Map*);
 - 3. Lake Padden;
 - 4. Whatcom Creek;
 - 5. Squalicum Creek;
 - 6. Chuckanut Creek;

⁴ Natural or restored shoreline ecosystems and processes that occur over time, such as channel migration or sea level rise, have the potential to alter the point of beginning (ordinary high water mark, outer extent of a floodway, floodplain or channel migration zone) from which the extent of shoreline jurisdiction is measured. In these instances, determination of said point of beginning is subject to B., above.

- 7. Tidally influenced portion of Padden Creek (upstream to McKenzie Avenue);
- 8. Padden Lagoon;
- 9. Chuckanut Bay; and
- 10. Tidally influenced lagoons or pocket estuaries as identified on the shoreline maps, BMC 22.11.10 *Shoreline Designation Maps*.
- E. Shorelines of statewide significance in the City of Bellingham are identified and defined in BMC 22.04 and shown in BMC 22.11.20 *Shoreline and Statewide Significance Map*.
- F. Adjacent lands to shorelands shall also be considered in shoreline permit proposals as specified in RCW 90.58.340.

22.03.20 SHORELINE MAPS

- A. The shoreline maps in BMC 22.11.10 *Shoreline Designation Maps* are the graphic representation of the City's shorelines that are regulated by this Program. Each shoreline map identifies a shoreline environment designation and individual shoreline reaches that correspond to the Shoreline Characterization and Inventory (APPENDIX A). The shoreline maps do not show the extent of shoreline jurisdiction but depict which water bodies are regulated by this Program.
- B. Each shoreline reach is assigned a shoreline environmental designation (designation) in accordance with BMC 22.03.30 *Shoreline Environmental Designations*. These designations function like a zoning overlay for shorelines and provide a framework for allowing certain uses and implementing shoreline policies and regulations. The shoreline environmental designation has been assigned consistent with the criteria specified in WAC 173-26-211 and referenced in APPENDIX C Shoreline Environment Designation Criteria.
- C. In cases where development on a shoreline crosses or overlaps two different designations, or where two or more different critical areas are within the shoreline jurisdiction, the more protective requirements within this program shall apply. If disagreement develops as to the exact location of a shoreline designation boundary line, the following rules shall apply:
 - 1. Boundaries indicated as approximately following lot, tract, or section lines shall be so construed;
 - 2. Boundaries indicated as approximately following roads or railways shall be respectively construed to follow their centerlines;
 - 3. Boundaries indicated as approximately parallel to or extensions of features indicated in 1. or 2. above shall be so construed; and
 - 4. Boundaries indicated as approximately occurring at definite changes in topography, shoreforms, geology, soils, or vegetative cover shall be so construed.
- D. Whenever existing physical features are inconsistent with boundaries on the Shoreline Map, the City shall interpret the boundaries. Appeals may be made from such

interpretations pursuant to BMC 22.06.060.

22.03.30 SHORELINE ENVIRONMENT DESIGNATIONS

This section identifies the six shoreline environment designations used in the City of Bellingham and their respective purposes, management policies, allowed uses and development regulations.

A. NATURAL (N)

 Purpose - To protect those shoreline areas that are relatively free of human influence or that include intact or minimally degraded shoreline functions intolerant of human use. Natural designated shorelines are best suited for very low-intensity uses to ensure that ecological function and ecosystem-wide processes are maintained.

2. Management Policies

- a. Any use that would adversely affect the ecological functions or natural character of the shoreline, including channel migration zones, pocket estuaries and pocket or accretion beaches, should not be allowed.
- b. Development should only be allowed when no suitable alternative building sites are available on the parcel outside of the shoreline jurisdiction.
- c. Development, when permissible, should be designed and located to preclude the need for shoreline modification or stabilization, flood control works, native vegetation removal and other shoreline modifications.
- d. All impacts to ecological function and values should be fully mitigated with the mitigation sequencing specified in BMC 22.08.20 *Mitigation Sequencing* of this Program.
- e. Preservation of ecological function of shorelines including critical areas should have priority over public access, recreation and development objectives whenever a conflict exists.
- f. Roads and utility corridors should be located outside of the Natural environment unless no other feasible alternative exists.
- g. New development, including subdivision of property that requires significant vegetation removal or shoreline modification that would reduce the capability of vegetation to perform ecological functions, should not be allowed. Each new parcel, lot or tract should be able to support its intended development without significant ecological impacts to shoreline ecological functions.
- h. Scientific, historical, cultural, educational research uses and low-intensity water-oriented recreational access uses (swimming, fishing, picnicking, hand carry boating) may be allowed provided that no significant ecological impacts will occur.

3. Reaches designated Natural

- a. Marine 1 and 18 20;
- b. Chuckanut Creek 2 & 3;
- c. Whatcom Creek 6 8;
- d. Lake Padden 2 4; and
- e. Lake Whatcom 1.
- 4. Uses

Natural - Marine - BMC 22.03.30.A.4

Use & Modification Table As further limited by zoning	ρJ	Facilities	al ent	and Disposal	Development	Structures	s, Pilings		a <u>l</u> mt	nt	<u>1 & on</u>	Railways, &	r nt Facilities
	Aquaculture	Boating Fa	Commercial Developmen	Dredging a	Industrial I	In-water St	Piers, Floats,	Landfill	Recreational Development	Residential Developme	Restoration Conservation	Roads, Rail Utilities	Stormwater Management
Marine 1 & 18-20	p	<u>X</u>	<u>X</u>	<u>X</u>	<u>X</u>	<u>X</u>	<u>X</u>	<u>X</u>	<u>p/x</u>	<u>c</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>c</u>	<u>c</u>

Note: Commercial agriculture and mining are not permitted uses within the City of Bellingham. Forest practice only allowed as Class IV. Legend:

- **P** = Permitted (SDP or Exemption)
- **C** = Conditional Use Permit
- X = Prohibited
- / = Water oriented / Non-water-oriented

Natural – Freshwater – BMC 22.03.30.A.4

Use & Modification Table As further limited by zoning	Aquaculture	Boating Facilities	Commercial Development	Dredging and Disposal	<u>Industrial</u> Development	In-water Structures	Piers, Floats, Pilings	Landfill	Recreational Development	Residential Development	Restoration & Conservation	Railways, & Utilities	Management Facilities
Chuckanut 2-3	<u>c</u>	<u>x</u>	<u>X</u>	<u>x</u>	<u>X</u>	c/x	<u>X</u>	<u>X</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>c</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>p</u>
Whatcom 6-7	<u>c</u>	<u>X</u>	<u>X</u>	<u>X</u>	X	c/x	<u>X</u>	<u>X</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>c</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>p</u>
Whatcom 8	<u>c</u>	<u>X</u>	<u>X</u>	<u>X</u>	X	c/x	<u>X</u>	<u>X</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>c</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>p</u>
<u>Lake Padden 2-4</u>	<u>c</u>	<u>X</u>	<u>X</u>	<u>X</u>	<u>X</u>	<u>X</u>	p/x	<u>X</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>c</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>p</u>
<u>Lake Whatcom 1</u>	<u>c</u>	<u>X</u>	<u>X</u>	<u>X</u>	<u>X</u>	<u>c/x</u>	<u>X</u>	<u>X</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>c</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>p</u>

Note: Commercial agriculture and mining are not permitted uses within the City of Bellingham. Forest practice only allowed as Class IV.

Legend:

- P = Permitted (SDP or Exemption)
- C = Conditional Use Permit
- X = Prohibited
- / = Water oriented / Non-water-oriented

5. Regulations

- a. Development within shorelines designated as Natural shall result in no net loss of shoreline ecological functions.
- b. Critical Areas When permitted, development within critical areas or their buffers that occur in the shoreline jurisdiction shall comply with the applicable provisions of this Program.

- c. Setbacks, Buffers and Height Development shall be in accordance with the table in BMC 22.11.30 A, *Development Regulation Matrices*.. For shorelines where critical areas other than Fish and Wildlife Habitat Conservation Areas (FWHCAs) are present, the most protective buffer as set forth in this program shall apply. The criteria for requiring a buffer width greater than the minimum are specified in BMC 22.08.10.B.2 *Shoreline Buffers*
- d. Specific uses and activities within the Natural designation shall also comply with the applicable requirements in BMC 22.08 and 22.09.
- e. Public access shall only be required in conjunction with a non-water oriented use (excluding single-family residences when developed individually or in a subdivision of 4 or fewer lots) and shall be provided subject to the requirements within BMC 22.08.90 *Public Access*.
- f. Public access is not required for development within shorelines that are designated Natural AND are zoned 'Public.'
- g. For substantial development on private property on any of Chuckanut, Whatcom or Squalicum Creeks, a conservation easement shall be recorded with the Whatcom County Auditor across the required buffer area. Said conservation easement shall be recorded prior to issuance of building permits for the subject development.

B. URBAN CONSERVANCY (UC)

1. Purpose – To protect and restore ecological functions, open space, floodplains, and other sensitive lands, where they exist in urban and developed settings, while allowing a variety of compatible uses. Urban Conservancy shorelines should provide opportunities for substantial numbers of citizens to have visual and/or physical access to the shoreline provided said access does not decrease ecological function.

2. Management Policies

- a. New development should be designed and located to preclude the need for shoreline armoring, flood control works, vegetation removal and other shoreline modifications.
- b. All impacts to ecological function and values should demonstrate compliance with the mitigation sequencing specified in BMC 22.08.20 *Mitigation Sequencing* of this Program such that the result is no net loss of ecological function.
- c. Restoration of shoreline ecological function concurrent with development and redevelopment within Urban Conservancy shorelines should be a priority.
- d. Allowed uses should be those that would preserve the natural character of the area and/or promote the protection and restoration of ecological function within critical areas and public open spaces, either directly or over the long term.

- e. When development requires shoreline modification or stabilization, 'bioengineered' shoreline stabilization measures, conservation of native vegetation, and Low Impact Development techniques for surface water management should be implemented to minimize adverse impacts to existing shoreline ecological functions unless some other form of modification or stabilization is necessary.
- f. Public access and public recreation objectives should be implemented whenever feasible and adverse ecological impacts can be avoided. Continuous public access along the marine shoreline should be provided, preserved, or enhanced consistent with this policy.
- g. Public access should not be provided where it would compromise the health, safety and welfare of the general public or site security, and where it would conflict with a permitted use or the existing and/or planned restoration of shoreline ecological function.
- h. Protection of ecological functions should have priority over public access, recreation and other development objectives whenever a conflict exists.
- i. Existing historic and cultural buildings and areas should be preserved, protected and reused when feasible.
- j. Development or use on the shorelines or within aquatic areas of Lake Whatcom that are designated as Urban Conservancy shall also comply with BMC 22.04 of this Title.
- 3. Reaches designated Urban Conservancy
 - a. Marine 2-3 & 8 10 & 12 17 & 21;
 - b. Whatcom Creek 1-5;
 - c. Chuckanut Creek 1 & 4;
 - d. Padden Creek 1;
 - e. Squalicum Creek 1–11;
 - f. Lake Padden 1 & 3; and
 - g. Lake Whatcom 4 5.
- 4. Uses

<u>Urban Conservancy – Marine – BMC 22.30.03.B.4</u>

Use & Modification Table As further limited by zoning	Aquaculture	Boating Facilities	Commercial Development	<u>Dredging and</u> <u>Disposal</u>	<u>Industrial</u> Development	In-water Structures	Piers, Floats, Pilings	<u>Landfill</u>	Recreational Development	Residential Development	Restoration & Conservation	Roads, Railways, & Utilities	Stormwater Management Facilities
Marine 2	<u>p</u>	<u>x</u>	<u>p/c</u>	<u>c/x</u>	<u>p/c</u>	<u>p/x</u>	<u>c¹/x</u>	<u>x</u>	<u>p/x</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>p</u>
Marine 3	<u>p</u>	<u>p</u>	p/c	<u>c/x</u>	p/c	p/x	<u>c¹/x</u>	<u>x</u>	<u>p/x</u>	<u>x</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>p</u>

TITLE 22 SHORELINE MASTER PROGRAM

22.03 SHORELINE AREA DESIGNATIONS

Marine 3 w/in City	<u>p</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>p/c</u>	<u>c/x</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>p/x</u>	<u>p/x</u>	<u>x</u>	<u>p/x</u>	<u>x</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>p</u>
Marine 8	<u>p</u>	<u>x</u>	<u>p/c</u>	<u>c/x</u>	<u>x</u>	<u>p/x</u>	<u>p/x</u>	<u>x</u>	<u>p/x</u>	<u>x</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>p</u>
Marine 9	<u>p</u>	<u>C</u>	<u>p/c</u>	<u>c/x</u>	<u>x</u>	<u>p/x</u>	<u>p/x</u>	<u>x</u>	<u>p/x</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>p</u>
Marine 10	<u>p</u>	<u>c</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>x</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>p/x</u>	<u>c¹/x</u>	<u>x</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>p</u>
Marine 12	<u>p</u>	<u>x</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>c/x</u>	<u>p</u>	p/x	<u>c¹/x</u>	<u>x</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>p</u>
Marine 13	<u>p</u>	<u>x</u>	<u>x</u>	<u>c/x</u>	<u>x</u>	<u>p/x</u>	<u>x/x</u>	<u>x</u>	<u>p/x</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>p</u>
Marine 14, 16	<u>p</u>	<u>x</u>	<u>x</u>	<u>c/x</u>	<u>x</u>	<u>p/x</u>	<u>x/x</u>	<u>x</u>	<u>p/x</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>p</u>
Marine 15	<u>p</u>	<u>x</u>	<u>x</u>	<u>c/x</u>	<u>x</u>	<u>p/x</u>	<u>x/x</u>	<u>x</u>	<u>p/x</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>p</u>
Marine 17	<u>p</u>	<u>x</u>	<u>x</u>	<u>c/x</u>	<u>x</u>	<u>p/x</u>	<u>x/x</u>	<u>x</u>	<u>p/x</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>p</u>
Marine 21	<u>p</u>	<u>x</u>	<u>x</u>	<u>c/x</u>	<u>x</u>	<u>p/x</u>	<u>x/x</u>	<u>c</u> ²	<u>p/x</u>	<u>x</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>p</u>
Whatcom 1 north upstream of Holly	<u>p</u>	<u>C</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>c/x</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>p/x</u>	<u>c¹/x</u>	<u>x</u>	р	<u>p</u>	р	р	<u>p</u>
Whatcom 1 south upstream of Holly	<u>p</u>	<u>x</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>c/x</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>p/x</u>	<u>c¹/x</u>	<u>x</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>x</u>	<u>p</u>	р	<u>p</u>
Whatcom 1 north btwn Holly/Roeder	<u>p</u>	<u>c</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>c/x</u>	р	<u>p/x</u>	<u>c¹/x</u>	<u>x</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>p</u>	р	<u>p</u>
Whatcom 1 south btwn Holly/Roeder	<u>p</u>	<u>X</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>c/x</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>p/x</u>	<u>c¹/x</u>	<u>x</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>p</u>	д	Ф	р

¹ <u>Public Water-Enjoyment uses in/over water require CUP (Except on Lake Whatcom & Lake Padden)</u>

Note: Commercial agriculture and mining are not permitted uses within the City of Bellingham. Forest practice only allowed as Class IV. **Legend:**

P = Permitted (SDP or Exemption)

C = Conditional Use Permit

X = Prohibited

/ = Water oriented / Non-water-oriented

Urban Conservancy - Fresh Water - BMC 22.03.30.B.4

CICAII COMBCI (and													
Use & Modification Table As further limited by zoning	Aquaculture	Boating Facilities	Commercial Development	Dredging and Disposal	<u>Industrial</u> <u>Development</u>	In-water Structures	Piers, Floats, Pilings	<u>Landfill</u>	Recreational Development	Residential Development	Restoration & Conservation	Roads, Railways, & Utilities	Stormwater Management Facilities
Chuckanut 1 & 4	<u>p</u>	<u>X</u>	<u>X</u>	<u>c/x</u>	<u>X</u>	<u>X</u>	<u>X</u>	<u>X</u>	<u>p/x</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>p</u>
Padden Creek 1	<u>p</u>	<u>X</u>	p	<u>c/x</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>X</u>	<u>X</u>	<u>X</u>	<u>p/x</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>p</u>
Whatcom 2-5	<u>p</u>	<u>X</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>c/x</u>	p	<u>X</u>	<u>X</u>	<u>X</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>p</u>

²Only permitted as an element of a Water-dependent use.

Squalicum 1	<u>p</u>	<u>X</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>c/x</u>	p	<u>X</u>	<u>X</u>	<u>X</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>p</u>
Squalicum2 & 3	<u>p</u>	<u>X</u>	p	<u>c/x</u>	p	<u>X</u>	<u>X</u>	<u>X</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>p</u>
Squalicum 4	<u>p</u>	<u>X</u>	<u>X</u>	<u>c/x</u>	<u>X</u>	<u>X</u>	<u>X</u>	<u>X</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>X</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>p</u>
Squalicum 5	<u>p</u>	<u>X</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>c/x</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>X</u>	<u>X</u>	<u>x</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>p</u>
Squalicum 6 west 1/2	<u>c</u>	<u>X</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>c/x</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>c/x</u>	<u>X</u>	<u>X</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>X</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>p</u>
Squalicum 6 east 1/2	<u>c</u>	<u>X</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>c/x</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>c/x</u>	<u>X</u>	<u>X</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>X</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>p</u>
Squalicum 7	<u>c</u>	<u>X</u>	p	<u>c/x</u>	p	<u>c/x</u>	<u>X</u>	<u>X</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>X</u>	p	<u>p</u>	<u>p</u>
Squalicum 8	<u>c</u>	<u>X</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>c/x</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>c/x</u>	<u>X</u>	<u>X</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>X</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>p</u>
Squalicum 9-12	<u>p</u>	<u>X</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>c/x</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>X</u>	<u>X</u>	<u>X</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>X</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>p</u>
Lake Whatcom 4	<u>p</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>X</u>	<u>c/x</u>	<u>X</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>X</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>X</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>p</u>
Lake Whatcom 5	<u>p</u>	<u>X</u>	<u>X</u>	<u>c/x</u>	<u>X</u>	p/x	<u>p</u>	<u>X</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>p</u>
Lake Padden 1 & 3	<u>p</u>	<u>X</u>	<u>X</u>	<u>X</u>	<u>X</u>	p/x	p/x	<u>X</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>X</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>p</u>

Note: Commercial agriculture and mining are not permitted uses within the City of Bellingham. Forest practice only allowed as Class IV.

Legend:

P = Permitted (SDP or Exemption)

C = Conditional Use Permit

X = Prohibited

/ = Water oriented / Non-water-oriented

5. Regulations

- a. Development within shorelines designated as Urban Conservancy shall result in no net loss of shoreline ecological functions.
- b. Critical Areas For development within critical areas or their buffers that occur in the shoreline jurisdiction, the applicable provisions of this Program shall apply.
- c. Setbacks, Buffers and Height Development shall be in accordance with the table in BMC 22.11.30 B, *Development Regulation Matrices*. The criteria for assigning a buffer width that is greater than the minimum standard are specified in BMC 22.08.10.B.2, *Shoreline Buffers*
- d. For shorelines where critical areas in addition to FWHCAs are present (for example, wetlands or frequently flooded areas) the most protective buffer set forth in this program shall apply.
- e. Uses within the Urban Conservancy designation shall also comply with the applicable requirements in BMC 22.08 and 22.09.
- f. Height in marine reaches 8, 9, 13-14, 16-17 and in freshwater reaches Chuckanut 1 and 4, Padden Creek 1, Lake Whatcom 4-5 and Lake Padden 1 and 3 shall not exceed 35 feet.
- g. Height in Whatcom 1, upstream of Holly Street, Whatcom 2-5, Squalicum 1 and Squalicum 2-5 (except for in reaches with single-family zoning) shall not exceed 3 stories within the first 100 feet of shoreline jurisdiction and shall not exceed 4 stories within the second 100 feet within shoreline jurisdiction.

- h. Height in Whatcom 1, between Holly Street and Roeder Avenue shall not exceed 35 feet.
- i. One bonus story shall be granted to those uses within the shorelines specified in g., above, if all required parking for subject non-water-oriented uses is located within any combination of the building footprint of the structure (under-building or underground) or within a shared parking facility (a shared surface parking facility is allowed to satisfy this requirement).
- j. Height for uses, when permitted, that are over or in-water shall not exceed 25 feet from the elevation of the Extreme High Tide Elevation (EHT).
- k. Non-water-oriented uses whether established as part of a shoreline mixed-use development or as a stand-alone non-water-oriented use shall provide public access and native vegetation management consistent with the requirements in BMC 22.08.90 *Public Access* .100, *Shoreline Native Vegetation Management* AND shall implement a minimum of three objectives specifically approved by the City from the Restoration Plan (APPENDIX B, Section 4 and also within Table 1) per the policies and regulations within BMC 22.09.100, *Restoration and Conservation*.
- 1. NOTE: When implementation of an objective from the Restoration Plan includes work within a critical area or its buffer, the design shall include involvement and review of applicable permitting agencies including at a minimum the Washington State Department of Fish and Wildlife, Department of Ecology, and the United States Army Corps of Engineers including consultation with affected tribes.
- m. Public access is not required for development within shorelines that are designated Urban Conservancy AND are zoned 'Public.'
- n. For substantial development on private property on any of Chuckanut, Whatcom or Squalicum Creeks, a conservation easement shall be recorded with the Whatcom County Auditor across the required buffer area. Said conservation easement shall be recorded prior to issuance of building permits for the subject development.

C. SHORELINE RESIDENTIAL (RES)

 Purpose – Protect and improve the water quality within the Lake Whatcom Reservoir and restore shoreline ecological functions while accommodating residential redevelopment and new development including appurtenant structures.

As of 2009, the TMDL Response Plan is the most current and up to date scientific information available to protect and improve the water quality of Lake Whatcom. This response plan includes elements of the 2010-2014 Work Plan established by the Inter-jurisdictional Coordinating Team (ICT) as well as the Recommended Management Action for Protection and Restoration of the Lake Whatcom Reservoir, prepared by the Lake Whatcom Reservoir Technical Review Task Force in May 2009. This plan should be implemented either

- through future code revisions or in the development of future watershed protection programs. (10/5/2009 WS)
- 2. Citizens who live, recreate and do business within the Lake Whatcom Watershed should always be aware of the impacts that their behaviors and activities have on the reservoir. Individuals should also be aware that they have the ability to change their behaviors and activities in such a way that benefits the reservoir.
- 3. The Lake Whatcom Management Program (LWMP) is a guidance document available to citizens who live, recreate and do business within the Lake Whatcom Watershed. The LWMP was created by staff persons from the City of Bellingham, Whatcom County and Water District #10 and volunteers.
- 4. The LWMP was developed after the passage of a Joint Resolution in 1992 between the agencies listed above. It included 6 general goals and 21 more specific goals revolving around management of Lake Whatcom.
- 5. The main areas of focus were related to land use, stormwater management and watershed ownership. Six comprehensive goals were developed:
 - To recognize Lake Whatcom and its watershed as the major drinkingwater reservoir for the County and develop public and private management principles for the lake and watershed consistent with a drinking water reservoir environment. Affirm this goal by establishing the name: Lake Whatcom Reservoir.
 - To protect, preserve and enhance water quality and manage water quantity
 to ensure long-term sustainable supplies for a variety of uses, with priority
 placed on domestic water supply. Management programs and actions will
 be made in recognition of existing contractual agreements and potential
 for review and renegotiation in light of these goals.
 - To prioritize protection over treatment in managing Lake Whatcom and its watersheds. Management actions shall reflect a long-term view of replacement or treatment costs.
 - To manage water quantity to sustain long-term efficient use of the water for beneficial uses within the county that are consistent with a drinking-water reservoir, and recognize the integral link with the Nooksack River and associated water resource concerns.
 - To ensure that opportunities for public comment and participation are provided in policy and management program development, and to promote public awareness and responsible individual actions.
 - To promote learning, research, and information opportunities which better our understanding of the watershed system, the impacts of activities, and the benefits and potentials of policies implemented.

In 1999, the LWMP was amended and adopted with a specific priority placed on program areas related to land use, stormwater management and watershed ownership to help achieve the comprehensive goals. A five-year work plan was created that included these program areas:

22.03 SHORELINE AREA DESIGNATIONS

Watershed ownership
Urbanization/land development
Data and information management
Spill response/hazard material
Utilities and waste management

Stormwater management
Community outreach
Fish/wildlife/forestry
Transportation
Recreation

The Inter-jurisdictional Coordinating Team (ICT) manages the work plan that details all of the current and planned activities / programs that help implement the LWMP. The ICT has updated its recommendations for the 2010 - 2014 Lake Whatcom Work Plan. Each program area from above has a task, an action and a finished work product.

The work plan can be viewed at http://lakewhatcom.wsu.edu or on the City's website: http://www.cob.org/pw/lw/index.htm

6. Management Policies

- a. The majority of activity in the Shoreline Residential designation (Lake Whatcom) will be focused on redevelopment of and addition to existing homes, replacement of appurtenant structures (garages, sheds, decks) and minimization of single-family docks and bulkheads. These redevelopment activities should be managed in order to improve the ecological functions of the Lake Whatcom shoreline, especially the water quality and the near-shore environment.
- b. All impacts to ecological function and values should be fully mitigated with the mitigation sequencing specified in BMC 22.08.20, *Mitigation Sequencing*.
- c. Development should include measures to improve the ecological function of Lake Whatcom, treat and slow the amount of stormwater entering the lake, restore the near-shore aquatic areas to a naturalized area and provide new native riparian vegetation at the shoreline edge.
- d. Preservation of resources and critical areas should have priority over access, private and public recreation, replacement of existing structural shoreline stabilization and development objectives whenever a conflict exists.
- e. Alternatives to traditional impervious areas should be implemented to the maximum extent possible.
- f. Structurally engineered shoreline modifications and stabilization should be prohibited except in cases of emergency as defined herein.
- g. Multi-family residential and recreational developments should provide shoreline areas for joint use, and public access to the shoreline.
- h. Where contiguous lots are developed or platted with new single-family residences, or where multi-family residential developments occur, a single joint-use dock and common open spaces should be a priority.

- i. Establishment of a variety of new native vegetation within a required buffer to slow surface and ground water movement and for improvement of the near-shore function including habitat and natural resources should be a priority.
- j. Development on portions of the Lake Whatcom shoreline that are designated as Shoreline Residential shall also comply with BMC 22.04.

7. Designated Reaches

- a. Lake Whatcom 2-3, 6-7
- 8. Permitted uses

Shoreline Residential – BMC 22.03.30.C.8

Use & Modification Table As further limited by zoning	Aquaculture	Boating Facilities	Dredging and Disposal	<u>Industrial</u> <u>Development</u>	In-water Structures	Piers, Floats, Pilings - Lake Whatcom	<u>Landfill</u>	Recreational Development	Residential Development	Restoration & Conservation	Roads, Railways, & Utilities	Stormwater Management Facilities
Lake Whatcom 2-3 & 6-7	<u>c</u>	<u>X</u>	<u>c/x</u>	<u>X</u>	<u>x</u> 1	<u>p</u>	<u>x</u>	<u>p/x</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>p</u>

¹Single-family docks / floats are considered water dependent uses.

Note: Commercial agriculture and mining are not permitted uses within the City of Bellingham. Forest practice only allowed as Class IV. Legend:

- P = Permitted (SDP or Exemption)
- C = Conditional Use Permit
- X = Prohibited
- / = Water oriented / Non-water-oriented

9. Conditional uses

a. Conditional Uses – Those conditional uses as allowed by the underlying zoning for the area.

10. Regulations

- a. Development within shorelines designated as Shoreline Residential shall not result in a net loss of shoreline ecological functions.
- b. Critical Areas For development within critical areas or their buffers that occur in shoreline jurisdiction, the applicable provisions of this Program shall apply.
- c. Setbacks and Buffers Development within shoreline reaches designated as Shoreline Residential shall be set back from the field-determined ordinary high water mark (approximately elevation 314 feet above sea level) of the shoreline in accordance with the table in BMC 22.11.30.C, *Development Regulation Matrices*
- d. For shorelines where critical areas other than Fish and Wildlife Habitat Conservation Areas are present, the most protective buffer set forth in this program shall apply.

- e. Development shall fully comply with applicable requirements in BMC 16.80 (Lake Whatcom Reservoir Regulatory Chapter) and BMC 15.42.
- f. If BMC 16.80 does not apply to residential development within the Shoreline Residential designation, said development shall still comply with the standards in BMC 22.08.100 *Shoreline Native Vegetation Management*.
- g. An affidavit shall be provided that specifies that the required native vegetation has been installed and shall be subject to inspection and verification by City staff. If the required vegetation cannot be installed due to the season and likelihood of survival, the applicant shall guarantee in writing that the required vegetation shall be installed within one year of permit issuance, or otherwise be in violation of this Program.
- h. Shoreline modification / bank stabilization, piers, docks and floats may be allowed subject to the requirements within BMC 22.08 and 22.09.
- i. Appurtenant structures are allowed and shall be subject to the same buffer requirement as specified above in Ch. 22.30.C.10.c and the requirements within BMC 16.80.
- j. Height, as defined, shall not exceed 35 feet.
- k. New residential docks, when part of a development that serves 2 or more units (single-family or multi-family) shall be joint-use docks.
- 1. Public access is not required in a Shoreline Residential designation for development of an individual single-family building site.
- m. Septic systems shall not be allowed within Shoreline Residential shorelines unless determined to be required per the Public Works Department.

D. URBAN MARITIME (UM)

1. Purpose – Preserve areas for water-oriented public, commercial, transportation, and industrial uses. Urban Maritime shorelines are a finite resource and should be utilized for these purposes while protecting existing ecological functions, restoring previously degraded areas and providing the general public with maximum access opportunities. Development in Urban Maritime shoreline areas should be managed such that it protects existing ecological functions.

2. Management Policies

- a. Where navigability is adjacent to upland areas, priority should be given to water-dependent uses. Water-related and water-enjoyment uses should be given second and third priorities respectively.
- b. Protection and restoration of critical areas including pocket estuaries and beaches should be implemented as development occurs.
- c. Non-water-oriented uses should not be allowed unless they are a supportive use to a water-oriented use or are established simultaneous,

- planned and integrated with a water-oriented use. Non-water-oriented uses proposed within existing buildings should be allowed.
- d. Non-water-oriented uses may be allowed in limited situations when they do not conflict with or limit opportunities for existing or future water-oriented uses; are parcels, lots or tracts where there is not direct access to the shoreline by virtue of an improved public right-of-way or significant property under different ownership; are allowed via a conditional use to be conducted on a temporary basis.
- e. Regulations should be established that achieve no net loss of shoreline ecological function as a result of new development. Where applicable, new development should include environmental cleanup and restoration of the shoreline to comply with applicable state and federal laws.
- f. Visual and physical public access should be required as master plans in Urban Maritime shoreline areas are developed. Planning for the acquisition of land for permanent public access to the water in the Urban Maritime environment should be a priority. Where desirable and possible, industrial and commercial facilities should be designed to facilitate pedestrian waterfront activities.
- g. All impacts to ecological function and values should be fully mitigated with the mitigation sequencing specified in BMC 22.08.20 *Mitigation Sequencing*.
- h. Aesthetic considerations should be actively promoted by means such as appropriate development siting and orientation, parking location, height and bulk limitations, floor area ratios, screening and architectural standards, planned unit developments, sign control regulations, and creation, enhancement and preservation of native vegetation areas.
- i. Existing non-water-oriented commercial and industrial uses are not required to be relocated to non-waterfront property but should be if opportunities to do so become available or are feasible.
- j. Development and restoration planning and public access should be consistent with the Waterfront District Master Plan, upon adoption; the Bellingham Bay Demonstration Pilot Project Comprehensive Strategy; and the Opportunities and Ideas for Habitat Restoration and Water Access on Bellingham Bay (developed by the WFG) as development occurs unless there is a more practical alternative that achieves the same objectives.
- k. To make maximum use of the available shoreline resources and to accommodate future water-oriented uses, substandard, degraded, or obsolete urban shoreline areas should be, where feasible, redeveloped, renewed and shoreline ecological function restored.
- 1. Full utilization of existing urban and previously developed areas should be achieved before further expansion is allowed.

- m. Development within waters adjacent to the Urban Maritime designation shall comply with BMC 22.04.
- 3. Urban Maritime reaches are comprised of three different sub-areas as follows:
 - a. Urban Maritime water-oriented uses as shown in BMC 22.11, Marine Shoreline Reaches 1-8 map and Shoreline Reaches 9-21 map; and
 - b. Urban Maritime shoreline mixed uses as shown in BMC 22.11, Marine Shoreline Reaches 1-8 map and Shoreline Reaches 9-21 map.
 - c. Urban Maritime Recreational Uses as shown in BMC 22.11,10 Marine Shoreline Reaches 1-8 map a portion of Marine Reach 4, i.e. head of the I and J waterway.

4. Uses

Urban Maritime – BMC 22.03.30.D.4

Use & Modification Table As further limited by zoning	Aquaculture	Boating Facilities	Commercial Development	Dredging and Disposal	<u>Industrial</u> <u>Development</u>	In-water Structures	Piers, Floats, Pilings	<u>Landfill</u>	Recreational Development	Residential Development	Restoration & Conservation	Koads, Kailways, & Utilities	Stormwater Management Facilities
Marine 4 - Water- oriented	<u>p</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>p/x</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>p/x</u>	<u>p¹/x</u>	<u>x</u>	<u>p/x</u>	<u>x</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>p</u>	р
Marine 4 - Shoreline mixed-use	<u>p</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>p/x</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>p/x</u>	<u>p¹/x</u>	<u>x</u>	<u>p/x</u>	<u>p</u> ²	<u>p</u>	р	р
Marine 4 - Recreational	<u>p</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>p/x</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>p/x</u>	<u>p¹/x</u>	<u>x</u>	<u>p/x</u>	<u>x</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>p</u>
Marine 11 - Water- oriented	<u>p</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>p/x</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>p/x</u>	<u>p¹/x</u>	<u>x</u>	<u>p/x</u>	<u>x</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>p</u>

¹ Public Water-Enjoyment uses in/over water require CUP (Except on Lake Whatcom & Lake Padden)

Note: Commercial agriculture and mining are not permitted uses within the City of Bellingham. Forest practice only allowed as Class IV. **Legend:**

P = Permitted (SDP or Exemption)

C = Conditional Use Permit

X = Prohibited

/ = Water oriented / Non-water-oriented

5. Regulations

- a. Development within Urban Maritime shorelines shall not result in a net loss of shoreline ecological functions.
- b. Critical Areas For development within critical areas or their buffers that occur in shoreline jurisdiction, the applicable provisions of this Program shall apply.
- c. Development shall comply with all applicable requirements in BMC 22.08, 22.09.

²Only permitted when developed simultaneous, planned and integrated with a water oriented use.

NOTE: Non water-oriented uses, established in existing buildings may be permitted provided, residential units shall not be established on the ground floor.

- d. Development that is permitted water-ward of the elevation of the mean lower low tide shall be consistent with the applicable requirements in BMC 22.04, Shorelines of Statewide Significance.
- e. Setbacks, Buffers and Height Development shall be in accordance with the table in BMC 22.11.30. D, *Development Regulation Matrices* .
- f. Development within the recreational sub-area shall comply with the requirements in section 22.03.30.F. 7-9, *Shoreline Environmental Designations*.
- g. For shorelines where critical areas other than Fish and Wildlife Habitat Conservation Areas are present, the most protective buffer set forth in this Program shall apply.

E. AQUATIC (A)

1. Purpose – Protect, restore and manage the unique characteristics of the aquatic environment.

2. Management Policies

- a. Aquatic uses should not adversely impact critical saltwater and freshwater habitats or their connectivity for salmonids and other aquatic and terrestrial species that migrate within the near-shore environment.
- b. New aquatic uses should only be allowed for water-dependent uses, public access or ecological restoration and enhancement.
- c. All developments and uses within navigable waters or their bedlands should be located and designed to minimize interference with surface navigation, to consider impacts to public views, and to allow for the safe unobstructed passage of aquatic species and wildlife, particularly those species using those areas for rearing and/or migration.
- d. Aquatic uses that adversely impact the ecological functions of critical saltwater and freshwater habitats should not be allowed except where necessary to achieve the objectives of RCW 90.58.020. If aquatic uses are permitted under this objective, their impacts should be mitigated per the standards in BMC 22.08.20 *Mitigation Sequencing* necessary to assure no net loss of ecological function.
- e. Aquatic uses and modifications should be designed and managed to prevent degradation of water quality and alteration of natural hydrologic conditions including sediment transport and benthic drift patterns.
- f. Dredging and dredge spoils disposal operations should be accomplished in such a manner that results in no net loss of ecological function and should restore, enhance and/or improve ecological function wherever appropriate.
- g. Aquatic uses should not prevent public access to the shorelines from uplands or from the water to uplands.

- h. Recreational uses within aquatic areas should not conflict with water-dependent uses.
- i. Abandoned and neglected structures that cause adverse visual or habitat impacts or are a hazard to public health, safety, and welfare should be removed or restored to a usable condition.
- j. Where the state owns abutting upland, priority will be given to joint development of the uplands and second class tidelands for public use.

3. Designated water-bodies

 Areas waterward of the OHWM for all shorelines within the City including wetlands and Bellingham Bay out to the jurisdictional limits of the City.

4. Permitted uses

Aquatic – BMC 22.03.30.E.4

Use & Modification Table As further limited by zoning	Aquaculture	Boating Facilities	Commercial Development	Dredging and Disposal	<u>Industrial</u> Development	In-water Structures	Piers, Floats, Pilings	Recreational Development	Residential Development	Restoration & Conservation	Roads, Railways, & Utilities	Stormwater Management Facilities
Waterward of OHWM ¹ & 3	<u>p</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>x</u>	<u>c/x</u>	<u>x</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>p</u> ²	<u>p/x</u>	<u>x</u>	<u>p</u>	<u>c</u>	<u>c</u>

¹ Water-dependent use only, as further limited by the use and development regulations of the abutting upland shoreline designation.

Note: Commercial agriculture and mining are not permitted uses within the City of Bellingham. Forest practice only allowed as Class IV. Legend:

- P = Permitted (SDP or Exemption)
- C = Conditional Use Permit
- X = Prohibited
- / = Water oriented / Non-water-oriented

5. Regulations

- a. For development and uses within critical areas or their buffers that occur in the shoreline jurisdiction the applicable provisions of this program shall apply.
- b. When aquatic development occurs within shorelines of statewide significance, the policies in BMC 22.04 shall also apply.
- c. Aquatic uses shall not result in a net loss of shoreline ecological function.
- d. Development shall be consistent with the development regulation matrix in BMC 22.11.30 *Development Regulation Matrices* E.
- e. Aquatic uses shall not disrupt the hydrologic function of the water body in terms of current, wave action or tidal influence.

² Public Water-Enjoyment uses in/over water require CUP (Except on Lake Whatcom & Lake Padden)

³ Conditional use permit required for water-dependent aquatic uses in freshwater streams.

- f. Where the state owns aquatic areas / bedlands that are not managed by a local entity such as the City or Port of Bellingham, long-term or permanent mooring and anchorage shall be prohibited in those areas to minimize potential impacts on existing aquatic ecological function, navigation, view impacts, and other water-dependent uses. Vessels and floating structures that are anchored in the same general location long-term (greater than consecutive 30 days) may be considered substantial development requiring a shoreline permit and shall also require a shoreline conditional use permit. Such long-term or permanent anchorage shall also comply with State Dept. of Natural Resource requirements.
- g. Aquatic uses shall not interfere with water-dependent uses or compromise the public's ability to safely enjoy access to the shoreline and aquatic areas from uplands and from the water.
- h. When dredge disposal of contaminated materials occurs within Aquatic areas the standards within WAC 173-204 shall apply.

F. WATERFRONT DISTRICT

The City and Port of Bellingham are currently involved in a master planning effort for the Waterfront District Special Development Area (NWSDA). The intent of the Waterfront District shoreline designation is to implement 'Special Area Planning' and to facilitate the current Waterfront District master planning, incorporate public input and comply with the State of Washington Shoreline Management Act (RCW 90.58) and the Shoreline Guidelines (WAC 173-26). The Shoreline Guidelines describe 'Special Area Planning' as a regulatory tool which allows local governments to address shoreline management issues on complicated sites where a range of issues must be addressed. See Shoreline Guidelines, WAC 173-26-201(3)(d)(ix).

- 1. Purpose To plan for, protect and implement restoration of the shoreline ecological function, reserve areas for water-dependent and water-related uses, maximize public access to the shoreline and accommodate shoreline mixed uses and non-water-oriented uses where appropriate.
- 2. Management Policies (Adapted from special meeting on March 7, 2006 where 2-08-06 version of Waterfront District Implementation strategies and WFG Guiding Principles for City Center sub-area were approved by City Council / Port Commission.)
 - a. The City should coordinate with state, federal and local agencies, organizations, and institutions, including the Lummi Nation and Nooksack Tribe, to improve the ecological function of the shorelines.
 - b. Opportunities for cooperative projects and joint funding for shoreline restoration, habitat enhancement, environmental remediation and public access improvements should be identified.
 - c. Where feasible, hardened shoreline along the Whatcom Waterway, ASB lagoon and other shores should be removed or reduced, and the shoreline

- should be rehabilitated and enhanced for improved habitat and public access.
- d. Sites identified in the Waterfront Futures Group "Opportunities and Ideas for Habitat Restoration and Water Access on Urban Bellingham Bay" and other plans and studies should be evaluated for designation as public access and shoreline restoration sites in the Waterfront District Master Plan and City of Bellingham Shoreline Master Program.
- e. Appropriate locations for water-dependent and water-related uses should be identified and reserved. Appropriate design features and transitional areas to buffer uses which produce noise, glare or odors from other adjacent uses should be developed and implemented, where appropriate.
- f. Appropriate sites for water-related uses and ancillary activities to support commercial fishing, recreational boating and maritime industries, including boat building and repair to preserve the nautical history of our community should be identified and reserved.
- g. The Waterfront District site should be redeveloped with a mix of uses including administrative, professional, institutional, housing, retail and water enjoyment development, services, educational and cultural facilities and water-dependent and water-related industrial uses.
- h. Pocket beaches at the head of the Whatcom Waterway such as the Central Avenue pocket beach and the Roeder Avenue mudflats, and the I & J Waterway, the foot of Cornwall Avenue and the foot of C and G Streets, and adjacent to the historic GP log pond should be reserved for preservation and restoration / enhancement as habitat and public access points.
- i. An interconnected system of waterfront access and view points, public parks, open spaces, pedestrian walkways and bicycle routes which will be the backbone of the Waterfront District Special Development Area should be developed.
- j. The majority of the water's edge should be accessible via non-vehicular means of transportation, including pedestrian walkways, bicycle trails, motorized and non-motorized boat access, and transient moorage, and should be connected to a network of parks, trails and transit connections.
- k. Public access to areas used for water-dependent industry or government agency uses or into critical areas where it would conflict with public health or safety, habitat protection or national security should be restricted, limited or controlled through appropriate design.
- 1. Parking should be located under buildings, within parking structures located away from or opposite the shoreline from the development unless associated with a water-dependent use or no other feasible alternative exists. Subject to the Waterfront District Master Plan design and phasing, surface parking may be developed as an interim use on areas planned for

- future redevelopment, enabling its evolution over time into a denser environment.
- m. Streets should be aligned to facilitate circulation and accommodate future land uses, and building heights should be limited to preserve water views from street ends and other key public view points.
- n. Bio-swales, rain gardens and other appropriate Low Impact Development (LID) techniques should be implemented to manage stormwater.
- o. The Port and the City should work cooperatively to implement processes to ensure building permit predictability, consistency, and expediency within the Waterfront District Special Development Area.
- p. Shoreline permits granted for development proposals within the Waterfront District Special Development Area should include adequate expiration timelines and phasing schedules in order to be consistent with the objectives in o., above.
- 3. Reaches designated Waterfront District
 - a. Marine 5 7 (Marine Shoreline Reaches 1-8 map as shown in BMC 22.11.10 *Shoreline Designation Maps*) and are comprised of three subareas:
 - i. Waterfront District water-oriented uses;
 - ii. Waterfront District shoreline mixed use; and
 - iii Waterfront District recreational uses.
- 4. Uses: See the Development Regulation Matrix; Waterfront District in BMC 22.11.30.F, *Development Regulation Matrices* .
 - a. Permitted uses within the Waterfront District Water-Oriented Uses subareas:
 - i. Water-dependent uses;
 - ii. Water-related uses:
 - iii. Water-enjoyment uses;
 - iv. Restoration and enhancement;
 - v. Uses and activities specified in BMC 22.08.10.B.4, *Shoreline Buffers*; and
 - vi. Non-water-oriented accessory uses that directly support a permitted use.
 - vii. Preservation or adaptive reuse of historic structures.

- b. Permitted uses within the Waterfront District Shoreline Mixed Use subareas:
 - i. Those uses specified in 4.a. i vii, above; and
 - ii. Non-water-oriented uses including residential uses within a shoreline mixed-use structure subject to the requirements in BMC 22.03.30.
 F.6, Shoreline Environmental Designations.
 - iii. Any water-oriented or non-water-oriented use that includes preservation and / or adaptive reuse of historic structures.
- c. Permitted uses within the Waterfront District Recreational Uses sub-area:
 - i. Those uses specified in 4.a.i vii, and above; and
 - ii. Interim construction staging and environmental remediation uses subject to Section 22..08.140.
- d. Conditional uses within all of the Waterfront District shoreline:
 - i. Public water-enjoyment uses over or in-water;
 - ii. Change from an existing non-water-oriented use to a different nonwater-oriented use; and
 - iii. Temporary stand-alone non-water-oriented uses may operate or be staged within the two existing warehouses and/or land area within the shoreline jurisdiction at the Bellingham Shipping Terminal and within existing structures only between the historic GP log pond and Roeder Avenue subject to the applicable requirements in BMC 22.06.50 *Conditional Uses*.
- 5. Development regulations for the Waterfront District Water-Oriented Uses subarea:
 - a. Development shall result in no net loss of shoreline ecological functions.
 - b. Development shall comply with all applicable requirements in BMC 22.04, 22.08 and 22.09.
 - c. For development within critical areas or their buffers that occur in shoreline jurisdiction, the appropriate provisions of this program shall apply.
 - d. For shorelines where critical areas other than Fish and Wildlife Habitat Conservation Areas are present, the most protective buffer set forth in this program shall apply.

- e. Setbacks, Buffers and Height Development shall be in accordance with the table in BMC 22.11.30.F, *Development Regulation Matrices* and f., below, and as specified in subsection 7, below.
- f. Water-oriented uses shall not exceed a height of 35 feet except that, when a water-oriented use greater than 35 feet in height but not more than 50 feet in height is proposed, a view analysis shall be conducted in order to prevent obstruction of identified public view corridors; Provided, existing building heights may be modified if the current maximum height is not exceeded. Heights greater than 50 feet, or greater than the existing maximum height as applied to existing buildings, shall be subject to the requirements for a variance in BMC 22.06.30 *Shoreline Substantial Development*.
- g. Non-water-oriented accessory uses as specified in 4.a.vi., above, shall not exceed the height of the permitted use.
- h. Development shall provide public access subject to the public access requirements and criteria in BMC 22.08.90 *Public Access*.
- i. Stand-alone water-enjoyment uses shall be designed to be oriented towards the shoreline such that the general public has the opportunity to enjoy the aesthetics of a shoreline location and have physical and/or visual access to the shoreline.
- 6. Regulations within the Waterfront District Mixed Use sub-area are as follows:
 - a. Development shall result in no net loss of shoreline ecological functions.
 - b. Development shall comply with all applicable requirements in BMC 22.04, 22.08 and 22.09.
 - c. For development within critical areas or their buffers that occur in shoreline jurisdiction, the appropriate provisions of this program shall apply.
 - d. For shorelines where critical areas other than Fish and Wildlife Habitat Conservation Areas are present, the most protective buffer set forth in this program shall apply.
 - e. Setbacks, Buffers and Height Development shall be in accordance with the table in BMC 22.11.30.F, *Development Regulation Matrices* and f., below and as specified in subsection 8, below.
 - f. The maximum setbacks and buffers within the Waterfront District shoreline mixed-use sub-area may be reduced down to the minimum setbacks and buffers (both as specified in BMC 22.11.30.F, *Development Regulation Matrices*) as conditioned upon the adoption of a Comprehensive Plan amendment for a Waterfront District Master Plan and Development Agreement (WDMPDA) for the entire Waterfront District Special Development Area or, upon the adoption of a master plan for a portion of land area within the Waterfront District; Provided, said draft WDMPDA shall be reviewed by Ecology's Bellingham Field Office for

consistency with SMA Policy and this SMP at the time the WDMPDA is presented to the Bellingham Planning Commission. Said consistency review (not a SMP amendment) shall be performed within sixty (60)days of receipt by Ecology's Bellingham Field Office and also prior to final adoption of the WDMPDA by the City.

If a master plan – as specified above – is not adopted the maximum setbacks and buffers within table 22.11.30 F., *Shoreline Environmental Designations* for the mixed- use sub-area shall apply.

- g. The total height of a shoreline mixed-use structure (one that includes water-oriented uses and non-water-oriented uses) shall not exceed 35 feet. Additional height up to 50-feet may be granted if all required parking for the subject non-water-oriented uses (with the exception of loading / unloading areas) is provided within the footprint of the subject structure and/or within a shared parking facility (such as a surface lot or parking structure) AND the additional height shall be subject to a view analysis. Said view analysis shall be conducted in order to prevent obstruction of identified public view corridors. Building height greater than 50-feet shall be subject to a variance.
- h. Non-water-oriented uses within a shoreline mixed-use structure, as specified in 4.b.ii, above, shall be established or developed concurrently with a water-oriented use and shall provide public access and habitat restoration between the subject development and the adjacent shoreline subject to the requirements in i l, below.
- i. When a shoreline mixed-use development is proposed, public access, when required, shall be provided between the subject development and the adjacent shoreline concurrently and shall be consistent with an adopted master plan and/or public access plan. In cases where said public access cannot be provided due to seasonal constraints, including fish windows, the timing with other planned / ongoing soil remediation or implementation of a habitat restoration project, said public access shall be secured with a financial surety totaling 150% of the cost of the required access or some other acceptable surety as may be specified by the Planning Department Director or within the Waterfront District Development Agreement, upon adoption.
- j. In the absence of a master plan or public access plan as specified in g., above, required public access shall be designed and configured on a site-by-site basis consistent with BMC 22.08.90 *Public Access*. Said plan shall be reviewed and approved by the Planning, Environmental Resources and the Parks and Recreation Departments.
- k. When a shoreline mixed-use development is proposed, habitat restoration, as required in f., above, shall be provided per an approved habitat restoration plan. In absence of said habitat restoration plan, the subject development shall incorporate a minimum of three objectives from the Restoration Plan (Section 4, APPENDIX B). In both cases, said

- restoration plan shall be consistent with BMC 22.09.100 *Restoration and Conservation* and shall be reviewed and approved by the Environmental Resources Division and the Planning Department.
- Said required habitat restoration shall be completed prior to occupancy of the subject uses. In cases where the required habitat restoration cannot be provided due to seasonal constraints, including fish windows, or the timing with other planned / ongoing soil remediation or implementation of public access projects, said habitat restoration shall be secured with a financial surety totaling 150% of the required restoration project or some other acceptable surety as may be specified by the Planning Department Director or within the Waterfront District Development Agreement, upon adoption.
- m. Non-water-oriented uses shall not occupy the portion of the ground floor of a mixed-use structure that fronts on or is adjacent to the shoreline.
 (Only parking in the rear of the ground floor of a shoreline mixed-use structure is permitted.)
- n. In no case may residential uses within a shoreline mixed-use structure occupy the ground floor.
- 7. Development regulations for the Waterfront District Recreational use sub-area:
 - a. Development shall result in no net loss of shoreline ecological functions.
 - b. Development shall comply with all applicable requirements in BMC 22.03, 22.08 and 22.09.
 - c. Setbacks, buffers and height development shall be in accordance with the table in BMC 22.11.30.F, *Development Regulation Matrices* and as specified in subsection 8, below.
 - d. Water-oriented uses shall not exceed a height of 25-feet. Heights greater than 25-feet shall be subject to the requirements for a variance in BMC 22.06.30 *Shoreline Substantial Development*.
 - e. Non-water-oriented access uses as specified in subsection 4.a.vi, above, shall not exceed the height of the permitted use.
 - f. Development shall provide public access subject to the requirements in section 22.08.90 *Public Access*.
 - g. Stand alone water-enjoyment uses shall be designed to be oriented towards the shoreline such that the general public has the opportunity to enjoy the aesthetics of a shoreline location and have physical and/or visual access to the shoreline.
 - h. Interim construction staging and environmental remediation uses shall be discontinued at the time the property is converted to park use. (10-19-2009 WS)
- 8. Within the Waterfront District shoreline mixed-use and recreational use subareas, a buffer shall not be required for water-dependent and water-related uses

22.03 SHORELINE AREA DESIGNATIONS

where there is an existing sheet pile, bulkhead or other vertical (90-degree) structure in-water or at the OHWM. The required buffer shall not apply until such time that said feature(s) is removed permanently. Replacement of said structure(s) for a permitted use would not trigger the buffer requirement.

- 9. Allowed uses/activities within a required buffer area are as follows:
 - a. Those portions of water dependent and water-related issues uses that require direct access to the water (piers and gangways, boat launches, loading / unloading areas, view overlooks / platforms etc.); and
 - b. Those uses and activities as specified in BMC 22.08.10. B.4, *Shoreline Buffers*.

22.04 SHORELINES OF STATEWIDE SIGNIFICANCE

22.04.10 ADOPTION OF POLICY

- A. The following management and administrative policies are hereby adopted for all shorelines of statewide significance in Bellingham, as defined in RCW 90.58.030(2) (e) and identified in this section and as shown in BMC 22.11.
- B. This Master Program gives preference in the following order to uses that:
 - 1. Recognize and protect the state-wide interest over local interest;
 - 2. Preserve the natural character of the shoreline;
 - 3. Result in long-term over short-term benefit;
 - 4. Protect the resources and ecology of the shoreline;
 - 5. Increase public access to publicly owned areas of the shoreline;
 - 6. Increase recreational opportunities for the public in the shoreline; and
 - 7. Provide for any other element as defined in RCW 90.58.100 deemed appropriate or necessary.
- C. Conversely, uses that are not generally consistent with these policies should not be permitted on such shorelines.

22.04.20 DESIGNATION

The waters of Bellingham Bay below the elevation of Extreme Low Tide r (ELT) including the waters of those pocket estuaries identified on the Marine Shoreline Maps in BMC 22.11 AND the waters of Lake Whatcom below OHWM and those shorelands associated with Lake Whatcom are designated as shorelines of statewide significance (SSWS) per RCW 90.58.030(2)(e). The Shoreline Management Act states "the long-term interests of all the people shall be paramount in the management of shorelines of statewide significance."

22.04.30 GENERAL POLICIES

- A. Statewide Interest. The statewide interest should be recognized and protected over the local interest in shorelines of statewide significance. To recognize and protect statewide interest over local interest, the City shall consult with applicable state agencies, affected Indian tribes, and statewide interest groups and consider their recommendations in preparing shoreline Master Program provisions. The City shall also recognize and take into account state agencies' policies, programs, and recommendations in developing use regulations. For example, if an anadromous fish species is affected, the Washington State Departments of Fish and Wildlife and Ecology and the governor's salmon recovery office, as well as affected Indian tribes, should, at a minimum, be consulted.
 - 1. For Bellingham Bay the resources that are of statewide interest include but are not limited to:
 - a. Anadromous fisheries, forage fish spawning areas, eelgrass and kelp beds,

- marine mammal, avian, and other marine biota habitat, and the city's four estuarine systems including pocket estuaries;
- b. Public access to the shoreline via a public park and open space system;
- c. Recreation opportunities via boating, marinas, visitor moorage, and proximity to marine attractions (San Juan Islands, Strait of Juan de Fuca, Georgia Strait); and
- d. Deep draft moorage available for the Bellingham Shipping Terminal, the Alaska State Highway Ferry system and the United States Coast Guard.
- 2. For Lake Whatcom the resources that are of statewide interest include but may not be limited to:
 - a. Cutthroat and Kokanee fisheries, and wildlife;
 - b. Public access via a public park and open space system; and
 - c. Recreational boating, swimming and fishing
 - d. Regional water supply.
- B. Preserving Resources for Future Generations. The natural character of shorelines of statewide significance should be preserved. The City shall prepare Master Program provisions on the basis of preserving the shorelines for future generations. For example, actions that would convert resources into irreversible uses or detrimentally alter natural conditions characteristic of shorelines of statewide significance should be severely limited. Where natural resources of statewide importance are being diminished over time, master programs shall include provisions to contribute to the restoration of those resources.
 - 1. Preserving resources for future generations within Bellingham Bay includes:
 - a. Restoring shorelines and estuaries so that natural processes may be reintroduced;
 - b. Reintroducing natural processes to improve habitat structure which results in sustainable habitat functions; and
 - c. Remediation of contaminated sediments.
 - 2. Preserving resources for future generations within Lake Whatcom includes:
 - a. Protecting and improving the water quality of the regional drinking water reservoir;
 - b. Restoring the shoreline itself to a more natural condition; and
 - c. Re-establishing native vegetation at the shoreline edge.
- C. Priority Uses. Uses of shorelines of statewide significance should result in long-term benefits to the people of the state. Shoreline environment designation policies, boundaries, and use provisions should give preference to those uses described in RCW 90.58.020 (1) through (7). More specifically:

TITLE 22 SHORELINE MASTER PROGRAM 22.04 SHORELINES OF STATEWIDE SIGNIFICANCE

- 1. Identify the extent and importance of ecological resources of statewide importance and potential impacts to those resources, both inside and outside the City's geographic jurisdiction.
 - In 2004, the City conducted a Shoreline Characterization that has identified ecological resources within Bellingham Bay and Lake Whatcom.
- 2. Preserve sufficient shorelands and submerged lands to accommodate current and projected demand for economic resources of statewide importance, such as commercial shellfish beds and navigable harbors. Base projections on statewide or regional analyses, requirements for essential public facilities, and comment from related industry associations, affected Indian tribes, and state agencies.
 - This analysis has been conducted and the result is the shoreline designations and allowed uses specified in BMC 22.03.
- 3. Base public access and recreation requirements on demand projections that take into account the activities of state agencies and the interests of the citizens of the state to visit public shorelines with special scenic qualities or cultural or recreational opportunities.
 - City of Bellingham Park, Recreation and Open Space Plan (2005) and Port of Bellingham Comprehensive Scheme of Harbor Improvements include these demand projections.
- D. Resources of Statewide Importance. Establish development standards that:
 - Ensure the long-term protection of ecological resources of statewide importance, such as anadromous fish habitats, forage fish spawning and rearing areas, shellfish beds, and unique environments. Standards shall consider incremental and cumulative impacts of permitted development and include provisions to insure no net loss of shoreline ecosystems and ecosystem-wide processes;
 - 2. Provide for the shoreline needs of water-oriented uses and other shoreline economic resources of statewide importance; and
 - 3. Provide for the right of the public to use, access, and enjoy public shoreline resources of statewide importance.
- E. Comprehensive plan consistency. Assure that other local comprehensive plan provisions are consistent with and support as a high priority the policies for shorelines of statewide significance. Specifically, shoreline master programs should include policies that incorporate the priorities and optimum implementation directives of Chapter 90.58 RCW into comprehensive plan provisions and implementing development regulations.

22.05 APPLICABILITY, EXEMPTIONS, RELATIONSHIP TO OTHER REGULATIONS AND NONCONFORMITY

22.05.10 APPLICABILITY

- A. All development and use of shorelines of the state shall be carried out consistent with this Program and the policy of the Act as required by RCW 90.58.140(1), whether or not a shoreline permit as defined in BMC 22.06 is required for such development.
- B. The provisions of this Program shall apply to all shorelines of the state, all land uses, development activity, and all structures and facilities in the City.
- C. This Program shall apply to every person, partnership, firm, corporation, group, governmental agency, or other entity that owns, leases, or administers land within the City.
- D. No person, company, agency, or applicant shall alter a shoreline except as consistent with the purposes and requirements of this Program.
- E. If development is exempt per the criteria in BMC 22.05.20 *Exemptions*, the provisions, development and performance standards within this Program shall apply.
- F. This Program is to be administered with flexibility and attention to site-specific characteristics in the context of the watershed or other relevant ecosystem unit. It is not the intent of this Program to make a parcel of property unusable by denying its owner all reasonable economic use of the property except in extremely limited or extraordinary circumstances that are determined to be not in the public interest. It is not intended to prevent the provision of public facilities and services necessary to support existing and planned development for/by the community.
- G. As recognized by RCW 90.58.350, the provisions of this Master Program shall not apply to shorelands (uplands within shoreline jurisdiction) held in trust by the United States or by Indian Nations/Tribes.

22.05.20 EXEMPTIONS

- A. Application and Interpretation of Exemptions
 - 1. Exemptions from a shoreline substantial development permit and process are allowed but are still subject to compliance with the requirements, thresholds and performance standards of this Program (also found in WAC 173-27-040).
 - 2. An exemption from the substantial development permit process is not an exemption from compliance with the State Shoreline Management Act or this Master Program, nor from any other regulatory requirements.
 - 3. All uses and developments must be consistent with the policies and provisions of this Master Program and the Shoreline Management Act. A development or use that is listed as a conditional use pursuant to this Master Program or is

- an unlisted use, must obtain a conditional use permit even though the development or use does not require a substantial development permit. When a development or use is proposed that does not comply with the bulk, dimensional and performance standards of the Master Program, such development or use can only be authorized by approval of a variance.
- 4. Exemptions shall be construed narrowly. Only those developments that meet the precise terms of one or more of the listed exemptions may be granted exemptions from the substantial development permit process.
- 5. The burden of proof that a development or use is exempt is on the applicant.
- 6. If any part of a proposed development is not eligible for exemption, then a substantial development permit is required for the entire proposed development project.
- 7. The Planning and Community Development Department has the authority to condition said exemptions as necessary to assure compliance with the shoreline goals and use policies of this Program.

B. Exempt Developments

- 1. The following activities shall be considered exempt from the requirement to obtain a shoreline substantial development permit:
 - a. Any development of which the total cost or fair market value, whichever is higher, does not exceed six thousand four hundred sixteen dollars (\$6,416), as adjusted by the state Office of Fiscal Management every five years, if such development does not materially interfere with the normal public use of the water or shorelines of the state. For the purpose of determining whether or not a permit is required, the total cost or fair market value shall be based on the value of development that is occurring on shorelines of the state as defined in RCW 90.58.030(2)(c). The total cost or fair market value of the development shall include the fair market value of any donated, contributed or found labor, equipment or materials;
 - b. Normal maintenance or repair of existing structures or developments, including damage by accident, fire or elements. "Normal maintenance" includes those usual acts to prevent a decline, lapse or cessation from a lawfully established condition. "Normal repair" means to restore a development to a state comparable to its original condition within a reasonable period after decay or partial destruction except where repair causes substantial adverse effects to the shoreline resource or environment. Replacement of a structure or development may be authorized as repair where such replacement is the common method of repair for the type of structure or development and the replacement structure or development is comparable to the original structure or development including but not limited to its size, shape, configuration, location and external appearance and the replacement does not cause substantial adverse effects to shoreline resources or environment;

- Construction of the normal protective bulkhead common to single-family residences. A "normal protective" bulkhead includes those structural and nonstructural developments installed at or near and parallel to, the ordinary high water mark for the sole purpose of protecting an existing single-family residence and appurtenant structures from loss or damage by erosion. A normal protective bulkhead is not exempt if constructed for the purpose of creating dry land. When a vertical or near vertical wall is being constructed or reconstructed, not more than one cubic yard of fill per one foot of wall may be used for backfill. When an existing bulkhead is being repaired by construction of a vertical wall fronting the existing wall, it shall be constructed no further waterward of the existing bulkhead than is necessary for construction of new footings. When a bulkhead has deteriorated such that an ordinary high water mark has been established by the presence and action of water landward of the bulkhead, then the replacement bulkhead must be located at or near the actual ordinary high water mark. Beach nourishment and bioengineering erosion control projects may be considered a normal protective bulkhead when any structural elements are consistent with the above requirements and when the Department of Fish and Wildlife has approved the project;
- d. Emergency construction necessary to protect property from damage by the elements. An "emergency" is an unanticipated and imminent threat to public health, safety or the environment that requires immediate action within a time too short to allow full compliance with this Program. Emergency construction does not include development of new permanent protective structures where none previously existed. Where new protective structures are deemed by the Administrator to be the appropriate means to address the emergency situation, upon abatement of the emergency situation the new structure shall be removed or any permit which would have been required, absent an emergency, pursuant to Chapter 90.58 RCW, WAC 173-27 or this Program, obtained. All emergency construction shall be consistent with the policies of 90.58 RCW and this Program. As a general matter, flooding or other seasonal events that can be anticipated and may occur but that are not imminent are not an emergency:
- e. Construction and practices normal or necessary for farming, irrigation, and ranching activities, including agricultural service roads and utilities, on shorelands, construction of a barn or similar agricultural structure, and the construction and maintenance of irrigation structures including but not limited to head gates, pumping facilities, and irrigation channels:

 Provided, that, a feedlot of any size, all processing plants, other activities of a commercial nature, alteration of the contour of the shorelands by leveling or filling other than that which results from normal cultivation, shall not be considered normal or necessary farming or ranching activities. A feedlot shall be an enclosure or facility used or capable of being used for feeding livestock hay, grain, silage, or other livestock feed, but shall

- not include land for growing crops or vegetation for livestock feeding and/or grazing, nor shall it include normal livestock wintering operations;
- f. Construction or modification, by or under the authority of the Coast Guard or a designated port management authority, of navigational aids such as channel markers and anchor buoys;
- g. Construction on shorelands by an owner, lessee, or contract purchaser of a single-family residence for their own use or for the use of their family, which residence does not exceed a height of 35 feet above average grade level and which meets all City requirements. "Single-family residence" means a detached dwelling designed for and occupied by one family including those structures and developments within a contiguous ownership which are a normal appurtenance as defined in BMC 23.110.A;
- h. Construction of a dock, including a community dock, designed for pleasure craft only, for the private non-commercial use of the owner, lessee, or contract purchaser of a single-family and multi-family residences. A dock is a landing and moorage facility for watercraft and does not include recreational decks, storage facilities or other appurtenances. The private dock exemption applies if either:
 - i. In salt water, the fair market value of the dock does not exceed \$2,500; or
 - ii. In fresh waters the fair market value of the dock does not exceed ten thousand dollars (\$10,000), but if subsequent construction having a fair market value exceeding two thousand five hundred dollars (\$2,500) occurs within five years of the completion of the prior construction, the subsequent construction shall be considered a substantial development for the purpose of this Title. For the purpose of this section salt water shall include the tidally influenced marine and estuarine water areas of the state including the Strait of Georgia, local marine waters and all associated bays, inlets and estuaries;
- Operation, maintenance, or construction of canals, waterways, drains, reservoirs, or other facilities that now exist or are hereafter created or developed as a part of an irrigation system for the primary purpose of making use of system waters, including return flow and artificially stored ground water for the irrigation of lands;
- j. The marking of property lines or corners on state owned lands, when such marking does not significantly interfere with normal public use of the surface of the water;
- k. Operation and maintenance of any system of dikes, ditches, drains, or other facilities existing on June 4, 1975 which were created, developed or utilized, primarily as a part of an agricultural drainage or diking system;
- 1. Any project with a certification from the governor pursuant to Chapter 80.50 RCW;

- Site exploration and investigation activities that are prerequisite to preparation of an application for development authorization under this Program, if:
 - i. The activity does not interfere with the normal public use of surface waters:
 - ii. The activity will have no significant adverse impact on the environment including but not limited to fish, wildlife, fish or wildlife habitat, water quality and aesthetic values;
 - iii. The activity does not involve the installation of any structure, and upon completion of the activity the vegetation and land configuration of the site are restored to conditions existing before the activity;
 - iv. A private entity seeking development authorization under this section first posts a performance bond or provides other evidence of financial responsibility to the Administrator to ensure that the site is restored to preexisting conditions;
 - v. The activity is not subject to the permit requirements of RCW 90.58.550;
- n. The process of removing or controlling aquatic noxious weeds, as defined in RCW 17.26.020, through the use of an herbicide or other treatment methods applicable to weed control that are recommended by a final environmental impact statement published by the Department of Agriculture or the Department of Ecology jointly with other state agencies under Chapter 43.21C RCW when conducted by or under the supervision of the Whatcom County Noxious Weed Control Board.
 - This exemption shall not apply to other individuals or groups that intend to remove or control noxious weeds as defined above within the shorelines of Lake Whatcom.
- o. Watershed restoration projects as defined herein. The Department of Ecology shall review the projects for consistency with the shoreline Master Program in an expeditious manner and shall issue its decision along with any conditions within forty-five days of receiving a complete application form from the applicant. No fee may be charged for accepting and processing applications for watershed restoration projects as used in this section. "Watershed restoration project" means a public or private project authorized by the sponsor of a watershed restoration plan that implements the plan or part of the plan and consists of one or more of the following activities:
 - i. A project that involves less than ten miles of stream reach, in which less than twenty-five cubic yards of sand, gravel, or soil is removed,

- imported, disturbed or discharged, and in which no existing vegetation is removed except as minimally necessary to facilitate additional plantings;
- ii. A project for the restoration of an eroded or unstable stream bank that employs the principles of bioengineering, including limited use of rock as a stabilization only at the toe of the bank, and with primary emphasis on using native vegetation to control erosive forces of flowing water; or
- iii. A project primarily designated to improve fish and wildlife habitat, remove or reduce impediments to migration of fish, or enhance the fishery resource available for use by all of the citizens of the state, provided that any structures, other than a bridge or culvert or instream habitat enhancement structure associated with the project, is less than two hundred square feet in floor area and is located above the ordinary high water mark.

Watershed restoration plan means a plan (such as the Restoration plan in APPENDIX B), developed or sponsored by the Department of Fish and Wildlife, the Department of Ecology, the Department of Transportation, a federally recognized Indian tribe acting within and pursuant to its authority, a city, a county or a conservation district that provides a general program and implementation measures or actions for the preservation, restoration, recreation, or enhancement of the natural resources character, and ecology of a stream, stream segment, drainage area or watershed for which agency and public review has been conducted pursuant to Chapter 43.21C RCW, the State Environmental Policy Act (SEPA). The Restoration plan in APPENDIX B is a qualifying plan under this definition of which one or more of its elements could be implemented as an exempt activity.

- p. A public or private project, the primary purpose of which is to improve fish or wildlife habitat or fish passage, when all of the following apply:
 - i. The project has been approved in writing by the Department of Fish and Wildlife as necessary for the improvement of the habitat or passage and appropriately designed and sited to accomplish the intended purpose;
 - ii. The project received hydraulic project approval by the Department of Fish and Wildlife pursuant to Chapter 77.55 RCW; and
 - iii. The Director has determined that the project is consistent with this Program. The Director shall make such determination in a timely manner and provide it by letter to the project proponent.
- q. Hazardous Substance Remedial Actions. The procedural requirements of Chapter 90.58 RCW shall not apply to a project for which a consent

decree, order or agreed order has been issued pursuant to Chapter 70.105D RCW or to the Department of Ecology when it conducts a remedial Action under Chapter 70.105D RCW. The Department of Ecology shall, in consultation with the City, assure that such projects comply with the substantive requirements of Chapter 90.58 RCW, and Chapter 173-26 WAC and the local master program.

2. Statements of Exemption

- a. Whenever a development is determined by the City to be exempt from the requirement to obtain a shoreline substantial development permit and the development is subject to one or more of the following federal permits, a letter of exemption is required under the provisions of WAC 173-27-050:
 - i. U.S. Army Corps of Engineers Section 10 permit under the Rivers and Harbors Act of 1899; or
 - ii. A Section 404 permit under the Federal Water Pollution Control Act of 1972:
- b. The letter shall indicate the specific exemption provision from WAC 173-27-040 that is being applied to the development and provide a summary of the City's analysis of the consistency of the project with the Master Program and the Act.
- c. The City shall administer the statement of exemption process as a Type I permit in accordance with BMC 21.10.100. D.
- d. In the case of development that is subject to the regulations of this Title but exempt from the shoreline substantial development permit requirements, a statement of exemption shall be obtained prior to issuance of the building and/or development permit. The Building attach and enforce conditions to the building permit as required by applicable regulations of this Program pursuant to RCW 90.58.140(1) provided that no statement of exemption is required for emergency development pursuant to WAC 173-14-040 (1) (d).

22.05.30 RELATIONSHIP TO OTHER REGULATIONS

- A. The requirements within this Program are in addition to those specified within BMC Title 20 (Land Use Development Ordinance) and any other regulations adopted by the City that might apply, except with regard to critical areas that occur within the shoreline jurisdiction the provisions of this Program shall control.
- B. The goals, policies and development regulations within this Program intend to be consistent with other regulations and to the extent feasible implement shoreline elements within other plans adopted by the City. These include but are not limited to:
 - 1. BMC Title 20 Land Use Development Ordinance;
 - 2. BMC 16.55 Critical Areas Ordinance:

- 3. BMC 16.60 Clearing Ordinance;
- 4. BMC 16.70 Grading Ordinance;
- 5. BMC 16.80 Lake Whatcom Reservoir Regulatory Chapter;
- 6. BMC 15.42 Stormwater Management;
- 7. Bellingham Comprehensive Plan (2006);
- 8. The 23 individual Neighborhood Plans;
- 9. Waterfront Futures Group Framework and Action Plan and Guiding Principles (2004);
- 10. City of Bellingham Park, Recreation and Open Space Plan (2005);
- 11. Restoration Plan and Environmental Assessment for Whatcom Creek (2002);
- 12. Whatcom Creek Waterfront Action Plan (1998);
- 13. Watershed Master Plan (1995) currently being updated by Public Works; and
- 14. Squalicum Creek Floodplain Management Plan (1994).
- C. The regulations within this Program shall apply concurrently with review conducted under the State Environmental Policy Act (SEPA), per BMC 16.20.
- D. Compliance with the provisions of this Program does not constitute compliance with other federal, state, and local regulations and permit requirements that may be required (e.g., Building Permits, Hydraulic Project Approvals (HPAs), U.S. Army Corps of Engineers Section 404 and/or Section 10 permits, National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System permits). The applicant is responsible for complying with these requirements, apart from the process established in this Program.
- E. The Act and this Program adopted pursuant thereto comprise the basic state and City law regulating use of shorelines in the City. In the event provisions of this Program conflict with other applicable City policies or regulations, generally the more protective of shoreline resources shall prevail except this Program shall regulate critical areas that occur within the shoreline jurisdiction and shall establish all permitted uses adjacent to and critical area buffers and setbacks from the ordinary high water mark of marine water, shoreline streams and wetlands, and Lake Whatcom and Lake Padden.(This revision is the result of an amendment to the City's CAO; BMC 16.55.490 F.4. that occurred during the spring of 2008; Ordinance 2008-04-036)
- F. In the case of development subject to the shoreline permit requirement of this Program, the City shall not issue a building permit for such development until a shoreline permit has been granted; PROVIDED that, any permit issued by the Building Official for such development shall be subject to the same terms and conditions which apply to the shoreline permit.
- G. In the case of zoning conditional use permits and/or variances for development that is also within the jurisdiction of this Program, the Hearing Examiner shall attach conditions to such permits and variances as are required to make such development consistent with this Program.

H. In the case of subdivision of land (but not including short subdivisions) within the jurisdiction of this Program, the Hearing Examiner shall attach conditions to such approval as are required to make the design of such subdivision(s) consistent with this Program.

22.05.40 NONCONFORMITY

- A. Any use, structure, lot or other site improvement (e.g., landscaping or signage), which was legally established prior to the effective date of the Shoreline Management Act or the Shoreline Master Program, or amendments thereto that rendered it nonconforming, shall be considered nonconforming if:
 - 1. The use or structure is now prohibited or cannot meet use limitations applicable to the area in which it is located; or
 - 2. The use or structure does not comply with the development standards or other requirements of this Code;
- B. Abatement of Illegal Use, Structure or Development. Any use, structure, lot or other site improvement not established in compliance with use, lot size, building, and development standards in effect at the time of establishment shall be deemed illegal and shall be discontinued or terminated and subject to removal.
- C. Continuation and Maintenance of Nonconformance. A nonconformance may be continued or physically maintained as provided by this Code.
 - 1. Any nonconformance that is brought into conformance for any period of time shall forfeit status as a nonconformance.
 - 2. Discontinuation of Nonconforming Use. A nonconforming use shall not be resumed when abandonment or discontinuance extends for 12 consecutive months.
 - 3. Repair or Reconstruction of Nonconforming Structure. Any structure nonconforming as to height or setback standards may be repaired or reconstructed; provided, that:
 - a. The extent of the previously existing nonconformance is not increased; and
 - b. The building permit application for repair or reconstruction is submitted within 12 months of the occurrence of damage or destruction.
 - 4. Modifications to Nonconforming Structures. Modifications to a nonconforming structure may be permitted; provided, the modification does not increase the area, height or degree of an existing nonconformity.
- D. Change or Intensification of a Nonconforming Use. A nonconforming use may be changed to another nonconforming use or intensified, subject to approval of a shoreline conditional use permit; provided, a new nonconformance with the structural standards shall not be created or increased except by approval of a shoreline variance.

- E. Expansion of a non-conforming single family residence shall be subject to approval of a Type II administrative conditional use permit provided the following conditions can be met (in addition to those in Section 22.06.50.C, *Conditional Uses*):
 - 1. There is no future encroachment into the required buffer beyond the furthest extent of the foundation of the existing structure but not including foundations for patios, decks, pier abutments and other appurtenances.
 - 2. The expansion is compliant with all other BMC requirements.
- F. Nonconforming Lots. Any permitted use may be established on an undersized lot, which cannot satisfy the lot size or width requirements of BMC Title 18; Subdivision; provided that:
 - 1. All other applicable standards of BMC Title 18; Subdivision; are met; or a shoreline variance has been granted;
 - 2. The lot was legally created and satisfied the lot size and width requirements applicable at the time of creation;
 - 3. The lot cannot be combined with contiguous undeveloped lots to create a lot of required size;
 - 4. No unsafe condition or circumstance contrary to the public interest is created by permitting development on the nonconforming lot; and
 - 5. The lot was not created as a "special tract" to protect critical area, provide open space, or as a public or private access tract.

22.06 SHORELINE PERMITS

22.06.10 PERMIT PROCESS

- A. Development within shorelines that requires a shoreline substantial development permit (SSDP) or variance shall be processed as a Type II permit as specified in BMC 21.10.110.
- B. Development within shorelines that requires a shoreline conditional use permit shall be processed as a Type IIIA permit as specified in BMC 21.10.120.
- C. Adjacent lands to shorelands shall also be considered in shoreline permit proposals as specified in RCW 90.58.340. Adjacent, in this case, is defined as those areas of a parcel that are outside of the shoreline jurisdiction as specified above but are under common ownership and being developed concurrent with those lands that are within shorelines.

22.06.20 SUBMITTAL REQUIREMENTS

- A. General. All development proposals within shorelines or shorelands shall satisfy the application submittal requirements set forth in BMC 21.10.190.A.
- B. Critical Areas. In addition to the general submittal requirements in Section A above, development proposals within shorelines or shorelands that are also designated as critical areas shall also satisfy the applicable application submittal requirements as described in Appendix E. Where two or more types of critical areas are present, the critical areas report must meet the report requirements for each relevant type of critical area.

22.06.30 SHORELINE SUBSTANTIAL DEVELOPMENTS

- A. A substantial development permit shall be obtained for all proposed use and development of shorelines unless the proposal is specifically exempt pursuant to BMC 22.05.020.A and B.1.
- B. Shoreline permits that include analysis and regulation of critical areas pursuant to BMC 22.08.30 *Critical Areas*, shall comply with the applicable critical areas reports and mitigation plan submitted pursuant to Section 22.06.20 *Submittal Requirements* as well as the general and specific performance standards specified in Section 22.06.60
- C. In order to be approved, the Director must find that the proposal is consistent with the following criteria:
 - 1. All regulations of this Program appropriate to the shoreline designation and the type of use or development activity proposed shall be complied with, except those bulk and dimensional standards that have been modified by

- approval of a shoreline variance under BMC 22.06.30 *Shoreline Substantial Development*.
- 2. All policies of this Program appropriate to the shoreline designation and the type of use or development activity proposed shall be considered and substantial compliance demonstrated. A reasonable proposal that cannot fully conform to these policies may be permitted, provided it is demonstrated that the proposal is clearly consistent with the overall goals, objectives and intent of the Program.
- 3. For projects located on shorelines of statewide significance, the policies of BMC 22.04 shall be also be adhered to.
- D. Approval of Activities. The Director shall condition approvals of activities allowed within or adjacent to a habitat conservation area or its buffers, as necessary to minimize or mitigate any potential adverse impacts. Conditions may include, but are not limited to, the following:
 - 1. 1. Establishment of buffer zones;
 - 2. Preservation of critically important vegetation and/or habitat features such as snags and downed wood;
 - 3. Limitation of access to the habitat area, including fencing and signage to deter unauthorized access;
 - 4. Seasonal restriction of construction activities;
 - 5. Establishment of a duration and timetable for periodic review of mitigation activities; and
 - 6. Requirement of a performance bond, when necessary, to ensure completion and success of proposed mitigation.

22.06.40 VARIANCES

- A. The purpose of a variance permit is strictly limited to granting relief from specific bulk, dimensional or performance standards set forth in this Program. Variances may be granted only where there are extraordinary circumstances relating to the physical character or configuration of property such that the strict implementation of this Program will impose an unnecessary hardship on the applicant or thwart the policies set forth within RCW 90.58.020.
- B. Variance permits for development that will be located landward of the ordinary high water mark (OHWM) and within a shoreline and / or critical area buffer as specified in this program may be authorized provided the applicant can demonstrate all of the following:
 - 1. That the strict application of the bulk, dimensional or performance standards set forth in the applicable Master Program precludes or significantly interferes

- with a reasonable use of the property not otherwise prohibited by the Master Program;
- 2. That the hardship described in A. above is specifically related to the property, and is the result of unique conditions such as irregular lot shape, size, or natural features and the application of the Master Program, and not, for example, from deed restrictions or the applicant's own actions;
- 3. That the design of the project is compatible with other authorized uses in the area and with uses planned for the area under the comprehensive plan and this Program and will not cause adverse effects to or the shoreline environment;
- 4. That the requested variance does not constitute a grant of special privilege not enjoyed by the other properties in the area;
- 5. That the variance requested is the minimum necessary to afford relief; and
- 6. The public interest will suffer no substantial detrimental effect.
- C. The Department may impose additional conditions onto a variance approval as necessary to assure consistency with this Program and that the policies set forth in RCW 90.58.020 are not thwarted.
- D. Prior to application for a variance, the applicant shall demonstrate that the mitigation sequencing specified in this Program has been used to design the project and avoid and/or minimize impacts to the extent feasible.
- E. The applicant shall demonstrate that the proposal achieves a no net loss of ecological function
- F. Variance permits for development that will be located either waterward of the ordinary high water mark (OHWM), within the channel migration zone or frequently flooded area, where applicable, or within a critical area as described in this Program, or within wetlands as defined by RCW 90.58.030 may be authorized provided the applicant can demonstrate all of the following:
 - 1. That the strict application of the bulk, dimensional or performance standards set forth in this Master Program precludes all reasonable use of the property not otherwise prohibited by the Master Program;
 - 2. That the proposal is consistent with the criteria established in this section, Ch. 22.06.40; and
 - 3. That the public rights of navigation and use of the shorelines will not be adversely affected.
- G. In the granting of all variance permits, consideration shall be given to the cumulative impact of additional requests for like actions in the area. For example if variances were granted to other developments and/or uses in the area where similar circumstances exist, the total of the variances shall also remain consistent with the policies of this Program and the Shoreline Management Act and shall not produce substantial adverse effects to the shoreline environment.

- H. Requests for varying the use to which a shoreline area is to be put are prohibited and, are not requests for variances, but rather requests for conditional uses.
- I. Any variance granted by the City must be forwarded to the Department of Ecology for approval, approval with conditions, or denial as specified in WAC 173-27-200.

22.06.50 CONDITIONAL USES

- A. The purpose of the Conditional Use provision is to provide more control and flexibility for implementing the regulations of the Master Program in a manner consistent with the policies of the Act. In authorizing a conditional use, special conditions may be attached to the permit by the City or Department to prevent undesirable effects of the proposed use and/or to assure consistency of the project with the Act and this Program.
- B. An applicant for a substantial development permit which also requires a conditional use permit shall submit applications for both permits simultaneously pursuant to BMC 21.10.
- C. Prior to the granting of a conditional use permit, <u>as specifically required by this Program or for uses which are not classified as such by this Program</u>, the applicant shall demonstrate all of the following:
 - 1. The provisions spelled out in the Master Program have been met and the proposed use is consistent with the policies of the Act;
 - 2. The proposed use will cause no significant, adverse impacts to the shoreline environment, ecological functions, or other uses;
 - 3. The proposed use will not interfere with the normal public use of public shorelines;
 - 4. That the proposed use of the site and design of the project is compatible with other authorized uses within the area and with uses planned for the area under the comprehensive plan and the Program;
 - 5. The proposed use will not be contrary to the purpose and intent of the environment designation in which it is located and the general intent of the Master Program;
 - 6. The proposed use(s) shall provide a long-term public benefit in terms of providing public access or implementing habitat restoration that is consistent with the goals of this Program; and
 - 7. That the public interest shall suffer no substantial detrimental effect.
- D. The Hearing Examiner or Department may require additional conditions as are necessary to insure proper compliance with the intent and purpose of the environment designation and Master Program or to insure protection of the surrounding environment and uses.
- E. In the granting of conditional use permits, consideration shall be given to the cumulative environmental impact of additional requests for like actions in the area. For example, if conditional use permits were granted for other developments in the

- area where similar circumstances exist, the sum of the conditional uses and their impacts shall also remain consistent with the policies of RCW 90.58.020 and shall not produce a significant adverse effect to the shoreline environment.
- F. Any conditional use permit granted by the City must be forwarded to the Department of Ecology for its approval, or approval with conditions, or denial per WAC 173-27-160.

22,06,60 FEES

The City shall establish fees by resolution for filing permits under this Title.

22.06.70 APPEALS

- A. Any person aggrieved by the granting, revising, denying, or rescinding of a permit on shorelines of the state pursuant to RCW 90.58.140 may, except as otherwise provided in Chapter 43.21L RCW, seek review from the shorelines hearings board by filing a petition for review within twenty-one days of the date of filing as defined in RCW 90.58.140(6).
- B. Within seven days of the filing of any petition for review with the board as provided in this section pertaining to a final decision of the City, the petitioner shall serve copies of the petition on the Department of Ecology, the office of the attorney general, and the City. The Department of Ecology and the attorney general may intervene to protect the public interest and insure that the provisions of this Program are complied with at any time within fifteen days from the date of the receipt by the Department of Ecology or the attorney general of a copy of the petition for review filed pursuant to this section. The shorelines hearings board shall schedule review proceedings on the petition without regard as to whether the period for the Department of Ecology or the attorney general to intervene has or has not expired.
- C. The Department of Ecology or the attorney general may obtain review of any final decision granting or revising a permit, or granting or denying an application for a permit issued by the City by filing a written petition with the shorelines hearings board and the City within twenty-one days from the date the final decision was filed as provided in RCW 90.58.140(6).
- D. The review proceedings authorized in A. and B. of this section are subject to the provisions of Chapter 34.05 RCW pertaining to procedures in adjudicative proceedings. Judicial review of such proceedings of the shorelines hearings board is governed by Chapter 34.05 RCW. The board shall issue its decision on the appeal authorized under A. and B. of this section within one hundred eighty days after the date the petition is filed with the board or a petition to intervene is filed by the Department of Ecology or the attorney general, whichever is later. The time period may be extended by the board for a period of thirty days upon a showing of good cause or may be waived by the parties.
- E. Appeal of City amendments to this Master Program shall be to the growth management hearings board pursuant to RCW 36.70A.280.

22.06.80 STATE ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY ACT (SEPA) COMPLIANCE

- A. Shoreline permit or approval applications that are not categorically exempt shall be subject to environmental review by the responsible official pursuant to the State Environmental Policy Act (WAC 197-11).
- B. As part of the SEPA checklist review, the responsible official may require additional information regarding the proposed development in accordance with WAC 197-11 to make an equitable and reasonable determination of the development's potential impact on the environment.
- C. Failure of the applicant to submit sufficient information for a threshold determination to be made shall be grounds for refusal of the application by the responsible official.
- D. The City's substantive authority and basis for mitigation to condition or deny a proposal are set forth in WAC 197-11-660, and as established in other City codes.

22.06.90 EXPIRATIONS AND EXTENSIONS

The following time requirements shall apply to all substantial development permits and to any development authorized pursuant to a variance or conditional use permit:

- A. Upon a finding of good cause, based on the requirements and circumstances of the project proposed and consistent with the policy and provisions of the Master Program and the Act, the City may adopt appropriate time limits as a part of an action on a substantial development permit and the City, with the approval of the Department of Ecology, may adopt appropriate time limits as a part of action on a conditional use or variance permit. "Good cause based on the requirements and circumstances of the project," shall mean that the time limits established are reasonably related to the time actually necessary to perform the development on the ground and complete the project that is being permitted, and/or are necessary for the protection of shoreline resources.
- B. Where neither the City nor the Department of Ecology includes specific provisions establishing time limits on a permit as a part of an action on the permit, the following time limits shall apply:
 - 1. Construction shall be commenced or, where no construction is involved, the use or activity shall be commenced within two years of the effective date of a shoreline permit. Provided, that the City may authorize a single extension for a period not to exceed one year based on reasonable factors, if a request for extension has been filed before the expiration date and notice of the proposed extension is given to parties of record and the Department of Ecology.
 - 2. Authorization to conduct development activities shall terminate five years after the effective date of a shoreline permit. Provided, that the City may authorize a single extension for a period not to exceed one year based on reasonable factors, if a request for extension has been filed before the expiration date and notice of the proposed extension is given to parties of record and the Department of Ecology.
 - 3. The effective date of a shoreline permit shall be the date of the last action required on the shoreline permit and all other government permits and

approvals that authorize the development to proceed, including all administrative and legal actions on any such permit or approval. It is the responsibility of the applicant to inform the City of other permit applications filed with agencies other than the City and of any related administrative and legal actions on any permit or approval. If no notice of the pendency of other permits or approvals is given to the City prior to the date established by the shoreline permit or the provisions of this section, the expiration of a permit shall be based on the shoreline permit.

- 4. When permit approval is based on conditions, such conditions shall be satisfied prior to occupancy or use of a structure or prior to commencement of a nonstructural activity, provided, that an alternative compliance limit may be specified in the permit.
- 5. Revisions to permits under WAC 173-27-100 may be authorized after original permit authorization has expired under number 2 of this section, provided that this procedure shall not be used to extend the original permit time requirements or to authorize substantial development after the time limits of the original permit.
- 6. The City shall notify the Department of Ecology in writing of any change to the effective date of a permit, as authorized by this section, with an explanation of the basis for approval of the change. Any change to the time limits of a permit other than those authorized by this section shall require a new permit application.

22.06.100 PERMIT REVISIONS

- A. A permit revision is required whenever the applicant proposes substantive changes to the design, terms or conditions of a project from that which is approved in the permit. Changes are substantive if they materially alter the project in a manner that relates to its conformance to the terms and conditions of the permit, the Master Program and/or the policies and provisions of Chapter 90.58 RCW. Changes that are not substantive in effect do not require approval of a revision.
- B. When an applicant seeks to revise a permit, the City shall request from the applicant detailed plans and text describing the proposed changes.
- C. If the City determines that the proposed changes are within the scope and intent of the original permit, and are consistent with the Master Program and the Act, the City may approve a revision. "Within the scope and intent of the original permit" means all of the following:
 - 1. No additional over-water construction is involved except that pier, dock, or float construction may be increased by five hundred square feet or ten percent from the provisions of the original permit, whichever is less;
 - 2. Ground area coverage and height may be increased a maximum of ten percent from the provisions of the original permit;

- 3. The revised permit does not authorize development to exceed height, lot coverage, setback, or any other requirements of the Master Program except as authorized under a variance granted as the original permit or a part thereof;
- 4. Additional or revised landscaping is consistent with any conditions attached to the original permit and with the Master Program;
- 5. The use authorized pursuant to the original permit is not changed; and
- 6. No adverse environmental impact will be caused by the project revision.
- D. Revisions to permits may be authorized after original permit authorization has expired under WAC 173-27-080(2). The purpose of such revisions shall be limited to authorization of changes which are consistent with this section and which would not require a permit for the development or change proposed under the terms of Chapter 90.58, RCW and this Master Program. If the proposed change constitutes substantial development then a new permit is required. Provided, this subsection shall not be used to extend the time requirements or to authorize substantial development beyond the time limits of the original permit.
- E. If the sum of the revision and any previously approved revisions under former WAC 173-14-064 or this section violate the provisions in C. of this section, the City shall require that the applicant apply for a new permit.
- F. The revision approval, including the revised site plans and text consistent with the provisions of WAC 173-27-180 as necessary to clearly indicate the authorized changes, and the final ruling on consistency with this section shall be filed with the Department of Ecology. In addition, the City shall notify parties of record of their action.
- G. If the revision to the original permit involves a conditional use or variance, the City shall submit the revision to the Department of Ecology for the Department's approval, approval with conditions, or denial, and shall indicate that the revision is being submitted under the requirements of this subsection. The Department shall render and transmit to the City and the applicant its final decision within fifteen days of the date of the Department's receipt of the submittal from the City. The City shall notify parties of record of the Department of Ecology's final decision.
- H. The revised permit is effective immediately upon final decision by the City or, when appropriate under G. of this section, upon final action by the Department of Ecology.
- I. Appeals shall be in accordance with RCW 90.58.180 and shall be filed within twenty-one days from the date of receipt of the City's action by the Department of Ecology or, when appropriate under G. of this section, the date the Department's final decision is transmitted to the City and the applicant. Appeals shall be based only upon contentions of noncompliance with the provisions of C. of this section. Construction undertaken pursuant to that portion of a revised permit not authorized under the original permit is at the applicant's own risk until the expiration of the appeals deadline. If an appeal is successful in proving that a revision is not within the scope and intent of the original permit, the decision shall have no bearing on the original permit.

22.07 ADMINISTRATION AND LEGAL PROVISIONS

22.07.10 ADMINISTRATION

- A. The Planning and Community Development Department Director shall administer this Program in accordance with the permit procedures specified in RCW 90.58.140, 90.58.143, 90.58.210 and 90.58.220 and WAC 173-27, and related City codes, such as BMC 21.10.
- B. The Planning Director shall have the following authority and responsibility in administering this Program:
 - 1. Overall administrative responsibility for this Program;
 - 2. Authority to determine submittal requirements in accordance with BMC 21.10.190;
 - 3. Authority to determine if an application is complete or incomplete;
 - 4. Authority to grant or deny statements of exemption; and
 - 5. Authority to grant or deny substantial development permits not requiring a public hearing.
- C. Roles and responsibilities of the Hearing Examiner shall be in accordance with BMC 2.56.050.

22.07.20 AMENDMENTS

- A. Amendments to this Program shall be processed according to the procedures prescribed in WAC 173-26-100 and BMC 21.10.150.
- B. Any person or agency may petition the City to amend this Program. Petitions shall specify the changes requested and any and all reasons therefore. The City may consider a petition in accordance with BMC 21.10.150 if it deems the proposed amendment would make this Program more consistent with the Act and/or any applicable Department of Ecology guidelines, or more equitable in its application to persons or property due to changed conditions in an area.

22.07.30 PENALTIES AND VIOLATIONS

A. Pursuant to RCW 90.58.210(2) and WAC 173-27-280, any person who fails to conform to the terms of a substantial development permit, conditional use permit or variance issued under RCW 90.58.140, who undertakes a development or use on shorelines of the state within the City without first obtaining a permit, or who fails to comply with a cease and desist order shall be subject to a civil penalty not to exceed one thousand dollars for each violation. Each permit violation or each day of violation shall constitute a separate violation. The penalty shall be imposed pursuant to the procedure set forth in WAC 173-27-280 and become due and recovered as set forth in WAC 173-27-290(3) and (4). Persons incurring a penalty may appeal the same pursuant to WAC 173-27-290(1) and (2) to the Hearing Examiner.

B. In addition to incurring civil liability under A., above, pursuant to RCW 90.58.220, any person found to have willfully engaged in activities on shorelines of the state within the City in violation of the provisions of the Act or of this Program or other regulations adopted pursuant thereto shall be guilty of a gross misdemeanor, and shall be punished by a fine of not less that twenty-five nor more than one thousand dollars or by imprisonment in the county jail for not more than ninety days, or by both such fine and imprisonment. The fine for the third and all subsequent violations in any five-year period shall be not less than five hundred nor more than ten thousand dollars. Any person found to have willfully violated any court order or a cease and desist order issued pursuant to this Program shall be subject to a fine of not more than five thousand dollars, imprisonment in the county jail for not more than ninety days, or both.

22.07.40 REMEDIES

- A. Pursuant to RCW 90.58.210(1), the City, where authorized, shall bring such injunctive, declaratory, or other actions as are necessary to insure that no uses are made of the shorelines of the state within the City in conflict with the provisions of this Program, the Act, or other regulations adopted pursuant thereto, and to otherwise enforce the provisions of this Program.
- B. Pursuant to RCW 90.58.230, any person subject to the regulatory provisions of this Program or the Act who violates any provision thereof, or permit or permit condition issued pursuant thereto shall be liable for all damage to public or private property arising from such violation, including the cost of restoring the affected area to its conditions prior to violation. The City Attorney shall bring suit for damages under this section on behalf of the City. If liability has been established for the cost of restoring an area affected by a violation, the court shall make provision to assure that restoration will be accomplished within a reasonable time at the expense of the violator. In addition to such relief, including money damages, the court in its discretion may award attorney's fees and costs of the suit to the prevailing party.
- C. Pursuant to WAC 173-27-270, the Planning and Community Development Department Director shall have the authority to serve upon a person a cease and desist order if an activity being undertaken on shorelines of the state within the City is in violation of the Act or this Program, or of any permit issued pursuant thereto. The Director shall follow the procedure set forth in WAC 173-27-270 in issuing a cease and desist order.

D. Rights of Entry

1. **For Permitting or Inspection of Work Conducted Under Permit.**Whenever a person applies for a permit or approval under any section of this Program, the Planning and Community Development Department Director or it's designee shall have a limited right of entry during the City's normal business hours to conduct studies necessary to determine whether to approve the proposal or to inspect work being conducted under the permit or approval. The property owner's failure to grant permission for the designee to enter the

- property shall be grounds for denial of the permit or issuance of a cease and desist order.
- 2. **To Investigate Violations and Corrections**. The Planning and Community Development Department Director or it's designee is authorized to enter upon property to determine whether the provisions of the Act and this Program are being obeyed and to make any examinations, surveys, and studies as may be necessary in the performance of his or her duties. The designee shall obtain the property owner's permission prior to entry. If the property owner declines to give permission or cannot be located, the designee shall enter upon the property only in a manner consistent with the constitutions and laws of the United States and the State of Washington. If so required by the constitutions and laws of the United States and the State of Washington, the designee shall apply to a court of competent jurisdiction for a search warrant authorizing access to such property for such purpose.
- 3. **Search Warrants**. Both Bellingham Municipal Court and Whatcom County Superior Court are authorized to issue search warrants under this Program.
- E. Abatement Structures or development on shorelines considered by the City to present a hazard or other public nuisance to persons, properties, or natural features may be abated by the City under the provisions of the International Building Code, International Property Maintenance Code, or by other appropriate means.

22.07.50 SEVERABILITY

A. If any section, subsection, or provision of this Program, or its application to any person or circumstances is held invalid, the remainder of this Program, or the application of the provision to other persons or circumstances shall not be affected.

22.07.60 REVISED PROGRAM

- A. The revision and renumbering of this Program into Title 22 shall not release any person from full compliance with the terms and conditions of any permit or approval previously granted by the City. Where pre-existing permit conditions specify compliance with certain provisions of the Program, the equivalent provisions of the revised Program shall apply.
- B. The Planning and Community Development Department Director shall determine which sections apply where interpretation is necessary.

22.07.70 REFERENCES TO PLANS, REGULATIONS OR INFORMATION SOURCES

A. Where this Program makes reference to any RCW, WAC, or other local, state, or federal law or regulation, or to any source of information, the most recent amendment or current edition shall apply.

22.08 GENERAL POLICIES AND REGULATIONS

PURPOSE AND INTENT: The policies and regulations within this Chapter shall be applied either generally to all shorelines or to shorelines that meet the applicable criteria of the regulation without regard to shoreline designation. These provisions address certain elements as required by RCW 90.58.100 (2) and implement the principles as established in WAC 173-26-186.

22.08.10 SHORELINE BUFFERS

A. Policies

- 1. Protection of and uses allowed within shorelines and their associated buffers as specified in this Title shall be managed in a manner that results in no net loss of shoreline ecological function.
- 2. The City via the provisions within this Title should protect shorelines and their buffers so that they continue to contribute to existing ecosystem-wide processes and shoreline ecological functions.

B. Regulations

- 1. The Director shall require the establishment of buffer areas for activities adjacent to critical areas as specified in this program. Buffers shall consist of an undisturbed area of native vegetation or areas identified for restoration established to protect the integrity, function and values of the affected habitat. Required buffer widths shall reflect the sensitivity of the habitat and the type and intensity of human activity proposed to be conducted nearby.
- 2. Development shall be buffered and setback from shorelines in accordance with the standards of BMC 22.11.30 *Development Regulation Matrices* A-F. The buffer widths (Riparian Habitat Area widths) shall be increased beyond the minimum, up to the maximum, (except within the Waterfront District) as follows:
 - a. The Director determines that the minimum width is insufficient to prevent habitat degradation and to protect the structure and functions of the habitat area;
 - b. When a frequently flooded area, as specified in BMC 16.55.370.B, exceeds the minimum riparian habitat area width, the riparian habitat area shall extend to the outer edge of the frequently flooded area;
 - c. When a channel migration zone is present, the buffer width shall be measured from the outer edge of the channel migration zone;
 - d. When the habitat area is in an area of high blow-down potential, the buffer width shall be expanded an additional fifty (50) feet on the at-risk side; or
 - e. When the habitat area is within a landslide hazard area, or buffer, the riparian habitat area width shall be the maximum distance of the erosion or landslide hazard area buffer, whichever is greater.

- 3. The Director may allow the buffer width to be averaged between the minimum and maximum buffer widths specified in BMC 22.11.30 *Development Regulation Matrices* A-F (except within the Waterfront District Shoreline Mixed-Use shoreline designation) when all of the following are demonstrated:
 - a. The width averaging will not result in a net loss of shoreline ecological functions including a net loss to those habitats for anadromous fish and terrestrial species;
 - b. The recommended buffer width is not reduced below the minimum in any location;
 - c. The width averaging will not be located within another critical area or associated buffer; and
 - d. The averaging is part of a restoration or enhancement project that has been reviewed and approved by the Washington State Department of Fish and Wildlife and overall, achieves a net gain in shoreline ecological function.
- 4. The following specific activities may only be permitted as part of an authorized use and subject to submittal of a critical area report within a shoreline, or a critical area within shorelines and/or their required buffers when they comply with the applicable policies and regulations of this chapter and BMC 22.03, 22.04 and 22.09:
 - a. Clearing, filling and grading when permitted as part of an authorized activity and shall be subject to the policies and regulations in BMC 22.08.170 *Landfill*;
 - b. Shoreline Modification and Stabilization. New, replacement, or substantially improved shoreline modification and/or stabilization features may be permitted as an element of a water-oriented use and in accordance with an approved critical area report that demonstrates compliance with the policies and regulations in BMC 22.08.120 Shoreline Modification / Stabilization;
 - c. Public Roads, Trails, Bridges, and Rights-of-Way. Construction of trails, roadways, and minor road bridging, less than or equal to thirty (30) feet wide, may be permitted in accordance with an approved critical area report and shall comply with the applicable requirements within BMC 22.08.90 *Public Access* and BMC 22.09.110 *Roads, Railways, and Utilities*;
 - d. Public Utility Facilities. New utility lines and facilities may be permitted to cross watercourses in accordance with an approved critical area report and shall comply with the policies and regulations within BMC 22.09.110 *Roads, Railways, and Utilities*;
 - e. Public Flood Protection Measures. New public flood protection measures and expansion of existing ones may be permitted, subject to the City's review and approval of a critical area report and the approval of a federal Biological Assessment by the federal agency responsible for reviewing

- actions related to a federally listed species. Said protection measures shall comply with the applicable policies and regulations in this Title, including the requirements in BMC 22.08.70, *Flood Hazard Reduction*;
- f. In-water structures, as defined, shall be allowed as part of an approved watershed basin restoration project approved by the City and upon acquisition of any required state or federal permits or as an element of a water-dependent or aquatic use. Said structures or features shall be designed to avoid modifying flows and water quality in ways that may adversely affect critical areas and habitat conservation areas and shall comply with the applicable policies and regulations in BMC 22.08.30 Critical Areas .40; 22.08.150 In-Water Structures and 22.09.60 Piers, Floats, Pilings Lake Whatcom and Lake Padden- .70 Piers, Floats, Pilings within Marine Shorelines;
- g. Public Stormwater Conveyance Facilities. (This does not include stormwater management facilities such as detention ponds, stormwater vaults or wetlands.) Conveyance structures may be permitted within a required buffer in accordance with an approved critical area report when all of the following are demonstrated:
 - i. No other feasible alternatives with less impact exist;
 - ii. Mitigation for impacts including water quality is provided;
 - iii. Stormwater conveyance facilities shall incorporate fish habitat features; and
 - iv. Vegetation shall be maintained and, if necessary, added adjacent to all open channels and ponds in order to retard erosion, filter out sediments, and shade the water. Additional vegetation shall consist of species capable of achieving a height sufficient to provide substantial shade to the adjacent water-body provided, they do not alter channel migration and flood conveyance capacity; and
- h. Restoration and enhancement activities subject to the standards in BMC 22.09.100 *Restoration and Conservation* and as specified in subsection 5, below.
- Establishment of a Native Vegetation Protection Area and / or an engineered stormwater management mechanism(s) if required per BMC 16.80 or, as a voluntary action for development or redevelopment within the shorelines of Lake Whatcom provided that:
 - i. Existing native trees and shrubs are not removed or they may be relocated on site.
 - ii. Structural engineered stormwater mechanisms shall be setback a minimum of 25 feet from an existing bulkhead or from the OHWM or as otherwise required by BMC 15.42. whichever is greatest.

- iii. All activity is compliant with the performance standards and seasonal restrictions in BMC 15.42 and BMC 16.80.
- 5. Restoration and enhancement projects, when approved by the Director and the Bellingham Field Office of the Department of Ecology, may approve buffers and setbacks different from those included in the Development Regulation Matrices in Section 22.11.30.A-F, *Development Regulation Matrices*, provided such projects meet the purpose and intent of this Chapter and are agreed to by affected property owner(s). Said restoration projects shall include sufficient legal and/or fiscal guarantees to assure specific performance of the project.
- 6. Restoration and enhancement projects that alter the location of the OHWM on affected properties shall be subject to the applicable requirements in Section 22.09.100 *Restoration and Conservation*.

22.08.20 MITIGATION SEQUENCING

- A. For all developments, applicants shall demonstrate that all reasonable efforts have been examined with the intent to avoid and minimize impacts to shoreline ecological functions. Applicants shall follow the mitigation sequential descending order of preference below:
 - 1. Avoiding the impact altogether by not taking a certain action or parts of an action;
 - 2. Minimizing impacts by limiting the degree or magnitude of the action and its implementation, by using appropriate technology, or by taking affirmative steps, such as project redesign, relocation, or timing, to avoid or reduce impacts;
 - 3. Rectifying the impact to wetlands, critical aquifer recharge areas, frequently flooded areas, and habitat conservation areas and their associated buffers, by repairing, rehabilitating, or restoring the affected environment to the equivalent or better than the conditions existing at the time of the initiation of the project;
 - 4. Reducing or eliminating the impact or hazard over time by preservation and maintenance operations during the life of the action or project;
 - 5. Compensating for the impact to wetlands, critical aquifer recharge areas, frequently flooded areas, and habitat conservation areas and their associated buffers by replacing, enhancing, or providing substitute resources or environments; and
 - 6. Monitoring the hazard or other required mitigation and taking remedial action and appropriate corrective action to fully restore the intended ecological functions of the mitigation action, as proposed..

- B. Mitigation for individual actions may include a combination of the above measures. In determining mitigation measures, lower priority measures shall be applied only where higher priority measures are determined to be infeasible or inapplicable.
- C. Mitigation when required pursuant to this section, shall comply with the submittal requirements as specified in Chapter 22.06
- D. Application of the mitigation sequencing in A., above, shall achieve no net loss of shoreline ecological functions for each new development and shall not result in required mitigation in excess of that necessary to assure that development will result in no net loss of shoreline ecological function.
- E. When compensatory measures are appropriate pursuant to the mitigation sequencing in A., above, preferential consideration shall be given to measures that replace the impacted functions directly or are in the immediate vicinity of the impact. However, alternative compensatory mitigation within the watershed that addresses limiting factors or identified critical needs for shoreline resource conservation based on the 2004 SCI, watershed or comprehensive resource management plans applicable to the area of impact may be authorized. Authorization of compensatory mitigation measures may require appropriate safeguards, terms or conditions as necessary to ensure no net loss of shoreline ecological functions.

22.08.30 CRITICAL AREAS

A. Policies

- 1. Critical areas that are within the shoreline jurisdiction are to be protected and managed in such a manner that the result of any use activity or development is no net loss of shoreline ecological function, and is in accordance with the standards and requirements within this Title.
- 2. Critical areas within the shoreline jurisdiction should be protected and restored by integrating the full spectrum of planning and regulatory measures, including the comprehensive plan, inter-local watershed plans, local development regulations, and state, tribal, and federal programs.
- 3. The City should protect critical areas and their existing shoreline ecological functions so that they continue to contribute to existing ecosystem-wide processes.
- 4. The City and other special interest groups, organizations or non-profit entities should restore and enhance degraded critical areas as separate restoration projects to improve existing shoreline ecological functions and ecosystem-wide processes, where feasible and appropriate.
- 5. The City should promote uses and values that are compatible with the other objectives of this section, such as public access and native vegetation management, provided they do not significantly adversely impact shoreline ecological functions.

B. Regulations

- 1. For development within critical areas or their associated buffers within the shoreline jurisdiction, the following standards shall apply:
 - a. Development within critical areas shall result in a no net loss of ecological function;
 - b. Development shall adhere to the applicable requirements within this Title;
 - c. Development proposals shall adhere to the applicable submittal requirements as specified in Chapter 22.06.
 - d. Development shall include the requirements for mitigation sequencing as specified in BMC 22.08.20 *Mitigation Sequencing* of this Program;
 - e. Where mitigation is required, the applicable mitigation report submittal requirements as specified in Chapter 22.06 shall apply; and
 - f. Development within two or more critical area types shall be required to adhere to the standards that are the most protective of the ecological function of the subject shoreline or critical area;
- 2. Endangered, Threatened, and Sensitive Species.
 - a. Whenever activities are proposed within or adjacent to a habitat conservation area with which state or federally endangered, threatened, or sensitive species have a primary association, such area shall be protected through the application of protection measures in accordance with a critical area report prepared by a qualified professional and approved by the City.
 - b. Bald eagle habitat shall be protected pursuant to the Washington State Bald Eagle Protection Rules (WAC 232-12-292). The City shall verify the location of eagle management areas for each proposed activity. Approval of the activity shall not occur prior to approval of the habitat management plan by the Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife.
 - c. Whenever activities are proposed within or adjacent to a designated habitat of local significance or that may likely adversely affect a designated species of local importance (each category designated by City Council per ordinance), such area shall be protected through the application of protection measures in accordance with a critical area report prepared by a qualified professional and approved by the City.
- 3. All activities, uses and alterations proposed to be located in water bodies used by anadromous fish or in areas that affect such water bodies shall give special consideration to the preservation and enhancement of anadromous fish habitat including, but not limited to, adhering to the standards within this program.
- 4. No plant, wildlife, or fish species not indigenous to the region shall be introduced into a habitat conservation area unless authorized by a state or federal permit or approval.
- 5. Mitigation sites shall be located to preserve or achieve contiguous wildlife habitat corridors in accordance with a mitigation plan that is part of an

22.08 USE POLICIES AND REGULATIONS

- approved critical area report to minimize the isolating effects of development on habitat areas, so long as mitigation of aquatic habitat is located within the same aquatic ecosystem as the area disturbed.
- 6. Mitigation of alterations to critical areas and buffers shall achieve equivalent or greater biologic and hydrologic functions and shall include mitigation for adverse impacts upstream or downstream of the development proposal site. Mitigation shall address each function affected by the alteration to achieve functional equivalency or improvement on a per function basis.

22.08.40 CRITICAL SALTWATER HABITATS (Fish and Wildlife Habitat Conservation Areas)

A. Policies

- 1. Development within critical saltwater habitats including, but not limited to designated habitats of local significance, all kelp beds, eelgrass beds, spawning and holding areas for forage fish, such as herring, smelt and sand lance, subsistence, commercial and recreational shellfish beds, mudflats, intertidal habitats with vascular plants, and areas with which priority species have a primary association, should result in no net loss of ecological function, comply with the applicable requirements in this Title and those specific use policies and regulations in BMC 22.09.
- 2. Protection of critical saltwater habitats should incorporate the participation of resource agencies including tribal nations to assure consistency with other legislatively created mandates and programs in addition to local and regional government entities. (Including but not limited to Washington State Department of Fish and Wildlife, Lummi Nation, Nooksack Tribe, Port of Bellingham, Puget Sound Action Team, Department of Ecology.)
- 3. Permitted uses adjacent to or within critical saltwater habitats should not compromise the ability to restore these features in the future.

B. Regulations

- 1. No structures of any kind shall be placed in or constructed over critical saltwater habitats unless they result in no net loss of ecological function, are associated with a water-dependent use, comply with the applicable requirements within this Chapter and BMC 22.09 and meet all of the following conditions:
 - a. The project, including any required mitigation, will result in no net loss of ecological functions associated with critical saltwater habitat;
 - b. Avoidance of impacts to critical saltwater habitats by an alternative alignment or location is not feasible or would result in unreasonable and disproportionate cost to accomplish the same general purpose;
 - c. The project is consistent with the state's interest in resource protection and species recovery;
 - d. The public's need for such an action or structure is clearly demonstrated and the proposal is consistent with protection of the public trust, as embodied in RCW 90.58.020;
 - e. Shorelands that are adjacent to critical saltwater habitats shall be regulated per the requirements within this Program.
- 2. A qualified professional shall demonstrate compliance with the above criteria in addition to the required elements of a critical area report as specified in Chapter 22.06.

22.08.50 CRITICAL FRESHWATER HABITATS (Fish and Wildlife Conservation Areas)

A. Policies

- 1. The City should manage its critical freshwater habitats within shoreline jurisdiction including, but not limited to, those portions of streams, wetlands, and lakes, their associated channel migration zones, and floodplains and designated habitats of local significance in order to achieve a no net loss of shoreline ecological function and in accordance with this Title
- 2. Protection and restoration measures should address the entire length of the shoreline riparian corridor from the headwaters to the subject estuary.
- 3. Use activities and development within stream channels, associated channel migration zones, wetlands, and floodplains, to the extent such areas are in the shoreline jurisdictional area, should be minimized to assure no net loss of shoreline ecological functions associated with said areas, including the associated hyporheic zone.
- 4. Restoration planning should include incentives and other means to restore water connections that have been impeded by previous development and provisions to protect hydrologic connections between water-bodies, watercourses, and associated wetlands.
- 5. Comprehensive watershed management planning, when available, should be implemented to protect critical freshwater habitat areas.

B. Regulations

1. No structures of any kind shall be placed in or constructed over critical freshwater habitats unless they are for a preferred use and result in no net loss of ecological function and are compliant with the applicable requirements of this Title.

22.08.60 CRITICAL AREA REGULATIONS FOR WETLANDS WITHIN THE SHORELINE JURISDICTION

All land use and development including, but not limited to, clearing, grading, construction of infrastructure, buildings, facilities, accessories and appurtenances that are proposed, developed, occupied and operated within wetlands regulated under BMC 16.55.270 or their buffers shall comply with the following regulations. Wetland ratings shall be established in accordance with BMC 16.55.280.

- A. **Measurement of Wetland Buffers**. All buffers shall be measured horizontally from edge of the wetland boundary as surveyed in the field. The width of the wetland buffer shall be determined according to Tables 1, 2, and 3 below.
- B. **Buffer Standards**. The buffer standards required by this ordinance presume the existence of a dense vegetation community in the buffer adequate to protect the wetland functions and values. When a buffer lacks adequate vegetation, the

Director may increase the standard buffer, requiring buffer planting or enhancement, and/or deny a proposal for buffer reduction or buffer averaging.

The standard buffer shall be based on the wetland category, the adjacent land use, and the functions provided by the wetland. There are 3 sets of buffer standards, based on these parameters:

1. For wetlands that have a high level of function for wildlife habitat as indicated by a habitat function score of 29 points or more on the wetland rating form, the buffers shall be as follows:

Table 1	Buffer Width (feet)			
Wetland	High Intensity	Moderate Intensity	Low Intensity	
Category				
Category I	200	190	150	
Category II	200	150	100	
Category III	150	110	75	
Category IV	50	40	25	
Definitions for high, moderate and low intensity land use are provided in 22.10.				

2. For wetlands that have a moderate level of function for wildlife habitat as indicated by a habitat function score of 20-28 points on the wetland rating form, the buffer shall be as follows:

Table 2	Buffer Width (feet)			
Wetland	High Intensity	Moderate Intensity	Low Intensity	
Category				
Category I	150	110	75	
Category II	150	110	75	
Category III	150	100	60	
Category IV	50	40	25	
Definitions for high, moderate and low intensity land use are provided in 22.10.				

3. For wetlands that have a low level of function for wildlife habitat as indicated by a habitat function score of less than 20 points on the wetland rating form, the buffers shall be as follows:

Table 3	Buffer Width (feet)			
Wetland	High Intensity Moderate Intensity		Low Intensity	
Category				
Category I	100	75	50	
Category II	100	75	50	
Category III	80	60	50	
Category IV	50	40	25	

Definitions for high, moderate and low intensity land use are provided in 22.10.

- C. **Modifications to Buffer Widths**. Any modifications to the buffer width are to be based on the specific wetland functions, site and/or watershed characteristics, and location of the wetland within the watershed or sub-basin, and the proposed land use.
 - 1. **Increasing Buffer Widths**. The Director shall have the authority to increase the standard buffer width on a case-by-case basis when a larger buffer is required by an approved habitat management plan as outlined in Section 22.06.100 *Permit Revisions*; or such increase is necessary to:
 - a. Protect the function and value of that wetland, including but not limited to compensating for a poorly vegetated buffer that has a steep slope (greater than thirty percent); or
 - b. Prevent wind-throw damage; or
 - c. Maintain viable populations of species such as herons and other priority or fish and wildlife; or
 - d. Protect wetlands or other Critical Areas from landslides, erosion or other hazards.
 - 2. **Reducing Wetland Buffer Widths**. The Director shall have the authority to reduce the standard buffer widths, provided that all of the following apply and, provided further, that proposed reductions to less than the minimum buffer stated herein shall require approval of a shoreline variance:
 - a. The buffer of a Category I wetland shall not be reduced.
 - b. The buffer reduction shall not adversely affect the functions and values of the adjacent wetlands;
 - c. The buffer of a Category II or III wetland shall not be reduced to less than 75% of the required buffer or 50 feet, whichever is greater;
 - d. The buffer of a Category IV wetland shall not be reduced to less than 50% of the required buffer, or 25 feet, whichever is greater; and
 - e. The applicant implements all reasonable measures to reduce the adverse effects of adjacent land uses and ensure no new loss of buffer functions and values. The specific measures that shall be implemented include, but are not limited to, the following:
 - i. Direct lights away from the wetland and buffer;
 - ii. Locate facilities that generate substantial noise (such as some manufacturing, industrial and recreational facilities) away from the wetland and buffer;
 - iii. Establish covenants limiting use of pesticides and fertilizers within 150 feet of the wetland;

- iv. Implement integrated pest management programs;
- v. Infiltrate or treat, detain and disperse run-off into buffer;
- vi. Construct a wildlife permeable fence around buffer and post signs at the outer edge of the critical area or buffer to clearly indicate the location of the critical area according to the direction of the City;
- vii. Plant buffer with "impenetrable" native vegetation appropriate for the location;
- viii. Use Low Impact Development techniques to the greatest extent possible.
- ix. Establish and record a permanent conservation easement to protect the wetland and the associated buffer.
- 3. **Averaging Buffer Widths**. The Director has the authority to average wetland buffer widths on a case-by-case basis when all the following criteria are met:
 - a. The buffer averaging does not reduce the functions or values of the wetland;
 - b. The total area contained in the buffer area after averaging is no less than that which would be contained within the standard buffer, and all increases in buffer dimension for averaging must be parallel to the wetland boundary;
 - c. The wetland contains variations in sensitivity due to existing physical characteristics of the character of the buffer varies in slope, soils, or vegetation;
 - d. The buffer width is not reduced in any location to less than 50% of the standard width or 35 feet, whichever is greater, except for buffers for Category IV wetlands, and low intensity land uses in which case the narrowest buffer width can be determined on a case-by-case basis;
 - e. The buffer has not been reduced in accordance with Subsection 2 above. Buffer averaging is not allowed if the buffer has been reduced; and
 - f. There were no feasible alternatives to the site design without buffer averaging.
- D. **Buffer Maintenance**. Final buffer conditions shall be maintained and undisturbed from future impacts.
- E. **Buffer Impacts**. Where impacts to buffers cannot be avoided and where buffer reduction and averaging are not sufficient or appropriate to offset buffer impacts, compensatory mitigation shall be provided. Compensatory mitigation for buffer impacts shall follow the requirements of Section 22.08.20 *Mitigation Sequencing*.

- F. **Buffers on Mitigated Sites**. All mitigation sites shall have buffers consistent with the buffer requirements of this chapter and based on expected category of the wetland once the mitigation actions are taken.
- G. **Building Set-backs from Buffers**. Unless otherwise provided, buildings and other structures shall be set back a distance of 15 feet from the edges of all wetland buffers or from the edges of wetlands, if no buffers are required, to the extent that the critical root zone of trees in the buffer are not disturbed. The following may be allowed in the building setback area:
 - 1. Landscaping;
 - 2. Uncovered decks;
 - 3. Roof eaves and overhangs;
 - 4. Pervious unroofed stairways and steps;
 - 5. Impervious ground surfaces, such as driveways and patios, provided that such improvements may be subject to water quality regulations.
- H. Stormwater management facilities are not allowed in wetland buffers, with the following exceptions:
 - 1. Conveyance systems may be located in wetland buffers on a case-by-case basis if deemed necessary and approved by the Public Works and Planning Departments.
 - 2. Full dispersion of flow, as defined in BMC 15.42, (Stormwater Management) may be allowed in a wetland buffer if approved by the Public Works and Planning Departments.
 - 3. The above facilities or methods are allowed only if impacts to the buffer, resulting from their installation, are avoided or mitigated.
- I. Wetland hydrology shall not be adversely affected by stormwater management. Post-development wetland hydrology shall match pre-development wetland hydrology to the maximum extent feasible. An annual evaluation of hydrologic conditions, conducted by a qualified wetland professional or hydrologist, may be required to document hydrologic conditions.
- J. Preference of Mitigation Actions. Mitigation actions shall occur in the following order of preference after mitigation sequencing as specified in Section 22.08.20 *Mitigation Sequencing* has been applied:
 - 1. Restoring wetlands on upland sites that were formally wetlands.
 - 2. Creating wetlands on disturbed upland sites such as those with vegetative cover consisting primarily of non-native introduced species. This should only be attempted when there is a consistent source of hydrology and it can be shown that the surface and subsurface hydrologic regime is conducive for the wetland community that is being designed.

- 3. Enhancing significantly degraded wetlands in combination with restoration or creation. Such enhancement should be part of a mitigation package that includes replacing the impacted area to meet appropriate ratio requirements.
- K. Specific Types of Mitigation. The following types of mitigation are fully defined in Chapter 22.10. In the interest of consistency, they are the definitions provided by the Army Corps of Engineers in its "Regulatory Guidance Letter 02-02". They have also been adopted by the Washington State Department of Ecology. For the purposes of this Chapter, the mitigation categories are:
 - 1. Restoration. This includes re-establishment or rehabilitation.
 - 2. Creation.
 - 3. Enhancement. Unlike restoration activities, enhancement results in a change of wetland functions, not a net gain of function or wetland acres.
 - 4. Preservation. Preservation in combination with other forms of mitigation is allowed. Preservation as the sole means of mitigation for wetland impacts may be allowed if the wetland area to be preserved meets all of the following criteria:
 - a. The preserved wetland and buffer are protected in perpetuity through a conservation easement, deed restriction, or dedication as a separate tract;
 - b. The area proposed for preservation is of high quality (scores between 51–100 points in the wetland rating system), is located in the same watershed, and is critical to the health of the watershed or sub-basin. Some of the other high quality features include:
 - i. Rare wetland types such as bogs, mature forested wetlands, estuaries, or vital wildlife habitat;
 - ii. High regional or watershed importance;
 - iii. Large size with high species diversity (plants and/or animals) and a high abundance;
 - c. Preservation is used as a form of compensation only after mitigation sequencing specified in Section 22.08.20 *Mitigation Sequencing* has been applied;
 - d. Creation, restoration, and enhancement opportunities have also been considered and preservation is the best mitigation option;
 - e. Preservation sites include buffer areas adequate to protect the habitat and its functions from encroachment and degradation;
 - f. The impacts are to a Category II, III, or IV wetland;
 - g. The preservation site is determined to be under imminent threat, specifically sites with the potential to experience a high rate of undesirable ecological change due to on- and/or off-site activities;

- h. Replacement ratios are listed in Table 4. Replacement ratios for preservation used in combination with other forms of mitigation are to be determined by the Director.
- L. Location. Site selection for compensatory mitigation shall be based on a location that will provide the greatest ecological benefit and have the greatest likelihood of success. Where feasible, mitigation shall occur in the same sub-basin as the permitted wetland alteration. However, if it can be demonstrated that a mitigation site in an alternative sub-basin or watershed would provide a greater ecological benefit and offer a more successful replacement of wetland functions and values, compensatory mitigation can take place in an alternative sub-basin or watershed.
- M. **Mitigation Banking**. Mitigation banking is encouraged if it provides a greater ecological benefit and provides a more successful replacement of wetland functions and values. This chapter does not expressly regulate mitigation banking, state guidelines for mitigation banking should be adhered to.
- N. **Mitigation Ratios**. The following ratios appearing in Table 4 and consideration of factors described in this section, shall be used to determine the relative amount of created, restored, or enhanced wetlands that will be required to replace impacted wetlands. The first number refers to the amount of wetland area providing mitigation and the second refers to the amount of wetland area impacted or altered.

Wetland Replacement Ratios

Table 4	Creation	Restoration (Rehabilitation)	Enhancement	Preservation
Category I 16.55.280 A (4) Mature forested wetland or 16.55.280 A (6) scores 70 points or more in wetland rating	6:1	8:1	24 : 1	N/A
Category I 16.55.280A all others	Case by case basis; may not be possible	Case by case basis; may not be possible	Case by case basis; may not be possible	N/A
Category II	3:1	4:1	8:1	16:1
Category III	2:1	3:1	6:1	10:1 Case by case basis
Category IV	1.5 : 1	1.5 : 1	3:1	5:1 to 10:1 Case by case basis

1. Provisions for Increasing or Decreasing Ratios. The Director may increase or decrease the ratios based on one or more of the following:

- a. Replacement ratios may be increased under the following circumstances:
 - i. Uncertainty exists as to the probable success of the proposed restoration or creation;
 - ii. A significant period of time will elapse between impact and establishment of wetland functions at the mitigation site;
 - iii. Proposed compensation will result in a lower category wetland or reduced functions relative to the wetland being impacted; or
 - iv. The impact was an unauthorized impact.
- b. Replacement ratios may be decreased under the following circumstances:
 - i. The proposed mitigation actions are conducted in advance of the impact and are shown to be successful;
 - ii. Documentation by the applicant demonstrates that the proposed compensation actions will provide functions and values that are significantly greater than the wetland being impacted; or
 - iii. Documentation by the applicant provides more certainty that the proposed compensation action will be successful. Documentation could include extensive hydrologic data to support the proposed water regime.

O. Mitigation Report Requirements.

- 1. Prepared by a Qualified Professional. A wetland mitigation report shall be prepared by a qualified professional as defined in Chapter 22.10.
- 2. Report Requirements.
 - a. Detailed summary of the project, including the wetland and buffer impacts and the proposed mitigation, to appear in the beginning of the report;
 - b. Complete site characterization to include parcel size, soils, vegetation, hydrology, wildlife, and topography;
 - c. Complete site characterization of the proposed mitigation site to include parcel size, soils, vegetation, hydrology, topography and wildlife;
 - d. Goals, objectives, and performance standards of the mitigation proposal;
 - e. Monitoring, maintenance, and contingency plan;
 - f. Function assessment of wetland to be impacted;
 - g. Delineation report, with maps, of site to be impacted;
 - h. Map of development, with scale, overlaid on wetland delineation map; and
 - i. An estimate for surety for the entire project, including the required number of years of maintenance.

22.08.70 FLOOD HAZARD REDUCTION

A. Policies

- 1. Flood hazard reduction measures should not result in a net loss of ecological functions associated with the rivers and streams.
- 2. Flood hazard reduction measures should be consistent with comprehensive strategies that recognize the natural hydro-geological and biological processes of water-bodies and should seek to restore ecological functions within frequently flooded areas.
- 3. Development in frequently flooded areas should be prevented or removed to manage stormwater within the floodplain and to maintain or restore a stream system's natural hydrological and geo-morphological processes.
- 4. Bioengineered flood hazard reduction techniques are preferred and should be examined before structural measures are implemented.
- 5. The City should facilitate removal of artificial restrictions to natural channel migration, restoration of off-channel hydrological connections and recognize that seasonal flooding is an essential natural process.
- 6. Flood hazard reduction measures should be integrated with other regulations and programs, including (if applicable):
 - a. BMC 15.40, Drainage
 - b. BMC 15.42, Stormwater Management;
 - c. BMC 17.70, Building Codes
 - d. BMC 17.76, Construction in Floodplains;
 - e. BMC 16.20, Environmental Procedures
 - f. BMC 16.60, Clearing
 - g. BMC 16.70, Grading
 - h. BMC 16.55, Critical Areas Ordinance;
 - i. Title 18, Subdivision
 - j. Title 20, Land Use
 - k. The National Flood Insurance Program;
 - 1. 2007 update of the Wastershed Master Plan; and
 - m. 2006 Bellingham Comprehensive Plan.

B. Regulations

1. When permitted, development within flood hazard (frequently flooded) areas shall achieve a no net loss of ecological function and shall comply with the applicable requirements in BMC 17.76 (Floodplains), BMC 22.09 and the following:

- a. New development or new uses in shoreline jurisdiction, including the subdivision of land, shall not be established when it would require flood hazard reduction measures within the channel migration zone or floodway.
- b. The uses and activities specified within BMC 22.08.10.B. 4, *Shoreline Buffers* may be appropriate and/or necessary within the channel migration zone or floodway provided they are:
 - i. Actions that protect or restore the ecosystem-wide processes or ecological functions.
 - ii. Bridges, utility lines, and other public utility and transportation structures where no other feasible alternative exists or the alternative would result in unreasonable and disproportionate cost. Where such structures are allowed, mitigation shall address impacted functions and processes in the affected section of watershed or drift cell.
 - iii. Repair and maintenance of an existing legal use, provided that such actions do not cause significant ecological impacts or increase flood hazards to other uses.
 - iv. Modifications or additions to an existing non-agricultural legal use, provided that channel migration is not further limited and that the new development includes appropriate protection of ecological functions.
 - v. Development in incorporated municipalities and designated urban growth areas where existing structures prevent active channel movement and flooding.
 - vi. Measures to reduce shoreline erosion when it can be demonstrated that the erosion rate exceeds that which would normally occur in a natural condition, and that the measure does not interfere with fluvial hydrological and geo-morphological processes normally acting in natural conditions, and that the measure includes appropriate mitigation of impacts to ecological functions associated with the river or stream.
 - c. New structural flood hazard reduction measures shall be allowed in shoreline jurisdiction only when:
 - 1) It can be demonstrated by a critical area report consistent with critical area report requirements as specified in Chapter 22.06 including a scientific and engineering analysis that it is necessary to protect existing development;
 - 2) It can be demonstrated that nonstructural measures are not feasible:

- 3) It can be demonstrated that there will be no net loss of shoreline ecological function including any mitigation required; and
- 4) Appropriate vegetation conservation actions are undertaken consistent with BMC 22.08 and 22.09.
- d. Structural flood hazard reduction measures shall be consistent with an adopted comprehensive flood hazard management plan that has been adopted by the City that evaluates cumulative impacts to the watershed system.
- e. New structural flood hazard reduction measures shall be placed landward of the associated wetlands, and designated vegetation conservation areas, except for actions that increase ecological functions, such as wetland restoration, or as noted below. Provided, such flood hazard reduction projects may be authorized if it is determined that no other alternative to reduce flood hazard to existing development is feasible. The need for, and analysis of feasible alternatives to, structural improvements shall be documented through a critical area report including a geotechnical analysis.
- f. New structural public flood hazard reduction measures, such as dikes and levees, shall be subject to the mitigation sequencing specified in this section and a federal Biological Assessment conducted by a federal agency responsible for reviewing actions related to a federally listed species. New structural public flood hazard reduction measures shall include the ability for the general public to access the shoreline unless said public access improvements would cause unavoidable health or safety hazards to the public, inherent and unavoidable security problems, the inability to mitigate impacts, unavoidable conflict with the proposed use, or a cost that is disproportionate and unreasonable to the total long-term cost of the development.
- g. Removal of gravel, sediment and related materials from water bodies is prohibited except for fish and wildlife habitat restoration purposes or for flood management purposes. Removal of gravel for flood management purposes shall only be allowed if all the following conditions can be met:
 - i. The project is consistent with an adopted flood hazard reduction plan and with this Title:
 - ii. The project does not result in a net loss of ecological functions, including natural sediment transport disruption and resulting impacts to salmon spawning areas, and is part of a comprehensive flood management solution; and
 - iii. A critical area report including a geomorphologic analysis demonstrates that extraction has a long-term benefit to flood hazard reduction.

22.08.80 CRITICAL AREA REGULATIONS FOR GEOLOGIC HAZARD AREAS WITHIN THE SHORELINE JURISDICTION (THIS ENTIRE SECTION; OLCR)

- A. Alterations of geologically hazardous areas or associated buffers may only occur for activities that:
 - 1. Will not increase the threat of the geological hazard to adjacent properties beyond pre-development conditions;
 - 2. Will not adversely impact other Critical Areas;
 - 3. Are designed so that the hazard to the project is eliminated or mitigated to a level equal to or less than pre-development conditions; and
 - 4. Are certified as safe as designed and under anticipated conditions by a qualified engineer or geologist, licensed in the state of Washington.
- B. Essential Public Facilities shall not be sited within geologically hazardous areas unless there is no other practical alternative.
- C. Erosion and Landslide Hazard Areas. Activities on sites containing erosion or landslide hazards shall meet the applicable standards of Chapter 22.08 and the specific following requirements:
 - 1. Buffer Requirement. A buffer shall be established from all edges of landslide hazard areas. The size of the buffer shall be determined by the Director to eliminate or minimize the risk of property damage, death, or injury resulting from landslides caused in whole or part by the development, based upon review of and concurrence with a Critical Area report prepared by a qualified professional.
 - a. **Minimum Buffer.** The minimum buffer shall be equal to the height of the slope or 50 feet, whichever is greater, as measured horizontally away from the top and also away from the toe of the slope..
 - b. **Buffer Reduction.** The buffer may be reduced (<u>via shoreline variance if within a shoreline buffer</u>) to a minimum of 10 feet when a qualified professional demonstrates to the Director's satisfaction that the reduction will adequately protect the proposed development, adjacent developments, and uses and the natural shoreline resources and the subject Critical Area.
 - c. **Increased Buffer.** The buffer may be increased where the Director determines a larger buffer is necessary to prevent risk of damage to proposed and existing development.
 - 2. Alterations. Alterations of an erosion or landslide hazard area and/or buffer may only occur for activities for which a hazards analysis is submitted and certifies that:
 - a. The development will not increase surface water discharge or sedimentation to adjacent properties beyond pre-development conditions;

- b. The development will not decrease slope stability on adjacent properties; and
- c. Such alterations will not adversely impact other Critical Areas.
- 3. Design Standards. Development within an erosion or landslide hazard area and/or buffer shall be designed to meet the following basic requirements unless it can be demonstrated that an alternative design that deviates from one or more of these standards provides greater long-term slope stability while meeting all other provisions of this Chapter. The requirement for long-term slope stability shall exclude designs that require regular and periodic maintenance to maintain their level of function. The basic development design standards are:
 - a. The proposed development shall not decrease the factor of safety for landslide occurrences below the limits of 1.5 for static conditions and 1.2 for dynamic conditions. Analysis of dynamic conditions shall be based on a minimum horizontal acceleration as established by the current version of the International Building Code;
 - b. Structures and improvements shall be clustered to avoid geologically hazardous areas and other Critical Areas;
 - c. Structures and improvements shall minimize alterations to the natural contour of the slope, and foundations shall be tiered where possible to conform to existing topography;
 - d. Structures and improvements shall be located to preserve the most critical portion of the site and its natural land forms and vegetation;
 - e. The proposed development shall not result in greater risk or a need for increased buffers on neighboring properties;
 - f. The use of retaining walls that allow the maintenance of existing natural slope area is preferred over graded artificial slopes; and
 - g. Development shall be designed to minimize impervious lot coverage.
- 4. Vegetation Retention. Unless otherwise provided or as part of an approved alteration, removal of vegetation from an erosion or landslide hazard area or related buffer shall be prohibited.
- 5. Seasonal Restriction. Clearing shall be allowed only from May 1 to September 30 of each year provided that the City may extend or shorten the dry season on a case-by-case basis depending on actual weather conditions, except that timber harvest, not including brush clearing or stump removal, may be allowed pursuant to an approved forest practice permit issued by the City or the Washington State Department of Natural Resources.
- 6. Utility Lines and Pipes. Utility lines and pipes shall be permitted in erosion and landslide hazard areas only when the applicant demonstrates that no other practical alternative is available. The line or pipe shall be located above ground and properly anchored and/or designed so that it will continue to

- function in the event of an underlying slide. Stormwater conveyance shall be allowed only through a high-density polyethylene pipe with fuse-welded joints, or similar product that is technically equal or superior.
- 7. Point Discharges. Point discharges from surface water facilities and roof drains onto or upstream from an erosion or landslide hazard area shall be prohibited except as follows:
 - a. Conveyed via continuous storm pipe downslope to a point where there are no erosion hazards areas downstream from the discharge;
 - b. Discharged at flow durations matching pre-developed conditions, with adequate energy dissipation, into existing channels that previously conveyed stormwater run-off in the pre-developed state; or
 - c. Dispersed discharge upslope of the steep slope onto a low-gradient undisturbed buffer demonstrated to be adequate to infiltrate all surface and stormwater run-off, and where it can be demonstrated that such discharge will not increase the saturation of the slope.
- 8. Subdivisions. The division of land in landslide hazard areas and associated buffers is subject to the following:
 - a. Land that is located wholly within a landslide hazard area or its buffer may not be subdivided. Land that is located partially within a landslide hazard area or its buffer may be divided provided that each resulting lot has sufficient buildable area outside of, and will not affect, the landslide hazard or its buffer.
 - b. Access roads and utilities may be permitted via shoreline variance within the landslide hazard area and associated buffers if the City determines that no other feasible alternative exists.
- 9. Prohibited Development. On-site sewage disposal systems, including drain fields, shall be prohibited within erosion and landslide hazard areas and related buffers.
- D. Seismic Hazard Areas. Activities proposed to be located in seismic hazard areas shall meet the standards of Performance Standards General Requirements [Section 16.55.490].
- E. Mine Hazard Areas. Activities proposed to be located in mine hazard area shall meet the standards of Performance Standards General Requirements [Section 16.55.490] and the specific following requirements:
 - 1. Alterations. Alterations of a mine hazard area and/or buffer are allowed, as follows:
 - a. All alterations are permitted within a mine hazard area with a low potential for subsidence.
 - b. Within a mine hazard area with a moderate potential for subsidence and at coal mine by-product stockpiles, all alterations are permitted subject to a mitigation plan to minimize risk of structural damage using appropriate

- criteria to evaluate the proposed use, as recommended in the hazard analysis.
- c. Within a mine hazard area with a severe potential for subsidence, no structural activities shall be permitted without an effective settlement mitigation strategy.
- 2. Subdivisions. The division of land in mine hazard areas and associated buffers is subject to the following:
 - a. Land that is located within 200 feet of a mine hazard area with a severe potential for subsidence may not be subdivided. Land that is located partially within a mine hazard area may be divided provided that each resulting lot has sufficient buildable area that is 200 feet away from the mine hazard area with a severe potential for subsidence. Land that is located within a mine hazard area with a low or moderate potential for subsidence may be subdivided.
 - b. Access roads and utilities may be permitted within 200 feet of a mine hazard area with a moderate or severe potential for subsidence if the City determines that no other feasible alternative exists.
- 3. Reclamation Activities. For all reclamation activities, including grading, filling, and stockpile removal, as-built drawings shall be submitted to the City in a format specified by the Director.

22.08.90 PUBLIC ACCESS

Public access includes the ability of the general public to reach, touch, and enjoy the water's edge, to travel on the waters of the state, and to view the water and the shoreline from adjacent locations. Examples include but are not limited to public parks, trails, piers and boardwalks, view overlooks, street ends, beaches, boating facilities, hand-carry craft launches / pullouts, and water-borne public transportation. The public access provisions below apply to all shorelines of the state unless stated otherwise.

A. Policies

- 1. Public access, in its variety of forms, should be promoted whenever feasible provided the result is no net loss of the shoreline's ecological function.
- 2. Public access should be provided to the shoreline as a primary use or as development occurs while protecting private property rights and public safety.
- 3. Public access should not compromise the rights of navigation and space necessary for water-dependent and water-related uses.
- 4. To the greatest extent feasible and consistent with the overall best interest of the state and the people generally, the public's opportunity to enjoy the physical and aesthetic qualities of shorelines of the state, including views of the water should be protected.

- 5. Property owners should implement a variety of techniques including acquisition, leases, easements and design and development innovations to achieve public access goals and to provide diverse public access opportunities.
- 6. Public access provisions should be consistent with all relevant constitutional and other limitations on private property including the constitutional nexus and proportionality requirements.

B. Regulations

- 1. When public access is provided, it shall not result in a net loss of existing shoreline ecological function.
- 2. When public access is required to be provided, it shall be provided between the development and the shoreline and may be provided within a required buffer area subject to the requirements and exceptions below, and shall be reviewed and approved on a case-by-case basis.
- 3. When public access is provided within a required buffer, said access shall demonstrate compliance with mitigation sequencing in BMC 22.08.20 *Mitigation Sequencing*.
- 4. Public access, whether developed as a primary use or as a required element of a permitted use, and where applicable, shall be provided and designed consistent with applicable and adopted public access plans such as the City of Bellingham Park, Recreation and Open Space Plan (2005), public access plans as specified in BMC 22.02.10 *General Goals and Policies*, applicable Neighborhood Plans and/or the Waterfront District Master Plan, as adopted.
- 5. When public access is required to be provided per an adopted plan as specified in 4, above, and is intended to be within a required shoreline buffer area, said access shall be designed and sited to minimize the amount of native vegetation removal, soil disturbance and disruption to existing habitat corridor structures and functions.
- 6. When public access is required per BMC 22.03.30 Shoreline Environmental Designations or is proposed as a stand-alone development project and there is not an adopted plan that specifies access and design for that specific access feature, the emphasis shall be on providing said access to the shoreline as opposed to along the shoreline and shall be analyzed on a case-by-case basis.
- 7. Public access shall be provided as development occurs except when:
 - a. The City is able to provide more effective public access in another location in close proximity through an approved / adopted public access planning process / document. For example, the City of Bellingham Park, Recreation and Open Space Plan (2005), an element of the 2006 Comprehensive Plan, the Waterfront Futures Group Framework and Action Plan, the Whatcom Creek Trail Master Plan or the Waterfront District Master Plan, upon adoption.

- b. It is demonstrated to be infeasible due to reasons of incompatible uses, safety, security or impact to the ecological function of the shoreline environment or due to constitutional or other legal limitations that may be applicable and consistency with the Governing Principles in BMC 22.01.40 *Governing Principles*. (WAC 173-26-186) (In determining the infeasibility, undesirability, or incompatibility of public access in a given situation, the City shall consider alternate methods of providing public access, such as off-site improvements, viewing platforms, separation of uses through site planning and design, and restricting hours of public access.)
- c. A subdivision of land into four or fewer parcels for future single-family development, or development of individual single-family residences occurs.
- d. The development consists solely of dredging, forest practices, clearing and grading, the construction of a private dock serving four or fewer dwelling units, flood control measures, the construction of in-water structures (except those developed specifically for public access), shoreline stabilization measures, signage, shoreline restoration and enhancement not associated with a substantial development permit, or lighting.
- 8. When public access is required to be provided it shall be designed per a plan that shall be reviewed and approved by the Planning and Community Development, Parks and Recreation and Environmental Resources Departments or per an adopted public access plan.
- 9. Where public access is provided, a public access easement or dedication of said access area in favor of the City shall be required.
- 10. In instances where public access and restoration has already occurred as part of prior action AND public access is still required per the applicable shoreline designation, additional public access may be allowed within a required buffer area provided it does not encroach any further into said buffer than the existing public access feature and does not displace or disrupt any elements of the prior restoration action. The type of public access provided in these circumstances shall be reviewed and approved on a site-by-site basis.
- 11. In instances where public access is proposed in conjunction with a restoration project that includes work within a critical area or its buffer, the public access element may be provided within a critical area or its buffer provided it is the minimum necessary to provide an access function and shall be consistent with applicable requirements in this Chapter and BMC 22.09. The design and location of said access feature shall not compromise the ability of the restoration project's ability to achieve its intended objectives.
- 12. Where there is an irreconcilable conflict between water-dependent shoreline uses or physical public access and maintenance of views from adjacent properties, the water-dependent uses and physical public access shall have priority, unless there is a compelling reason to the contrary.

13. Where there is an irreconcilable conflict between public access and shoreline ecological function, shoreline ecological function shall have priority, unless said public access is specifically identified in any of the plans specified in 4, above or as otherwise determined by the Parks Director. In this case, said public access shall demonstrate compliance with Section 22.08.20 *Mitigation Sequencing*.

22.08.100 SHORELINE NATIVE VEGETATION MANAGEMENT

A. Policies

- 1. The City should protect, conserve and establish native vegetation in order to protect and restore the ecological functions and ecosystem-wide processes performed within riparian and near-shore areas which include but are not limited to:
 - a. Protecting plant and animal species and their habitats;
 - b. Providing food sources for aquatic and terrestrial species;
 - c. Protecting and increasing the stability of river banks and bluffs;
 - d. Reducing the hazard of slope failures or accelerated erosion;
 - e. Reducing the need for structural shoreline stabilization measures;
 - f. Improving the visual and aesthetic qualities of the shoreline;
 - g. Protecting and improving water quality;
 - h. Providing continuous shade to the adjacent water-body; and
 - i. Providing habitat corridors parallel and perpendicular to the water body.
- 2. Installation and management of any native vegetation should be consistent with the City of Bellingham's 2004 Shoreline Characterization and Inventory (SCI) (APPENDIX A).
 - The SCI identified within each reach, the general vegetation types, their age, their distribution or coverage, and their ability to perform, or not, adequate riparian functions. Within each reach, the SCI identified the presence of noxious or non-native vegetation. Required native vegetation management plans and restoration projects should be consistent with the identified objectives in the functional analysis section of the pertinent reach in which a project is located.
- 3. New restoration plans and projects should be designed to incorporate native vegetation management plans that are similar to the standards as specified in B., below.
- 4. Native vegetation management plans for riparian areas should include a diversity of both conifer and deciduous tree species as well as non-invasive woody shrubs and as may be specified within the 2004 SCI for the subject reach on which a project occurs.

- 1. For development on all shorelines, including within a required buffer area, the following shall apply:
 - a. Removal of or alteration to any native vegetation within the shoreline jurisdiction including within critical areas is strictly prohibited unless such activity is required for a permitted use or is determined to be a hazard tree as specified below.
 - b. Proposed removal of native vegetation for a permitted use shall be reviewed per the mitigation sequencing specified in BMC 22.08.20 *Mitigation Sequencing* of this Title.
 - c. The following standards shall apply for removal and replacement of existing native vegetation to all shoreline designations except as specified in iv, below:
 - i. Removal of native trees greater than 6 inches diameter at breast height (dbh) shall be replaced at a 3:1 ratio with native species and shall be re-established within any required buffer on the project site.
 - ii. Required buffer areas for riparian, marine and Lake Padden shorelines shall be installed with additional native vegetation that yields a total density mix of 2 native trees, 10 shrubs and groundcover where none is present per every 100 square feet. (EXCEPT as specified in iv, below.) New native vegetation to be installed within required buffers shall include species types that are capable of achieving the objectives specified in the 2004 SCI Functional Analysis per the subject reach.
 - iii. For development that includes expansion, during the life of the project, of more than 10% of an overall existing development footprint, except single-family residences, the requirements in i and ii, above, shall apply to every 100 square feet of additional footprint above the aforementioned 10% and shall be installed within any required buffer. (EXCEPT within the Urban Maritime shoreline designation and the Waterfront District 'water-oriented use' subareas.)
 - iv. There are no required buffers for those Urban Maritime and Waterfront District 'water-oriented use' sub-areas and hence no required native vegetation management standards apply.
 - d. For development or redevelopment, as defined in BMC 16.80, that occurs within the shoreline residential designation, native vegetation shall be installed in required buffer areas as required in subsection 3, below and BMC 16.80.
- 2. Within a critical area report as specified within Chapter 22.06 a Native Vegetation Management Plan for the project site including the associated buffer shall include the following information except as provided in 3 below.

- a. The predevelopment quantity, species type, distribution, approximate height of native vegetation, diameter at breast height (dbh) for trees only, successional stage of overall vegetative cover, potential native vegetation types, soil type / characteristics, a reference site and any existing hazard trees on the entire site. Said information shall be indicated and represented on a site plan drawn to scale and shall be reflected on an accompanying species and count matrix.
- b. Identification of native vegetation to be removed and protected as a result of the proposed site plan.
- c. Identification of any non-native or noxious vegetation.
- d. Identification of the following; new trees to be installed and that specify installation size of a minimum height of 12 inches 18 inches and minimum of ¼ inch caliper in size; shrubs shall be of at least four different varieties or those recommended by said professional that will accompany the potential native vegetation types; ground cover and a minimum of 4 inches of wood chip mulch distributed over the entire planting area.
- e. Methodology for removal of any noxious or non-native vegetation, necessary soil amendments, installation and maintenance as described above
- f. Preparation of a financial surety (an assignment of funds or surety bond) that accounts for 150% of the cost of a five-year maintenance and monitoring plan that ensures a survival rate of 100% for trees and 85% for all other vegetation. The five-year maintenance and monitoring period shall commence at the time the required native vegetation has been installed, and inspected and verified by a representative from the Planning and Community Development Department.
- g. 'Volunteer' native vegetation is allowed to be counted towards the survival rate percentage requirement as specified in f., above.
- 3. For Native Vegetation Protection Areas that are required for development or redevelopment within the shorelines of Lake Whatcom as required by BMC16.80 the critical area report shall contain the information specified in BMC 16.80.080 E.2.
 - If the timing of required installation occurs between April 1st and October 1stof any given year, said installation may be postponed until after October 1st, of the same year, provided a written request for postponement is submitted by the proponent, the financial surety has been secured by the City and the Director has issued a letter of approval for said postponement of native vegetation installment.
- 4. Materials required in a. e., above, shall be submitted, reviewed and approved by the Planning Department prior to issuance of any development permits on the site. (The Parks and Public Works Departments including the Environmental Resources Division shall also review and approve said plan where there is an interface or overlap with a feature that is within their

- jurisdiction; adjacent to a trail or stormwater management facility.) Installation of all required vegetation and submittal of the maintenance and monitoring report shall be completed prior to receiving any certificate of occupancy for the subject use.
- 5. As-installed reports shall be submitted to the Planning Department at the end of each year for the five-year maintenance and monitoring period to assure compliance.
- 6. Management and replacement of hazard trees shall adhere to the standards within BMC 16.55.080.D.7.
- 7. Unless otherwise stated, native vegetation management does not include those activities covered under the Washington State Forest Practices Act, except for conversion to other non-forestry uses and those other forest practice activities over which the City has authority.
- 8. As with all Master Program provisions, native vegetation management provisions apply even to those shoreline uses and developments that are exempt from the requirement to obtain a permit.
- 9. Like other Master Program provisions, native vegetation management standards do not apply retroactively to existing uses and structures.

22.08.110 WATER QUALITY, STORMWATER, AND NONPOINT POLLUTION

- 1. Shoreline master programs shall, as stated in RCW 90.58.020, protect against adverse impacts to the public health, to the land and its vegetation and wildlife, and to the waters of the state and their aquatic life, through implementation of the following principles:
 - a. Prevent impacts to water quality and stormwater quantity that would result in a net loss of shoreline ecological functions, or a significant impact to aesthetic qualities, or recreational opportunities.
 - b. Ensure mutual consistency between shoreline management provisions and other regulations that address water quality and stormwater quantity, including public health, stormwater, and water discharge standards. The regulations that are most protective of ecological functions shall apply.
 - c. Existing public stormwater management systems and facilities should be retrofitted and improved to incorporate Low Impact Development techniques whenever feasible and as specified in BMC 15.42.
 - d. Improving water quality is one of the primary goals within the Restoration Plan (APPENDIX B). The water quality improvement objectives should be considered and implemented into future watershed planning including prioritization and identification of retrofitting opportunities.
 - e. Drainage from single-family residences should not be tight-lined directly to or over shoreline bluffs or steep banks. Drainage, to the maximum

- extent feasible, should be designed or retrofitted to include water-quality measures that filter out pollutants common to single-family residences such as phosphorus-leaching vegetative material in roof gutters, fertilizers and pesticides and should be discharged at a point that does not prematurely erode the shoreline or the face or toe of said bank / bluff.
- f. Boating practices on Lake Whatcom, Lake Padden and Bellingham Bay including operation and maintenance should be conducted in such a manner that prevents harmful substances from entering the water such as gasoline, two-stroke engine fuel, paint and wood conditioner and other boat related substances.

- 1. Stormwater management facilities shall be developed in such a manner that there is no net loss of ecological function.
- 2. At a minimum, all phases of development shall be consistent with the requirements within BMC 15.42, as amended.
- 3. When permitted to be located within shorelines, critical areas or their required buffers, stormwater management facilities shall also be subject to the applicable requirements in Chapter 22.08. BMC 16.80 and BMC 15.42.
- 4. All phases of development shall provide an 'enhanced' level of stormwater management per the latest version of the Department of Ecology Stormwater Manual for Western Washington.
- 5. Low Impact Development (LID) techniques shall be considered and implemented to the greatest extent practicable throughout the various stages of development including site assessment, planning and design, vegetation conservation, site preparation, retrofitting and built-out management techniques.
- 6. Stormwater management facilities that are proposed within a required buffer for shorelines of Lake Whatcom shall not include any surface structures (except for catch basin covers or cleanouts) or require engineered shoreline stabilization.

22.08.120 SHORELINE MODIFICATIONS / STABILIZATION

Shoreline modifications are generally related to construction of a physical element such as a bulkhead, fill or vegetation removal in conjunction with development of a permitted use. Shoreline stabilization measures are those mechanisms used to prevent erosion and deterioration of shoreline areas as a result of wave, wind, tidal or flooding actions. Shoreline stabilization measures can include but are not limited to examples of shoreline modifications above and, vegetation conservation, bio-technical measures, anchor trees or LWD placement, gabion and rip-rapped banks, retaining walls and sheet pilings.

A. Policies

1. New development should be managed and designed to eliminate the need for shoreline modification or stabilization.

- 2. Replacement of structurally engineered stabilization measures with the same new measures should not occur unless it is associated with a water-dependent use or there is a demonstrated need based on potential loss of a legally permitted use or primary structure or there is a threat to the viability of an existing water-dependent use.
- 3. Whenever feasible, bioengineered and soft-shore shoreline modifications and stabilization should be explored and implemented before reverting to structurally engineered techniques.
- 4. New structural shoreline modifications should only be allowed as an element of a water-dependent use or when it is demonstrated to be necessary to protect an allowed primary structure or a legally existing shoreline use that is in danger of loss or substantial damage.
- 5. Structural shoreline modification should be allowed if it is necessary for reconfiguration of the shoreline for mitigation or restoration purposes.
- 6. Enhancement of impaired ecological functions should be planned for where feasible and appropriate while accommodating permitted uses. As shoreline modifications occur, all feasible measures including mitigation sequencing should be incorporated to protect ecological shoreline functions and ecosystem-wide processes.
- 7. In order to maintain the integrity of shoreline bluffs and bank stabilization and to eliminate the necessity of shoreline stabilization, native vegetation removal should be minimized.
- 8. Surface water should be tight-lined to water treatment features that would avoid contamination of the water body from lawns and yard products and would avoid bank erosion and future sloughing.

- Bioengineered or 'soft' shoreline modification or stabilization techniques shall be considered prior to those techniques that are structurally engineered. It shall be demonstrated by a critical area report including a hydrologic analysis that a bioengineered measure cannot achieve the intended purpose before a submittal and analysis of a structurally engineered measure is proposed.
- 2. A bioengineered shoreline modification or stabilization measure(s) shall be considered concurrent with the mitigation sequencing in BMC 22.08.20 *Mitigation Sequencing* and submittal of an approved critical area report that demonstrates the following:
 - a. Natural shoreline processes including channel migration will be maintained. The project will not result in increased beach or stream-bank erosion, alteration to, or loss of, shoreline substrate within one-quarter mile of the project area, sediment supply and transport will be maintained, migration corridors and spawning areas will not be impacted and aquatic vegetation where it exists will not be minimized.

- b. Modification or stabilization techniques will not degrade critical areas or their associated buffers, especially Fish and Wildlife Habitat Conservation Areas.
- c. The modification or stabilization technique does not prohibit or impede the natural processes of the water body including channel migration, floodwater conveyance and storage and beach acquisition/accretion.
- d. The cumulative impacts of a singular shoreline modification on that particular water body shall be analyzed prior to granting of said modification technique.
- e. The result of the measure would result in no net loss of shoreline ecological function in the riparian and/or near-shore areas.
- 3. Structural shoreline modification and/or stabilization shall be allowed if it is necessary for reconfiguration of the shoreline for mitigation, restoration or emergency purposes.
- 4. In all other cases, a structurally engineered shoreline modification or stabilization measure, including a replacement, shall be allowed when all of the following are demonstrated:
 - a. Said modification or stabilization measure(s) are necessary as an element of a water-dependent use;
 - b. It can be demonstrated by a geotechnical / hydrologic report that a bioengineered modification or stabilization technique cannot sustain impacts of wave, current and tidal energy and erosion;
 - c. It is necessary to protect an existing primary structure demonstrated by a geotechnical analysis that concludes that a given structure is in danger of loss or damage from uncharacteristic or a sudden increase in erosional processes or poses a threat to health, safety and welfare of the general public (loss of yard, grass, landscaping and vegetation, pier abutment, accessory buildings or structures does not constitute an allowance for a structurally engineered measure);
 - d. For Shorelines on Lake Whatcom only; the structurally engineered measure shall be installed above the level of the OHWM; and
 - e. The requirements in 2.a. e., above, have been met.
- 5. Surface water shall be managed in such a manner that it does not create additional pollutant loading to an adjacent water body and/or cause accelerated bank erosion or bank sloughing.

22.08.130 ARCHAEOLOGICAL AND HISTORIC RESOURCES

A. Policies

1. The destruction of or damage to any site having historic, cultural, scientific, or educational value as identified by the appropriate authorities, including affected Indian tribes, and the Office of Archaeology and Historic

Preservation, should be prevented.

B. Regulations

- Archaeological sites located both in and outside shoreline jurisdiction are subject to RCW 27.44 (Indian Graves and Records) and RCW 27.53 (Archaeological Sites and Records).
- 2. Development or uses that may impact such sites shall comply with WAC 25-48 as well as the requirements within BMC 17.90 (Historic Preservation Ordinance) and the requirements within this Title, where applicable.
- 3. Developers and property owners shall immediately stop work and notify the City, the Office of Archaeology and Historic Preservation and affected Indian tribes if archaeological resources are uncovered during excavation.
- 4. Development that is proposed in areas documented to contain archaeological resources shall have a site inspection or evaluation by a professional archaeologist in coordination with affected Indian tribes. Said evaluation shall be submitted to the Planning Department prior to the issuance of any shoreline permit required for said development.

22.08.140 DREDGING AND DISPOSAL

Dredging is the removal of material from a stream, river, lake, bay or other water body. The purposes for dredging might include navigation, remediation of contaminated materials, or material mining. Materials generated from navigational and remedial dredging may be suitable for beneficial reuse (e.g., construction of habitat features or construction of uplands) or may require disposal at appropriate disposal facilities.

- 1. Dredging that involves remediation of contaminated materials should be consistent with the applicable policies within RCW 70.105D and the standards within WAC 173-204 Sediment Management Standards.
- 2. Dredging within aquatic areas for the primary purpose of acquisition of fill material should not be allowed.
- 3. Navigational dredging should be permitted provided that it minimizes adverse impacts on critical area habitats, shoreline ecological function and water quality.
- 4. Dredging and beneficial reuse should be consistent with the guidance of the Bellingham Bay Demonstration Pilot Project Comprehensive Strategy and its associated Habitat Restoration Documentation Report, as amended or updated.
- 5. Where dredging occurs within marine waters for any purpose, except as specified in 2., above, the result should be suitable for establishment of a variety of aquatic organisms including salmonids and forage fish, with guidance provided by the Washington State Department of Fish and Wildlife, the United States Army Corps of Engineers and the City's Environmental Resources Department.

- 6. When maintenance dredging is necessary within the City's freshwater systems in order to alleviate flooding, subsequent property damage and excessive fine sediments that prevent creation of redds, dredged material should be replaced with gravel/cobble that is suitable for anadromous fish spawning and rearing with guidance provided by the Washington State Department of Fish and Wildlife and the City's Environmental Resources Department, provided it does not interrupt or adversely affect the system in terms of capacity and velocity.
- 7. When dredging occurs within marine waters, sufficient notice should be publicized for those individuals or groups who crab, fish or manage aquaculture activities so that proper adjustments to schedule, timing or practices can be made.

- 1. Dredging that involves remediation of contaminated materials shall be consistent with the policies within RCW 70.105D and the applicable standards within WAC 173-204 Sediment Management Standards and all other applicable federal, state and local regulations.
- Dredging requires a shoreline conditional use except for maintenance dredging, dredging to implement a hazardous substance remedial action under RCW 90.58.355 or, for habitat purposes pursuant to #7 below.
 Dredging of contaminated materials shall be consistent with the conditional use criteria specified in BMC 22.06.50.C. 1 6, Conditional Uses, and shall be demonstrated by the applicant / owner to be in compliance with said criteria.
- 3. Dredging, for any purpose, that occurs within the waters of Bellingham Bay or Lake Whatcom shall comply with the applicable requirements in BMC 22.03, Shoreline Designations; BMC 22.04, Shorelines of Statewide Significance; and BMC 22.08, General Policies and Regulations.
- 4. Dredging within aquatic areas for the primary purpose of acquisition of fill material is prohibited unless for uses as specified in 5., below.
- 5. Beneficial reuse of dredged material shall be consistent with the guidance of the Bellingham Bay Comprehensive Strategy and its associated Habitat Restoration Documentation Report, as amended or updated.
- 6. Dredging within the City's freshwater shorelines shall only be allowed if the completion of the action results in improved ecological functions and processes.
- 7. Dredging for the purposes of habitat enhancement, *invasive species control* and/or restoration when no contaminated material is disturbed is allowed and shall be subject to the applicable requirements in this Title.

22.08.150 IN-WATER STRUCTURES

In-water (marine and freshwater) structures include but are not limited to jetties, pilings, fish-

ladders, mooring dolphins and buoys, breakwaters, groins, weirs, baffles, bridge abutments, gauges and tide gates.

A. Policies

- 1. In-water structures should be designed to minimize impacts to ecological functions of the water body including but not limited to water quality, anadromous and forage fish habitat, spawning and rearing areas, migration, and passage.
- 2. In-water structures should not adversely affect hydrologic function including light penetration within the photic zone, sediment transport and current and water circulation patterns.
- 3. The location and planning of in-water structures should give due consideration to the full range of public interests and environmental concerns.
- 4. In-water structures should comply with the requirements of applicable state and federal permitting agencies with jurisdiction and consider the recommendations of other non-regulatory organizations such as tribal nations and the Puget Sound Action Team.
- 5. Analysis of cumulative impacts of in-water structures should be conducted such that the connectivity between habitats for migrating salmonids is maintained and restored where feasible.

- 1. In-water structures shall not be placed within critical areas unless allowed per the provisions of this program.
- 2. New in-water structures shall be designed and constructed such that the result is no net loss of shoreline ecological function. New in-water structures shall not adversely affect hydrologic function, ability for light to penetrate within the photic zone, sediment transport and water-circulation patterns.
- 3. In-water structures that are associated with a water-dependent use are allowed and shall be subject to the requirements in this Title.
- 4. When in-water structures require new shoreline modification or stabilization, those features shall be designed consistent with the requirements within BMC 22.08.120 *Shoreline Modification / Stabilization*.
- 5. Creosote, arsenic and pentachlorophenol treated in-water structures shall be prohibited.
- 6. New in-water structures shall comply with the permitting requirements of the applicable agencies for such features including but not limited to the Washington State Department of Fish and Wildlife, the United States Army Corps of Engineers, the Department of Ecology, the Department of Natural Resources and the United States Coast Guard.

- 7. In-water structures that are an element of a larger project that would require removal of existing mature native vegetation shall not be permitted unless there is a substantial public benefit or mitigation provided.
- 8. In-water structures shall not impair or obstruct existing navigation channels or the public's use of surface water or shoreline areas.
- 9. In-water structures shall not impair or conflict with navigability of water-dependent uses.
- 10. In-water structures shall not impair the public's ability to have physical or visual access to the shoreline or obstruct scenic vistas.
- 11. Mooring buoys shall only be located in aquatic areas where there would be no adverse impact to aquatic resources and within areas that are managed by a local entity (City or Port of Bellingham) via an agreement with the Washington State Department of Natural Resources (DNR).

22.08.160 CLEARING AND GRADING

Clearing and grading are permitted as an element of development for an authorized activity or as otherwise allowed in this Title.

A. Policies

- 1. Disturbance to and removal of native soils should be minimized within shorelines.
- 2. Uses and site design should incorporate protection or reestablishment of the maximum amount of native vegetation on a particular site.
- 3. Vegetation that is removed as part of a permitted use should be reestablished within a required buffer.

- 1. Clearing, grading, and shoreline native vegetation protection and removal shall comply with the standards in BMC 22.08.
- 2. Disturbance to soils shall adhere to the following standards:
 - a. Land clearing and fill and grade activity that is associated with a permitted use that occurs within a required buffer shall only be allowed between May 1 and October 1 unless the City extends or shortens the time window on a case-by-case basis or as determined based on actual weather conditions.
 - b. Filling or grading including excavation within or modification to a critical area is only permitted as part of an approved activity subject to the applicable requirements within this Title.
 - c. The soil duff layer (the matted, partly decomposed organic surface layer of forest soils) shall remain undisturbed to the maximum extent possible.
 Where feasible any soil disturbed shall be redistributed to other areas of the project site.

- d. The moisture holding capacity of the topsoil layer shall be maintained by minimizing soil compaction or reestablishing natural soil structure and infiltration capacity on all areas of the project area not covered by impervious surfaces.
- e. Erosion control that complies with the requirements in BMC 15.42 shall be provided.

22.08.170 LANDFILL

Landfill is the creation of dry upland area by the placement or deposition of sand, soil, gravel or *other* sediments into a water body, *floodplain*, *or wetland*.

A. Policies

1. Landfills should not be permitted within critical areas.

B. Regulations

- 1. Landfills within shorelines shall only be permitted as an element of a water-dependent use and must be demonstrated to be consistent with the substantive requirements in BMC 22.06.50.C. 1. 6, *Conditional Uses*, BMC 22.04 and BMC 22.08 where applicable.,
- 2. Landfills, where permitted, shall include restoration and/or enhancement of ecological function within the shoreline / aquatic area consistent with the restoration objectives within the Restoration Plan (APPENDIX B Table 2) and the specific projects (where applicable) specified in APPENDIX B Table 3; and shall provide public access where feasible per BMC 22.08.90 *Public Access*.
- 3. Landfills shall be constructed in accordance with applicable state and federal laws.
- 4. Landfills that are part of a hazardous substance remedial action shall be subject to the requirements within BMC 22.05.20. B.1.q, *Exemptions*.
- 5. Placement of material for the sole purpose of habitat remediation shall be consistent with the restoration and conservation policies of this Program and the objectives in the Restoration Plan APPENDIX B.

22.08.180 LIGHTING

Lighting within shorelines and lands adjacent to shorelines if not properly managed can have an adverse impact on the ecological function, most notably the migration patterns of salmonids and terrestrial species.

A. Policies

1. Lighting should be minimized within shorelines, especially within close proximity to the water.

B. Regulations

1. Development proposals within shorelines shall include a master lighting plan (MLP) that complies with the following standards:

- a. Location of all outdoor lighting and building security lighting and associated wattages;
- b. Pole heights that shall not exceed 20 feet in height;
- c. Fixture designs for all outdoor lighting shall shield the source or bulb of the light; and
- d. Photometric plan shall not exceed a strength of 1 foot-candle at the property lines.
- 2. Where lighting is required for new streets, driveways or public access features, the lowest level lighting possible shall be used and shall be compliant with safety and Crime Prevention through Environmental Design (CPTED) standards.
- 3. Said lighting plan shall be reviewed and approved by the Planning and Community Development Department as a component of the shoreline permit application.

22.08.190 PARKING

Parking includes private on-site, public lots/structures and on-street, loading and unloading areas. Parking within shorelines is a low priority. Converting land within shorelines for the sole use of vehicles is not an efficient land use.

A. Policies

- 1. Parking as a primary use (stand-alone use) within the shoreline jurisdiction should be prohibited.
- 2. Parking should not be allowed between development and the adjacent water body.
- 3. Parking for permitted uses should be underground or under-building.
- 4. Visual impacts of surface parking facilities should be effectively mitigated. Parking for permitted uses within the shoreline jurisdiction (but not including parking that is underground or under-building) should be minimized and screened from adjacent public access and buffer areas.
- 5. Where surface parking is developed within the shoreline jurisdiction, Low Impact Development techniques should be implemented.
- 6. Lighting for parking areas should be minimized.
- 7. Loading and unloading zones, especially those inherent to a permitted use, parking for ADA and public parking on improved public rights-of-way, should be allowed when within shoreline jurisdiction.

B. Regulations

1. Parking as a primary or stand-alone use shall not be permitted within shorelines.

- 2. Parking, including parking for ADA and loading / unloading zones, shall not be located within a required shoreline or critical area buffer.
- 3. Required parking (per BMC 20.12) for a permitted use on shorelines shall not be permitted between the development and the adjacent shoreline with the exception of parking that is required for water-dependent uses.
- 4. Parking for boating facilities including areas for loading and unloading and required ADA parking may be provided within existing buildings or provided within shoreline jurisdiction but not within a required buffer and shall be subject to the requirements in 9., below.
- 5. Loading and unloading zones that are an inherent element of a water-dependent or a water-related use are allowed between the shoreline and the use area when it is adjacent to the shoreline but, when feasible, should not be adjacent to a required buffer.
- 6. Parking for a permitted use when provided underground or partially underbuilding shall not be allowed in a required buffer.
- 7. Where parking areas are located adjacent to a required buffer the parking area shall be setback from the required buffer an additional 15 feet for installation of landscape screening.
- 8. Required landscaping, as specified in 7 above, shall include a mix of native trees and shrubs that effectively screen headlights from vehicles to the abutting buffer area. Gaps in screening are permitted to allow access to viewing areas or public areas where applicable.
- 9. When surface parking areas for permitted uses are designed and constructed, they shall achieve the following objectives:
 - a. A safe and signed pedestrian entry point to an established or proposed shoreline trail / walkway or viewing area for physical and visual access to the shoreline;
 - b. Landscape screening around the perimeter and within the parking area to soften edges and break up large parking areas;
 - c. Implementation of Low Impact Development techniques for stormwater management; and
 - d. Located as far from a required shoreline or critical area buffer as possible.
- 10. Public parking on public street ends that are within shorelines but outside of required buffers is allowed.

22.08.200 SIGNAGE

Signage within the shoreline zone can present adverse impacts in terms of lighting and view obstruction. Signage for or associated with private development should be located outside of the shoreline jurisdiction.

- 1. If no feasible alternative exists for signage location, then signage should be minimized in terms of size, height and lighting.
- 2. Directional / wayfinding signage (e.g., public access, boat launch and public fishing) and interpretive signage (historical and cultural) should be permitted in coordination with public access and recreation amenities.

- 1. Signage shall not interfere or block any existing public view or public view corridor within shoreline areas.
- 2. Signage shall not be permitted over water with the exception *of attached*, *façade-flush* signage on buildings that are presently located or permitted overwater.
- 3. Billboards are prohibited within shorelines.
- 4. Freestanding signage, other than real estate signage as specified above, within shoreline jurisdiction is limited to 32 square feet. Height of said freestanding signage is limited to 12 feet from existing grade.
- 5. Roof signage is strictly prohibited within shorelines.
- 6. Signage within the shoreline jurisdiction shall only be indirectly lit.
- 7. Signage mounted flush on building facades within shoreline jurisdiction shall not exceed 32 square feet. One sign per building wall is permitted.
- 8. All other signage shall comply with applicable regulations in BMC 20.12.040.
- 9. Directional / wayfinding signage (e.g., public access, boat launch and public fishing) and interpretive signage (historical and cultural) should be permitted in coordination with public access and recreation amenities.

22.08.210 STORMWATER MANAGEMENT FACILITIES

Stormwater management (detention and treatment) facilities are necessary elements of development. If designed correctly and managed properly they can produce multiple benefits within the shoreline jurisdiction.

A. Policies

- 1. Stormwater facilities should not be located in areas where there would be an adverse impact to existing shoreline ecological functions.
- 2. Stormwater management facilities should be designed to incorporate Low Impact Development techniques whenever possible.

B. Regulations

1. Stormwater management facilities shall be located outside of critical areas and their required buffers except as specified in BMC 22.08.10.B.4, *Shoreline Buffers* and shall be subject to the requirements in BMC 22.08.120 *Shoreline Modification / Stabilization*.

- 2. Stormwater management facilities shall be subject to the policies and regulations in BMC 22.08.110 *Water Quality, Stormwater, and Nonpoint Pollution* of this Title.
- 3. Stormwater management facilities shall provide a minimum of enhanced treatment as defined by the latest version of the Department of Ecology Stormwater Manual for Western Washington, and as further specified in BMC 15.42, as amended, and per BMC 22.08.110 *Water Quality, Stormwater, and Nonpoint Pollution*.
- 4. When stormwater management facilities are proposed within shorelines and adjacent to required buffer areas, they shall be designed to provide additional riparian vegetative cover and increase or improve existing habitat corridors including habitat for anadromous fish.
- 5. New stormwater conveyance facilities (outfalls) shall not be constructed within required shoreline or critical area buffers unless no other feasible alternative exists.
- 6. Individual shoreline permits shall include a requirement that an applicant prepare a stormwater management facility maintenance program for a five-year period that includes the following elements:
 - a. Frequency and detail of maintenance of the facilities (this includes but is not limited to catch basin insert and vault cartridge replacement, removal of noxious vegetation, pipe and overflow clean-out and outfall and diffuser maintenance);
 - b. Copy of signed and implemented contract verifying the entity that will perform the maintenance action and the frequency of the maintenance; and
 - c. A maintenance report shall be submitted to the Planning Department each year for five years from the date of issue of the original shoreline permit.

22.09 USE POLICIES AND REGULATIONS

PURPOSE AND INTENT: The policies and regulations within this chapter shall apply to the specific common uses and types of development to the extent they occur within shoreline jurisdiction. These policies and regulations are intended to achieve no net loss of shoreline ecological function. Each use or development type includes a brief explanation and examples of the subject use, policies which are intended to guide and interpret the accompanying regulations, and then the regulations themselves.

22.09.10 AQUACULTURE

Aquaculture is the commercial farming or culturing of food fish, shellfish or other aquatic plants and animals in marine waters, estuaries, inlets, lakes, streams and other natural or artificial water bodies. Non-commercial projects and activities that involve the enhancement or restoration of native biota are addressed in Ch. 22.09.100, *Restoration and Conservation*. Aquaculture is a preferred water-dependent use and should be encouraged to locate where it is not in conflict with other preferred water-dependent uses and where it includes specific conditions to protect ecological function.

A. Policies

- 1. Aquaculture shall not be located in areas where it would be detrimental to the ecological functions and processes of the aquatic system.
- 2. Aquaculture should only be utilized for shellfish, algal and plant species.
- 3. Aquaculture for finfish should not be allowed.
- 4. Aquaculture should not preclude the appropriate use of adjacent uplands.
- 5. Aquaculture should not interfere with established navigation channels and other water-dependent uses.

- 1. Aquaculture shall not be located in areas where it would be detrimental to shoreline ecological functions and processes of the aquatic system, especially in near-shore areas where water quality, aquatic vegetation and co-occupying species habitats and migration corridors could be impacted.
- 2. Aquaculture shall meet the applicable requirements of the Washington State Department of Fish and Wildlife for said facilities.
- 3. Aquaculture shall only be utilized for shellfish, algal and plant species.
- 4. Aquaculture shall not preclude the appropriate use of adjacent shorelines or be detrimental to visual access of the water body.
- 5. Aquaculture activities within the City shall not unduly interfere with the navigability of the water body for industrial, commercial or personal watercraft.
- 6. Specifically, commercial net pens for finfish within the City and/or on or above state owned aquatic lands are prohibited.

7. Harvest of wild stock free swimming fish, shellfish not artificially planted or maintained is a fishery, and/or harvest of wild stock geoducks on state owned aquatic lands is not considered aquaculture and does not require a shoreline substantial development permit.

22.09.20 BOATING FACILITIES

Boating facilities are water-dependent or water-related uses which are a preferred use on shorelines. Bellingham Bay has a variety of boating facilities that are both privately owned commercial and industrial facilities and those that are available to the general public. Squalicum Harbor and Marina supply the majority of boating facilities within Bellingham Bay. Boating facilities are also located in the Fairhaven area including the Fairhaven Marine Industrial Park, shipyard and boat launch.

Boating facilities can include uses such as marinas (for more than 9 motorized craft), shipping and ferry terminals, transient mooring facilities, boat-ramps, gatehouses, upland dry-stack storage, boat construction and maintenance facilities. Shipping terminals, ferry terminals, boat construction and maintenance facilities, and similar activities must also meet the provisions for *Industrial Development* Ch. 22.09.50 *Industrial Development* or *Commercial Development* Ch. 22.09.30 as determined on a case-by-case basis. Small commercial facilities (nine vessels or less) shall also meet the provisions for *Commercial Development*. Small non-commercial facilities (nine vessels or less) shall meet the provisions of *PIERS*, *GANGWAYS*, *FLOATS AND PILINGS* CH 22.09.60 *Piers*, *Floats*, *Pilings* – *Lake Whatcom and Lake Padden* – .70 *Piers*, *Floats*, *Pilings within Marine Shorelines*.

- 1. New boating facilities should include restoration of ecological functions within the riparian and near-shore environment, especially for migrating salmonids and other aquatic species.
- 2. New boating facilities should be designed, constructed and managed such that there is no net loss of shoreline ecological function.
- 3. In order to supply anticipated demand for a twenty-five year period, new boating facilities should be designed to include upland boat storage facilities where maintenance and adjacent berthing can take place.
- 4. New boating facilities should provide the maximum amount of public access in a variety of forms. (Trail, view overlooks, transient and hand-carry craft moorage.)
- 5. New boating facilities should be located in areas where other water-oriented uses presently exist or could be established within close proximity.
- 6. New boating facilities should minimize the amount of associated parking and impervious surface within the shoreline jurisdiction.
- 7. New in-water boating facilities should implement mitigation sequencing in order to protect the natural hydrological function of the water body or

- viability of aquatic organisms, including their growth, reproduction, and migration.
- 8. New boating facilities should not include covered moorage and boathouses.
- 9. New boating facilities that require dredging for proper depth and/or removal of contaminated sediments should be consistent with all federal and state requirements for management of contaminated sediments and BMC 22.09.20 *Boating Facilities*.
- 10. Existing boating facilities, when retrofitted or as upgrades are necessary, should improve the existing ecological function by minimizing impacts to water quality, restoring hydrologic function and maintaining the viability of aquatic organisms.

- 1. Boating facilities and necessary supporting elements shall comply with the applicable requirements in Chapters 22.08 and 22.09.
- 2. Boating facilities shall be designed and located in areas that are previously disturbed or where impacts to existing ecological function can be avoided or minimized and there is an opportunity for shoreline ecological function to be reestablished and / or restored.
- 3. Boating facilities shall be designed to provide opportunities for aquatic ecological functions to establish and succeed.
- 4. In order to supply anticipated demand for a twenty-five year period, new boating facilities shall be designed to include upland boat storage facilities where feasible in which maintenance and adjacent berthing can take place.
- 5. Boating facilities shall be designed to provide public access in a variety of forms that draw large numbers of citizens to the shorelines subject to the exceptions in Section 22.08.90 B. 7, *Public Access*. Access forms (pathway, overlook, beach, kayak launch etc.) and locations, when applicable, shall be consistent with those specific opportunities identified in the WFG Framework Plan and the City of Bellingham Park, Recreation and Open Space Plan (2005) or the Waterfront District Master Plan, upon adoption.
- 6. Boating facilities shall be designed such that adjacent water-oriented uses are not compromised or adversely impacted including proximity to waters that have appropriate depth for water-dependent commercial and industrial uses, and physical and visual access to the shoreline for the general public is provided and/or enhanced.
- 7. New boating facilities shall include opportunities for transient moorage and motorized and hand-carry craft launch.
- 8. Boating facilities should be managed consistent with the Department of Ecology document titled "Resource Manual for Pollution Prevention in Marinas," May 1998, Publication #9811.

- 9. Boat ramps and other launching facilities shall be designed and constructed such that they result in no net loss of shoreline ecological function and shall not conflict with existing or planned public access opportunities.
- 10. Parking areas associated with boating facilities shall minimize the amount of associated parking and impervious surface within the shoreline jurisdiction and should not disrupt planned public access or habitat restoration objectives. Required ADA parking and personal loading / unloading areas shall be permitted within shorelines but not within a required buffer.
- 11. Boating facilities which require new or replacement of existing shoreline modification or stabilization shall comply with the applicable requirements in Section 22.08.120 *Shoreline Modification / Stabilization*. Armoring shall use bioengineering and soft-shore techniques unless heavy wave action, tidal influence or currents would compromise the integrity of said non-structural technique.
- 12. Over-water boathouses shall not be allowed in new boating facilities.
- 13. Parking ratios for marinas shall be a minimum of .5 parking spaces for each new moorage slip unless a lower ratio can be demonstrated to supply anticipated demand. Parking areas for vehicles and boat trailers for boat launch/ramps. shall be based upon an analysis of demonstrable need submitted by the applicant and determined by the Director.

22.09.30 COMMERCIAL DEVELOPMENT

Commercial development on the shorelines should be designed to bring large numbers of citizens to the shoreline.

- 1. Commercial development should be designed and constructed in such a manner as to result in no net loss of ecological function including implementation of Low Impact Development techniques to the maximum extent feasible.
- 2. Where necessary depth for commercial or recreational vessels is adjacent, water-dependent commercial development should be given priority over commercial water-related and water-enjoyment uses.
- 3. Where necessary depth for commercial vessels is adjacent, water-oriented commercial development should maximize physical and/or visual public access opportunities to the shorelines.
- 4. Public access, as specified above, should not be provided where it is demonstrated to conflict with the intended use for reasons of safety, security, or carrying out the use itself.
- 5. When public access to the shorelines is provided as an element of a commercial development, it should not adversely impact the ecological function of the shoreline.

- 6. Non-water-oriented uses should utilize existing structures on the south side of the Whatcom Waterway between the historic GP log pond and Roeder Avenue subject to a specified lease or length of operation limitation.
- 7. Non-water-oriented commercial uses within certain areas of the Waterfront District shoreline designation specifically identified in BMC 22.03.30.F.4. a. and b, *Shoreline Environmental Designations*, should be allowed to locate and operate on a temporary basis within existing structures.
- 8. Where necessary depth for commercial vessels is not viable, water-related and water-enjoyment commercial development should take advantage of its shoreline location by locating and designing the use to bring a large number of citizens to the shorelines.
- 9. Where necessary depth for commercial vessels is not viable, including along freshwater systems, non-water-oriented commercial development should provide public access to the shoreline provided it does not impact the riparian and ecological function of the shoreline and should include restoration of the riparian and near-shore zones whenever feasible.

- 1. Water-dependent commercial development shall not interfere with or compromise the operation of existing adjacent water-oriented development or decrease opportunities for the general public to access adjacent shorelines.
- 2. Water-oriented commercial development shall provide opportunities for the public to access the shoreline adjacent to the subject use. Where public access has already been provided as part of a prior project or action, said use shall be designed and constructed to be oriented towards the shoreline. ('Oriented towards the shoreline' means that the active space for customers and passersby is facing or directed towards the shoreline. Active space does not include service entries or load / unload areas.)
- 3. Non-water-oriented commercial uses shall provide opportunities for the general public to access the shoreline or to access an existing or proposed adjacent public access amenity as required per BMC 22.03 and the standards in BMC 22.08.90 *Public Access*. (For example, provide a link to a view overlook, trail, park or open space, recreation area or public access easement.)
- 4. Non-water-oriented commercial uses that are located on shorelines where necessary depth for commercial vessels is not available, shall be required to improve the existing ecological function consistent with the applicable requirements in BMC 22.03 and as specified in BMC 22.08.
- 5. Commercial development shall implement a range of Low Impact Development techniques to minimize the impacts on riparian, near-shore and upland areas.
- 6. Parking for commercial uses on marine shorelines shall not be located between the development and the shoreline. Required parking for ADA and

- personal load/unload zones are allowed within shorelines but not within a required buffer.
- 7. Parking for commercial uses on freshwater shorelines shall not be permitted between development and the shoreline. Required parking for ADA and personal load/unload zones are allowed within shorelines but not within a required buffer.
- 8. Non-water-oriented commercial uses located on shorelines shall be designed and oriented towards the shoreline. It is not required that the only main entrances to buildings and uses must be oriented towards the shoreline, but there shall be opportunities for employees and patrons to enjoy the shoreline location.
- 9. Non-water-dependent loading and service areas shall not be located between the shoreline and the development.
- 10. Commercial development shall implement site lighting techniques that minimize the amount of spill-over into riparian and aquatic environments. These techniques shall include but are not limited to reduction of pole heights and locations, fixture designs including shading / shielding devices, bulb types and reduced wattages.
- 11. Non-water-oriented commercial uses shall not be located on shorelines when adjacent to waters that have necessary depth for commercial or recreational vessels unless they meet at least one of the criteria below:
 - a. The commercial use is part of a shoreline mixed-use project that includes a water-dependent use;
 - b. The proposed use is within the Waterfront District shoreline designation and specifically identified in BMC 22.03.30.F.4.a. and b, *Shoreline Environmental Designations*;
 - c. The commercial use is within the shoreline jurisdiction but physically separated from the shoreline by a significant, separate property, public right-of-way, railroad right-of-way, or existing conforming use; and
 - d. The proposed is located in Reach 10 or 12 having an Urban Conservancy shoreline designation.

22.09.40 FOREST PRACTICES

Forest practices within the City along shorelines would occur as a conversion of forested areas to a certain level of urban development (Class IV – General per the Forest Practices Act, RCW 76.09).

- 1. Forested areas within shorelines should be preserved and protected.
- B. Regulations

- 1. Conversion of forested areas to urban development shall implement the mitigation sequencing as specified in BMC 22.08.20 *Mitigation Sequencing* of this Title.
- 2. Forest practices for the sole purpose of timber harvesting shall not be allowed in shorelines.
- 3. Any forest practice activity on shorelines of statewide significance shall comply with RCW 90.58.150.

22.09.50 INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT

The Bellingham waterfront has three federal shipping channels that are intended specifically for water-borne commerce and industry. Water-dependent industrial uses are preferred and encouraged within these shoreline areas.

- 1. Where necessary depth for industrial uses is adjacent, water-dependent industrial development should be given priority over water-related industrial uses provided, however, that in both instances, they do not conflict with planned or existing public access and habitat restoration.
- 2. Expansion or redevelopment of water-dependent industrial facilities and areas should be encouraged, provided it will not create a net loss of shoreline ecological function and processes.
- 3. New water-dependent industrial development should incorporate physical and/or visual public access to the water except when such access causes significant interference with operations or hazards to life or property.
- 4. Water-dependent industrial uses located on property in public ownership should provide public access to the shoreline whenever feasible provided the requirements in BMC 22.08.90 *Public Access* are met.
- 5. Water-dependent industrial development and redevelopment should be consistent with all of the following; Waterfront Futures Group Framework Plan, Bellingham Bay Demonstration Pilot Project Comprehensive Strategy and Land Use Documentation Report and the Port of Bellingham's Comprehensive Scheme of Harbor Improvements, where applicable.
- 6. On upland industrial sites, environmental cleanup and/or remediation should be implemented to serve a variety of future land uses.
- 7. Water-dependent industrial development should be located only on shorelines where commercial navigability is adjacent to the proposed use.
- 8. Water-dependent and water-related industrial redevelopment is encouraged. Water-related uses should not adversely impact the shoreline ecological function or critical areas and should provide access to the general public.
- 9. New non-water-oriented industrial development should only be allowed on shorelines in conjunction with or in support of permitted uses and said uses should provide public access to the adjacent shoreline.

10. New water-dependent or water-related industrial uses should, when feasible, take advantage of and utilize legally established existing industrial facilities.

- 1. Water-dependent and water-related industrial uses shall comply with the applicable requirements in this Title.
- 2. Water-dependent and water-related industrial development shall not degrade the ecological function of the shorelines or disrupt existing or proposed public access amenities.
- 3. Where shoreline stabilization or in-water structures are required to establish a water-dependent industrial use, the requirements in BMC 22.08.120 *Shoreline Modification / Stabilization* shall apply as well as the following:
 - a. Improve existing ecological function especially viability for migrating salmonids and other aquatic species.
 - b. Manage and/or remediate contaminated sediments in accordance with state and federal laws.
 - c. Provide public access to the water body where safety and operation of use are not compromised.
 - d. Minimize shading and water surface coverage.
- 4. Water-dependent and water-related industrial uses shall provide public access to the shoreline per the standards in BMC 22.08.90 *Public Access* provided said access does not compromise the integrity or operation of the use, does not threaten the safety and welfare of the general public and does not interfere with an existing adjacent use.
- 5. On upland industrial sites, environmental remediation shall be consistent with applicable state and federal laws.
- 6. Water-dependent industrial development shall occur only on shorelines where commercial navigability is adjacent to the proposed use.
- 7. Any type of industrial development on shorelines shall implement a range of Low Impact Development techniques to minimize the impacts on riparian and near-shore environments and upland areas.
- 8. Non-water-oriented industrial uses (located along freshwater shorelines) shall provide adequate landscape screening from shoreline areas, especially where public trails and/or access is existing or proposed.
- 9. Parking areas required for industrial development shall not be located between shorelines and development unless said parking is inherent to the use itself, and not accessory or employee parking.
- 10. Industrial development shall minimize site lighting per the requirements in BMC 22.09.

- 11. Non-water-oriented industrial uses shall not be located on shorelines when adjacent to navigable waters unless they meet at least one of the criteria below:
 - a. The use is part of a shoreline mixed-use project that includes a water-dependent use;
 - b. The use is within the shoreline jurisdiction but physically separated from the shoreline by a significant separate property, public right-of-way, or existing use; or
 - c. The use is located within the Waterfront District Shoreline Mixed Use designation and subject to the use allowances in BMC 22.03.30.F, *Shoreline Environmental Designations*.

22.09.60 PIERS, FLOATS, PILINGS - LAKE WHATCOM AND LAKE PADDEN

- A. Regulations: In addition to the policies and requirements in BMC 22.08.150 *In-Water Structures*, the following shall apply to piers, floats and pilings within the waters of Lake Whatcom and Lake Padden:
 - 1. Piers shall not exceed a width of four (4) feet.
 - 2. Piers on Lake Whatcom shall not exceed the average length of 5 piers on either side located within an area having the same or similar bottom profile; provided, overall pier and float length shall not be greater than necessary to reach a water depth of 30 inches measured at elevation 311 ft. MSL or an equivalent depth to provide a safe distance from the bottom for the intended vessel..
 - 3. Piers on Lake Padden shall be of a length sufficient to provide safe depth for swimming, diving, or boat access; provided, overall pier and float length shall not be greater than necessary to reach a water depth for the intended purpose.
 - 4. Floats including supports, decking and floatation device, shall not exceed dimensions of 8 feet x 16 feet (or the equivalent area) and shall be designed and installed with maximum of 60% of water surface coverage. Trex, Sundeck, Gator-Decking, Thru-flow panels or steel grating are examples of preferred materials for floats
 - 5. All float materials including supports, decking and floatation devices shall not include the use of any preservative treatment including but not limited to; creosote, arsenic, penta-chlorophenol and ACZA. (Ammoniacal Copper Zinc Arsenate) NOTE: Staff continues to research this issue as information is released from EPA and as recommended by professionals from in-water construction contractors. This research will yield a completed list of prohibited treatments.

22.09.70 PIERS, FLOATS, PILINGS WITHIN MARINE SHORELINES

- A. Regulations: In addition to the requirements in BMC 22.09.60 *Piers, Floats, Pilings Lake Whatcom and Lake Padden*, the following shall apply to piers, floats, and pilings within protected marine waters:
 - 1. Piers, floats and pilings shall be required to adhere to the mitigation sequencing in BMC 22.08.20 *Mitigation Sequencing* and requirements in BMC 22.08 and 22.09.
 - 2. Piers including gangways shall be designed with the smallest amount of water surface area coverage practical when they are located on or above the water surface between the OHWM and the elevation of -10 feet Mean Lower Low Water (MLLW).
 - 3. Piers shall be open and available to the public for access subject to the exceptions in Section 22.08.90.B.7, *Public Access*.
 - 4. Piers, floats and gangways, when located within or over a critical area, shall be designed with the minimum necessary water-surface coverage in order to provide safe access to and from floats and piers for public and private access including ADA compliance, buoyancy, loading and vessel protection.
 - 5. New pilings, support beams, decking and floats shall not be constructed with products such as creosote, arsenic, penta-chlorophenol and Styrofoam. Floats shall not be located in water between the OHWM and -10 MLLW unless no feasible alternative exists. Existing floats located at -8 MLLW may be maintained and replaced provided a minimum of 2 feet of clearance from the seafloor is provided at extreme low tides.
 - 6. Floats including extensions, laterals and finger floats shall utilize the best available and feasible technology and design standards for decking, grating, support structures and framing such that safe access, loading capacities, buoyancy and maintenance are not compromised.
 - 7. Pilings shall be steel or concrete. The piling systems shall be designed to minimize as practical and feasible the cumulative area of piling system in contact with bedlands necessary to retain structural integrity of the intended use.
 - 8. When ACZA treated materials or other materials approved by federal of state agencies are used, "BMP's for the use of treated wood in aquatic and other sensitive environments" (August 1, 2006) shall be implemented.
- B. Regulations: In addition to the requirements in BMC 22.09.60 *Piers, Floats, Pilings Lake Whatcom and Lake Padden*, the following shall apply to piers, floats, and pilings within unprotected marine waters between the elevation of the OHWM and -15 feet MLLW:
 - Piers, gangways and floats that are over or within the subject waters shall be configured to be perpendicular or as near as possible to perpendicular to upland areas unless a different configuration is required for ADA or public access purposes or due to physical constraints.

- 2. Piers and gangways shall be designed with the maximum amount of grating to allow for light penetration while providing safe access including ADA compliance and sufficient loading capacity and considering safe access to and from floats and piers for public and private access including buoyancy, loading and vessel protection. Floats shall be configured such that they are not located within zero feet to -10 feet MLLW within the subject unprotected water-areas specified above unless no other feasible alternative exists.
- 3. Floats shall be designed to provide the maximum amount of light penetration while providing safe access including ADA compliance and addressing demands for buoyancy, loading and impacts of wave, tidal and current energy.
- 4. Pilings shall be steel or concrete. The piling systems shall be designed to minimize as practical and feasible the cumulative area of piling system in contact with bedlands necessary to retain structural integrity of the intended use.
- 5. When ACZA treated materials or other materials approved by federal or state agencies are used, "BMP's for the use of treated wood in aquatic and other sensitive environments" (August 1, 2006) shall be implemented.

22.09.80 RECREATIONAL DEVELOPMENT

Water-oriented recreational development can include but is not limited to parks, trails, open spaces, beaches, boat or other watercraft rentals, fishing piers, aquariums, view platforms and over-water boardwalks.

- Water-oriented recreational development is encouraged on shorelines
 provided it results in no net loss of ecological function and is a preferred use
 along shorelines of statewide significance (Bellingham Bay and Lake
 Whatcom).
- 2. Water-oriented recreational development on the shorelines should be consistent with the 2006 Comprehensive Plan and the City of Bellingham Park, Recreation and Open Space Plan (2005) in terms of satisfying future demand and design.
- 3. Water-oriented recreational development should take precedence over non-water-oriented recreational uses. Specifically:
 - Recreational development should not degrade the physical characteristics of the shoreline in terms of overall ecological function of the shoreline areas;
 - b. Recreational development should be consistent with the City of Bellingham Comprehensive Plan and of the City of Bellingham Park, Recreation, and Open Space Plan (2005) to provide a variety of recreational needs and opportunities;

- c. Wherever possible, shoreline recreational facilities should be linked to other adjacent recreational attractions by pedestrian and/or bicycle trails; and
- d. Recreational development, where applicable, should include interpretive displays describing cultural, historical and scientific information.
- 4. Non-water-oriented recreational development uses should not be located on shorelines.

- 1. Water-oriented recreation facilities shall be located and designed such that there is no net loss of shoreline ecological function.
- 2. Development of water-oriented recreation facilities shall comply with the mitigation sequencing specified in BMC 22.08.20 *Mitigation Sequencing* of this Program.
- 3. Water-oriented recreation facilities proposed in or over marine waters shall comply with the applicable requirements in this Title.
- 4. Development of water-oriented recreation facilities shall not occur within areas designated as SMA floodways.
- 5. Development of recreation facilities shall implement, where applicable, the elements within the City of Bellingham Park, Recreation and Open Space Plan (2005), the Waterfront Futures Group Framework Plan and the Waterfront District Master Plan, upon adoption.
- 6. Recreational development shall be oriented towards the shoreline, shall provide the maximum possible amount of public access to the shoreline, and shall be subject to the applicable requirements in BMC 22.08.90 *Public Access*.
- 7. Non-water-oriented recreational use should not be located on shorelines unless it complies with the applicable standards in BMC 22.03.

22.09.90 RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT

Residential development includes subdivisions of large parcels, multi-family housing and condominiums and single-family residences. Under the Shoreline Management Act, owner occupied single-family residences are a preferred use on the shorelines. However, residential uses can cause significant damage to the shoreline area through cumulative impacts resulting from vegetation loss, shoreline armoring, increased amount of impervious surfaces and resulting stormwater runoff, septic system failure, and additional vehicular trips.

- 1. Development of residential units should result in no net loss of ecological function.
- 2. Any residential development along the shoreline should be set back from steep slopes and eroding shoreline areas so that the shoreline is not further eroded nor structural improvements required to protect property.

- 3. In cases where either large tracts are subdivided into single-family residential parcels or where contiguous individual building sites are developed for single-family residences, common public access areas and one joint-use dock should be developed for the use of residents of the subject subdivision.
- 4. Design of residential development should include preservation of existing native vegetation to the greatest extent possible.
- 5. Residential development should be designed to minimize the amount of impervious area and should utilize Low Impact Development techniques to the greatest extent practicable (e.g., permeable pavers, stormwater infiltration and filtration).
- 6. New multi-unit residential development and the subdivision of land into more than five parcels should incorporate into the overall design planned public access amenities that are specified within the City of Bellingham Park, Recreation and Open Space Plan (2005) whenever feasible.
- 7. When multi-family residential units are developed in commercial or industrial areas (including town-homes and condominiums) said residential units should not be located on the ground floor.
- 8. New over-water residences, including floating homes, are not a preferred use and should not be permitted.

- 1. When two or more undeveloped single-family legal building sites are contiguous within shorelines, only a single joint-use dock with a common access easement is permitted for use by those two or more residential units.
- 2. For new multi-unit residential development, one single joint-use dock shall be allowed for the entire development.
- 3. In instances where new multi-family residential uses block the view of shoreline areas from a substantial number of citizens, public access shall be provided between the development and the shoreline for the general public.
- 4. Where multi-family residential development occurs on shorelines as part of a mixed use, public access shall be provided between the development and the shoreline for the general public per the requirements in BMC 22.08.90 *Public Access*.
- 5. Where residential development occurs on shorelines as part of a mixed-use development, said residential development shall not occur on the ground floor.
- 6. Where public access has already been provided as part of a prior action between the shoreline and a development or existing building, additional public access is still required but the form and function of that access shall be analyzed, reviewed and approved on a site-by-site basis and per the requirements in BMC 22.08.90 *Public Access*.

- 7. Upon redevelopment of single-family residences, particularly within the Lake Whatcom Watershed, the applicable requirements within BMC 16.80 and BMC 22.08 shall apply.
- 8. New bulkheads or other structurally engineered shoreline armoring techniques in conjunction with new residential development shall not be permitted unless otherwise specified in BMC 22.08.
- 9. Over-water residences including floating homes (not including live-aboard vessels such as houseboats, sailboats or yachts within approved port marina facilities) are prohibited regardless of shoreline designation.
- 10. Live-aboard vessels are prohibited except where allowed in approved port marina facilities.
- 11. Public access for the general public is not required on private property between development of one single-family residence and the abutting shoreline.

22.09.100 RESTORATION AND CONSERVATION

Restoration is the improvement or reestablishment of impaired ecological shoreline processes or functions. This may be accomplished through measures including but not limited to: amending soils, planting native vegetation, removing derelict shoreline structures, removing or treating toxic materials, enhancing or restoring native species, and re-sloping banks within near-shore or riparian areas. Restoration does not imply a requirement for returning the shoreline area to aboriginal or pre-European settlement conditions (WAC 173-26). The citywide objective of restoration is to achieve a net gain in ecological function within each watershed.

- 1. The primary objectives of restoration projects should be to protect and restore natural processes controlling environmental factors.
- 2. The Nooksack Tribe, Lummi Nation, Corps of Engineers, Washington Department of Ecology, and the Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife and other appropriate resource agencies should be included at the beginning of the design and development stages of a restoration project or plan.
- 3. The goals of the Restoration Plan in APPENDIX B should be considered for all restoration and conservation projects as well as the Restoration Opportunities within the Functional Analysis of the subject reach in the 2004 Shoreline Characterization and Inventory.
- 4. Restoration and conservation may take place as a stand-alone project or as a required element of a larger development proposal. In either case the following should be achieved as is feasible:
 - a. Non-native vegetative species should be eliminated and soil amendments should be made including mulching to help establish new native vegetation;
 - b. Installation of native vegetation should be an appropriate mix of deciduous, conifer, under-story and groundcover species that are capable

- of achieving substantial water body shading, provide food sources for a variety of species, enhance and connect to habitat corridors and slow movement of groundwater and sheet-flow towards the water body;
- c. Introduction of LWD to the water body should not adversely impact fish passage or hydrologic function; and
- d. Design and implementation of restoration projects that alter the location of the OHWM should not negatively impact abutting or proximate (third party) property owners, compromise the integrity or threaten the loss of existing structures, transportation routes, public access areas or cause significant additional erosion.

- 1. Restoration projects that are within critical areas, shorelines or their required buffers are permitted subject to the applicable requirements within this Title.
- 2. Restoration projects that achieve the objectives within the Restoration Plan (APPENDIX B) shall have priority over other restoration projects.
- 3. Whenever feasible, restoration projects that have been identified in the Bellingham Bay Demonstration Pilot Project Comprehensive Strategy and Habitat Documentation Report shall be implemented as required as development occurs within or adjacent to those areas specified.
- 4. Whenever feasible, restoration opportunities specified in the WFG Framework Plan and within the 'Early Action Items' shall be implemented as required as development occurs within or adjacent to those areas.
- 5. Future restoration plans that are developed shall include input and coordination from federal, state and local agencies and governments with jurisdiction as well as special interest and non-profit groups, private firms and the general public.
- 6. Restoration projects that include structural modification or stabilization shall first consider bioengineered techniques as specified in BMC 22.08.120 *Shoreline Modification / Stabilization*.
- 7. 8. Restoration projects shall be designed such that there are no adverse impacts on ecological resources or functions within the same watershed or sub-drainage.
- 8. Restoration projects shall include a maintenance and monitoring plan financial surety that includes a guarantee and/or contingency plan when said project does not achieve its intended objective.
- 9. Restoration projects shall take into consideration existing and lawfully erected structures and developments such that their safety is not compromised. Restoration projects shall not conflict with existing utilities, roadways and public access points unless those functions can be relocated such that the public benefit remains the same or is improved.

- 10. Restoration projects that change the location of the OHWM and thereby alter land areas within shoreline jurisdiction shall comply with the following:
 - a. The restoration plan shall be reviewed and approved by the Department of Ecology Bellingham Field Office and the Director of the Planning and Community Development Department.
 - b. Property owners that would have all or portions of their property encumbered by new shoreline jurisdiction or new shoreline buffers as a result of a restoration project shall be provided with proper notice prior to approval of the project as stated in a above.
 - c. Where pre-restoration buffer and setback standards are established as specified in Section 22.08.10.B.5, *Shoreline Buffers*, the responsible party shall survey the buffer and record it against the title of the subject property(s). Said buffer shall also be marked in the field by an appropriate means. All subsequent development shall conform to the pre-restoration buffer. This requirement also applies to restoration that is a required element of a shoreline permit and as specified in subsection e, below.
 - d. When restoration occurs abutting a developed property that is presently nonconforming, the requirements in c. above shall apply, and all subsequent development shall comply with Section 22.05.40, *Nonconformity*.
 - e. Restoration projects shall be designed to provide at least the minimum functions necessary for the given objectives of the project and shall be consistent with the Functional Analysis for the subject reach per the 2004 Shoreline Characterization and Inventory.

22.09.110 ROADS, RAILWAYS, AND UTILITIES

Roads, railways and utilities are necessary to provide efficient public circulation and the shipment of goods and services. These transportation circuits can include but are not limited to roads, highways and interstates, rail lines and spurs, public service water and sewer mains, power generation, transmission and distribution facilities, and wireless communication facilities.

- 1. All new roadways, arterials, utilities and railways, (which by definition, include expansions of these systems), should be designed and located to minimize impacts to shoreline ecological function including riparian and near-shore areas, channel migration zones and the natural landscape.
- 2. Location and design of new roadways including arterials should not compromise existing and planned shoreline public access and existing and planned habitat restoration and enhancement.
- 3. New roadways including arterials, when necessary to be located within shorelines, should be designed in such a manner that the minimum width of travel-way for vehicles is provided and that an appropriate amount of travel-way is devoted to the pedestrian and/or multi-modal forms of transportation.

In this case, 'appropriate' is determined on a case-by-case basis with consideration given to achieving a no net loss of shoreline ecological function, proximity and connection to existing and planned multi-modal travel routes and existing or planned shoreline public access.

- 4. New roadways, especially arterials, should not be located parallel to shorelines. When new roadways, including arterials, are necessary to be located parallel to the shoreline due to topographic or parcel dimension constraints or due to existing structures such as buildings and railways or planned public facilities, said roadway should be designed to be the minimum length necessary to serve a circulation function for vehicular modes of travel.
- 5. When it is required for new roadways including arterials to be located within a critical area and/or its required buffer, the absolute minimum necessary amount of improved right-of-way should be developed.
- 6. New roadways including access roads and driveways associated with a permitted use should be the minimum necessary to serve the required access function.
- 7. New roadways including arterials should be designed and constructed to implement a range of available Low Impact Development techniques.
- 8. Utilities for the delivery of services and products such as but not limited to public sewer, water and storm mains and services, pipelines, power and transmission facilities should be located outside of shorelines (or placed underground), and critical areas and their associated buffers unless intended specifically for a permitted use.
- 9. Whenever feasible, utilities should be co-located within existing right-of-way corridors.
- 10. Utilities within shorelines should be under-grounded and their visual impact minimized to the extend feasible.
- 11. Installation of utilities including maintenance and expansion of existing utilities should improve the project area from its original condition via native vegetation management, screening and aesthetic improvements, or providing public access to the shoreline when practical.
- 12. All structures associated with railroads or railways should be constructed such that they do not compromise the public's health, welfare, or ability to access the shoreline safely.
- 13. Circulation systems that have an interface with an established or proposed railway corridor should be coordinated such that the general public's health, welfare, and safety is the highest priority.

B. Regulations

1. New roadways, utilities and railways shall mitigate their impacts such that the result is a no net loss of shoreline ecological function.

- 2. New roadways, utilities and railways shall comply with the applicable requirements in BMC 22.04 and 22.08 and the submittal requirements as specified in Chapter 22.06
- 3. When existing roadways, utilities or railways must be expanded and are presently located within shorelines or a required buffer, there shall be no net loss of shoreline ecological function including impacts to channel and near-shore migration.
- 4. Design and location of new roadways shall not compromise existing or planned public access improvements and existing or planned habitat restoration and enhancement.
- 5. New roadways, especially arterials, when located within shorelines and/or required buffers, shall have the minimum amount of travel way devoted to vehicular and truck traffic in order to serve a circulation function, and an appropriate amount of improvements devoted to pedestrians and/or multimodal forms of transportation.
- 6. New roadways, especially arterials that are necessary to be located parallel to the shoreline due to topographic or parcel dimension constraints or due to existing structures such as buildings and railways or planned public facilities, shall be designed to have the minimum length necessary to serve a circulation function.
- 7. New roadways or utilities that must cross a shoreline shall first demonstrate that there is no feasible alternative. If there is no feasible alternative, said roads and/or utilities shall be designed to cross at or as near to a perpendicular angle and shall not be greater than 30 feet in width in order to minimize the potential impacts to shoreline ecological function including but not limited to downstream movement of LWD and gravel / cobble / sediment and shoreline and stream meander. Said crossings shall be designed according to the technical manuals for such features published by the Washington State Department of Fish and Wildlife and the National Marine Fisheries Service.
- 8. Public parking on new roadways is not permitted within any required buffer.
- 9. Access roads and/or drive lanes for water-dependent or water-related uses are allowed within required buffers and shall be designed to be the minimum width necessary and as perpendicular to the shoreline in order to serve an access function.
- 10. New utilities shall avoid critical areas to the maximum extent feasible.
- 11. Where new public or private utilities must cross a shoreline, the applicant shall demonstrate that boring underneath the shoreline including the hyporheic zone and outside of the CMZ cannot be achieved.
- 12. New utilities when necessary to be located within shorelines shall be located underground. This requirement does not include a water-dependent generation or transmission facility such as a desalination plant, bio-diesel facility, water-intake or pump / lift stations.

- 13. New utility systems should be co-located with other existing or planned utilities, roadways and/or railways and/or placed within already disturbed or impacted corridors whenever possible.
- 14. New utilities, when necessary to be located parallel to shorelines in a declining or downhill riparian area, shall not be located within any required buffer unless a critical area report and analysis can demonstrate that there is no net loss to shoreline ecological function and the net environmental result is positive.
- 15. Where new utilities are necessary within shorelines, the installation area shall be improved from its pre-existing condition. This requirement shall not apply when there is an overriding need for the general public to have the ability to access the shoreline in the same location as specified by the Parks and Recreation Department.
- 16. New railways shall be designed and located such that they do not compromise the general public's ability to access the shoreline safely.
- 17. New railways that have an interface with existing or planned circulation systems shall be designed such that the general public's safety is the highest priority.
- 18. Cell towers are a non-water-oriented use and are prohibited within shorelines.

22.010 22.10 DEFINITIONS

- A. The following definitions shall be used when interpreting this Program.
 - Accessory Development" means any development, structure or use customarily incidental to and subordinate to a primary use of a shoreline site and located on the same lot.
 - 2. Adverse impact A reasonable likelihood (or probability) of a significant, i.e. a more than moderate, adverse impact on environmental quality, i.e., an element of the environment per the Washington State Environment Protection Act, SEPA (WAC 197-11).
 - 3. Alteration Any human induced change in an existing condition of a critical area or its buffer. Alterations include but are not limited to grading, filling, channelizing, dredging, clearing (vegetation), construction, compaction, excavation, or any other activity that changes the character of the critical area.
 - 4. Anadromous Fish Fish that spawn and rear in freshwater and mature in the marine environment. While Pacific salmon die after their first spawning, adult char (bull trout), sea-run cutthroat and steelhead can live for many years, moving in and out of saltwater and spawning each year. The life history of Pacific salmon and char contains critical periods of time when these fish are more susceptible to environmental and physical damage than at other times. The life history of salmon, for example, contains the following stages: upstream migration of adults, spawning, inter-gravel incubation, rearing, smoltification (the time period needed for juveniles to adjust their body functions to live in the marine environment), downstream migration, and ocean rearing to adults.
 - 5. Appurtenance" means development that is necessarily connected to the use and enjoyment of a single family residence and is located landward of the OHWM and/or the perimeter of a wetland. Appurtenances include a garage, deck, driveway, utilities, fences and grading which does not exceed 250 cubic yards (except to construct a conventional drainfield).
 - 6. Averaging Establishing the required buffer setback from a critical area, within the permitted parcel of land only, so that areas within the parcel determined to be more environmentally sensitive than others will have a larger buffer than the less sensitive areas. For every increase in setback for one area of the parcel, there will be an equal corresponding decrease in another area of the parcel. The total land area within the buffer shall remain the same as if the buffer were a uniform width.
 - 7. Best Available Science Current scientific information used in the process to designate, protect, or restore critical areas that is derived from a valid scientific process as defined by WAC 365-195-900 through 925. Sources of the best available science are included in Citations of Recommended Sources of Best Available Science for Designating and Protecting Critical Areas

- published by the Washington State Department of Community, Trade and Economic Development.
- 8. Best Management Practices (BMPs) Conservation practices or systems of practices and management measures that:
 - a. Control soil loss and reduce water quality degradation caused by high concentrations of nutrients, animal waste, toxics, and sediment;
 - b. Minimize adverse impacts to surface water and ground water flow and circulation patterns and to the chemical, physical, and biological characteristics of wetlands;
 - c. Protect trees and vegetation designated to be retained during and following site construction and use native plant species appropriate to the site for revegetation of disturbed areas; and
 - d. Provide standards for proper use of chemical herbicides within critical areas.
 - e. The City shall monitor the application of best management practices to ensure that the standards and policies of this Title are adhered to.
- 9. Bioengineered Usually used in context with a shoreline modification where elements such as but not limited to sub-grade anchored drift logs, intense installation of native vegetation including shrubs and trees, large woody debris or clusters of anchored drift logs above-grade are installed, cobble/gravel/sand placement, earthen berms and any other stabilization measure that is not structurally engineered.
- 10. Bio-swale A bio-swale or bio-filtration trench is a vegetated stormwater treatment system that removes pollutants by means of sedimentation, filtration, soil adsorption, and plant uptake. They are typically configured as swales or filter strips. Boathouse An overwater structure, including covered moorage of any kind, that is designed and used to store any type of vessel and/or related gear.
- 11. Boathouse An overwater structure, including covered moorage of any kind that is designed and used to store any type of vessel and/or related gear.
- 12. Boating facilities When used in context of mooring facilities, this term excludes docks and mooring facilities serving four or fewer single-family residences and moorage facilities for nine or fewer vessels.
- 13. Boat lift A structure designed and operated to raise a boat above the surface of the water.
- 14. Bog A wetland with limited drainage generally characterized by extensive peat deposits and acidic waters. Vegetation includes sedges, sphagnum moss, shrubs, and trees.
- 15. Breakwater Offshore structure aligned parallel to shore, sometimes shore-connected, that provides protection from waves.

- 16. Buffer The area adjacent to a critical area that separates and protects the area from adverse impacts associated with adjacent uses.
- 17. Channel An open conduit for water either naturally or artificially created, but does not include artificially created irrigation, return flow, or stockwatering channels.
- 18. Channel Migration Zone (CMZ) The lateral extent of likely movement along a stream or river during the next one hundred (100) years as determined by evidence of active stream channel movement over the past one hundred (100) years. Evidence of active movement over the one hundred (100) year timeframe can be inferred from aerial photos or from specific channel and valley bottom characteristics. The time span typically represents the time it takes to grow mature trees that can provide functional large woody debris to streams. A CMZ is not typically present if the valley width is generally less than two (2) bank-full widths, if the stream or river is confined by terraces, no current or historical aerial photographic evidence exists of significant channel movement, and there is no field evidence of secondary channels with recent scour from stream flow or progressive bank erosion at meander bends. Areas separated from the active channel by legally existing artificial channel constraints that limit bank erosion and channel avulsion without hydraulic connections shall not be considered within the CMZ.
- 19. The City has conducted an analysis of CMZs that occur within shorelines. The supporting documentation is included in APPENDIX D.
- 20. Clearing The destruction or removal of vegetative ground cover, shrubs and trees including, but not limited to, root material removal and/or topsoil removal.
- 21. Confluence The point at which two or more streams come together.
- 22. Conservation Easement A legal agreement that the property owner enters into to restrict uses of the land. Such restrictions can include, but are not limited to, passive recreation uses such as trails or scientific uses and fences or other barriers to protect habitat. The easement is recorded on a property deed, runs with the land, and is legally binding on all present and future owners of the property, therefore, providing permanent or long-term protection.
- 23. Creation (Establishment) The manipulation of the physical, chemical, or biological characteristics present to develop a wetland on an upland or deepwater site, where a wetland did not previously exist. Activities typically involve excavation of upland soils to elevations that will produce a wetland hydro-period, create hydric soils, and support the growth of hydrophytic plant species. Establishment results in a gain in wetland acres.
- 24. Critical Areas Critical areas include any of the following areas or ecosystems: aquifer recharge areas, fish and wildlife habitat conservation areas, frequently flooded areas, geologically hazardous areas, and wetlands, as defined in RCW 36.70A and BMC 16.55.

- 25. Critical Habitat Habitat necessary for the survival of endangered, threatened, rare, sensitive or monitor species.
- 26. Culvert A pipe or concrete box structure that drains open channels, swales or ditches under a roadway or embankment; typically with no catch basins or manholes along its length.
- 27. Cumulative Impacts The combined, incremental effects of human activity on ecological or critical area functions and values. Cumulative impacts result when the effects of an action are added to or interact with other effects in a particular place and within a particular time. It is the combination of these effects, and any resulting environmental degradation, that should be the focus of cumulative impact analysis and changes to policies and permitting decisions.
- 28. Dedications Property dedicated to an entity (typically the City of Bellingham) to be preserved for open space or conservation / restoration area.
- 29. Delineation The precise determination of wetland boundaries in the field and the mapping thereof.
- 30. Development Means a use consisting of the construction or exterior alteration of structures, dredging, drilling, dumping, filling; removal of any sand, gravel or minerals; bulkheading; driving of piling; placing of obstructions; or any project of a permanent or temporary nature that interferes with the normal public use of the surface of the waters overlying lands subject to the Act at any state of water level. This term may include activities related to subdivision and short subdivisions; planned unit developments; clearing activity; fill and grade work; building or construction; and activities that are exempt from the substantial development permit process or that require a shoreline variance or conditional use..
- 31. Development Permit Any permit issued by the City, or other authorized agency, for construction, land use, or the alteration of land.
- 32. Director The director of the City Planning and Community Development Department or their designee.
- 33. Dolphin A cluster of piles bound together.
- 34. Dredging Any physical digging into the bedlands of a water body and subsequent removal of soil or other material.
- 35. Ecologic Function or Shoreline Ecological Function The work performed or role played by the physical, chemical, and biological processes that contribute to the maintenance of the aquatic and terrestrial environments that constitute the shoreline's natural ecosystem. See WAC 173-26-200(2)(c). Functions include but are not limited to habitat diversity, food chain support, and water quality protection and enhancement for fish and wildlife; flood storage, conveyance and attenuation; ground water recharge and discharge; erosion control; wave attenuation; protection from hazards; historical, archaeological, and aesthetic value protection; educational opportunities; and recreation.

- These beneficial roles are not listed in order of priority. Also referred to as functions or functions and values.
- 36. Enhancement The manipulation of the physical, chemical, or biological characteristics of a wetland site to heighten, intensify or improve specific function(s) or to change the growth stage or composition of the vegetation present. Enhancement is undertaken for specified purposes such as water quality improvement, flood water retention or wildlife habitat. Activities typically consist of planting vegetation, controlling non-native or invasive species, modifying site elevations or the proportion of open water to influence hydro-periods, or some combination of these. Enhancement results in a change in some wetland functions and can lead to a decline in other wetland functions, but does not result in a gain in wetland acres.
- 37. Erosion The process whereby wind, rain, water, and other natural agents mobilize and transport soil particles.
- 38. Erosion Hazard Areas At least those areas identified by the U.S. Department of Agriculture Natural Resources Conservation Service as having a "severe" rill and inter-rill erosion hazard.
- 39. Estuary The zone or area of water in which freshwater and saltwater mingle and water is usually brackish due to daily mixing and layering of fresh and salt water. Also includes pocket estuaries.
- 40. Feasible An action, such as a development, mitigation, or preservation requirement, meeting all of the following conditions:
 - a. The action can be accomplished with technologies and methods that have been used in the past in similar circumstances, or studies or tests have demonstrated in similar circumstances that such approaches are currently available and likely to achieve the intended results, and
 - b. The action provides a reasonable likelihood of achieving its intended results, and
 - c. The action does not physically preclude achieving the project's primary intended legal use, and
 - d. The action is consistent with applicable goals and policies within the 2006 City of Bellingham Comprehensive Plan.
- 41. In cases where this Program requires certain actions unless they are infeasible, the burden of proving infeasibility is on the applicant. In determining an action's infeasibility, the reviewing agency may weigh the action's relative public costs and public benefits, considered in the short and long term timeframes.
- 42. Filling Depositing dirt, mud or other materials into aquatic areas to create more dry land, usually for agricultural or commercial development purpose, often with ruinous ecological consequences.

- 43. Filtration Mechanism used where stormwater is filtered (treated) through a constructed system such as a sand trench, multi-cartridge stormwater vault, or bio-swale that does not percolate to the native soil layer but is discharged to a conveyance system after treatment.
- 44. Fish and Wildlife Habitat Conservation Areas (FWHCAs) Please see BMC 16.55.470
- 45. Floating Home An over water residence not designed, registered or used as a vessel, without adequate navigation and propulsion system, and usually requiring land-based services to function properly.
- 46. Flood or Flooding A general and temporary condition of partial or complete inundation of normally dry land areas from the overflow of inland waters and/or the unusual and rapid accumulation of runoff of surface waters from any source.
- 47. Floodplain The total land area adjoining a river, stream, watercourse, or lake subject to inundation by the base flood.
- 48. Floodplain (100-year floodplain) The land area susceptible to being inundated by steam derived waters with a 1 percent chance of being equaled or exceeded in any given year. The limits of this area are based on flood regulation ordinance maps (BMC 17.76) or a reasonable method that meets the objectives of the SMA (RCW90.58).
- 49. Forested Wetland A wetland with at least thirty percent (30%) of the surface area covered by woody vegetation greater than twenty (20) feet in height that is at least partially rooted within the wetland.
- 50. Frequently Flooded Areas Please refer to BMC 16.55.370.B. 1-3.
- 51. Functions or Functions and Values The beneficial roles served by critical areas including, but are not limited to, water quality protection and enhancement; fish and wildlife habitat; food chain support; flood storage, conveyance and attenuation; ground water recharge and discharge; erosion control; wave attenuation; protection from hazards; historical, archaeological, and aesthetic value protection; educational opportunities; and recreation. These beneficial roles are not listed in order of priority. Critical area functions can be used to help set targets (species composition, structure, etc.) for managed areas, including mitigation sites.
- 52. Geologically Hazardous Areas Areas that may not be suited to development consistent with public health, safety, or environmental standards, because of their susceptibility to erosion, sliding, earthquake, or other geological events as designated by WAC 365-190-080(4). Types of geologically hazardous areas include: erosion, landslide, seismic, mine, and volcanic hazards. See BMC 16.55.410.
- 53. Grading The physical manipulation of the earth's surface, soil conditions and/or drainage pattern in preparation for an intended use or activity.

- 54. Groin (also referred to as a spur dike or rock weir) A barrier-type structure extending from the backshore or stream bank into a water body for the purpose of the protection of a shoreline and adjacent upland by influencing the movement of water and/or deposition of materials.
- 55. Growth Management Act (GMA) RCW 36.70A as amended.
- 56. Habitat The combination of essential elements and ecological functions of natural systems that comprise the area or type of environment and its surroundings in which a particular kind of organism or ecological community normally lives or occurs. Habitat includes habitat forming processes, which are the system-wide ecological processes (chemical, physical and biological) that create and maintain habitat elements. It is the disturbance processes that create unique habitat elements, enhance natural productivity, and drive biological processes that contribute to the ecological complexity and integrity of natural systems.
- 57. Habitat Conservation Areas Areas designated as Fish and Wildlife Habitat Conservation Areas.
- 58. Habitats of Local Significance These areas include a seasonal range or habitat element with which a given species has a primary association, and which if altered may reduce the likelihood that the species will maintain and reproduce over the long-term. These might include areas of high relative density or species richness, breeding habitat, winter range, and movement corridors. These might also include habitats that are of limited availability or high vulnerability to alterations such as cliffs, talus, and wetlands. (WAC 365-190-030)
- 59. Hazard Areas Areas designated as frequently flooded areas or geologically hazardous areas due to potential for erosion, landslide, seismic activity, mine collapse, or other geological condition.
- 60. Hazard Tree Any tree or tree part, which poses a high risk of damage to persons or property.
- 61. Height Measured from the mean average grade of the site, which is the average of the elevations of the midpoints of all exterior walls within the shoreline jurisdiction.
- 62. High Blow-down Potential Usually indicates a small cluster of trees that are isolated and tend to be on windward ridges or in areas where high winds make them susceptible to being blown over and would be indicated as such by a certified arborist.
- 63. High Intensity Land Use (Wetland rating) Land use that includes the following uses or activities: commercial, urban, industrial, institutional, retail sales, residential (more than 1 unit/acre), high-intensity new agriculture (dairies, nurseries, greenhouses, raising and harvesting crops requiring annual tilling, raising and maintaining animals), high-intensity recreation (golf courses, ball fields), hobby farms.

- 64. Houseboat A vessel designated, registered and operated to be a live aboard with its own adequate means of propulsion, navigation and related vessel amenities.
- 65. Impervious Surface A hard surface area that either prevents or retards the entry of water into the soil mantle as under natural conditions prior to development, or that causes water to run off the surface in greater quantities or at an increased rate of flow from the flow present under natural conditions prior to development. Common impervious surfaces include, but are not limited to, rooftops, walkways, patios, driveways, parking lots or storage areas, concrete or asphalt paving, gravel roads, packed earthen materials, and oiled macadam or other surfaces which similarly impede the natural infiltration of stormwater.
- 66. Industrial Development means facilities for processing, manufacturing, and storage of finished or semi-finished goods, including but not limited to ship building and major repair, commercial storage and repair of fishing gear, warehousing
- 67. Infiltration The downward entry of water into the immediate surface of the soil.
- 68. Jetty A structure usually projecting out into the sea at the mouth of a river for the purpose of protecting a navigational channel or a harbor, or to influence water currents.
- 69. Live Aboard means any non-commercial habitations of a vessel when any one of the following applies:
 - a. Any person of succession of different persons resides on the vessel in a specific location, and/or in the same area on more than a total of thirty (30) days in an y forty (40) day period or on more than a total of ninety (90) days in any three hundred sixty-five (365) day period. "In the same area" means within a radius of one mile of any location where the same vessel previously moored or anchored on state-owned aquatic lands. A vessel that is occupied and is moored or anchored in the same area, but not for the number of days described in this subsection, is considered used as a recreational or transient vessel; or
 - b. The operator of the facility where the vessel is moored, through the moorage agreement, billing statement, or facility rules, defines the use as a residential use or identifies the occupant of the vessel as a resident of the vessel or of the facility; or
 - c. The occupant or occupants identify the vessel or the facility where it is moored as their residence for voting, mail, tax, and similar purposes.
- 70. Low Impact Development A method of managing stormwater that aims to mimic the predevelopment hydrologic conditions of the site by using existing soil, vegetation, and topography to detain runoff and remove pollutants.

- 71. Low-intensity Land Use (Wetland ratings) Land use that includes the following uses or activities: forestry (cutting of trees only), low-intensity open space (such as passive recreation and natural resources preservation), unpaved trails.
- 72. Marina System of piers, floats, buoys that provides private or public wet moorage for vessels for which a fee is charged and can also include launching facilities.
- 73. Marsh A wetland where the dominant vegetation is non-woody plants such as grasses and sedges, as opposed to a swamp where the dominant vegetation is woody plants such as trees.
- 74. Mature Forested Comprised of coniferous trees of at least 50 years in age and/or deciduous trees 30 years in age or a combination of trees representing a distinct layered canopy complex of immature woody vegetation less than 20 feet in height, trees of medium heights, typically 20 to 60 feet, and taller trees ranging from 60 to 90 feet or more in height inclusive of a diverse understory.
- 75. Mean Higher High Tide (MHHT) The average height of daily high tides. For the City of Bellingham, this elevation is 9.38 feet above sea level, City Datum NGVD29 or NAVD88.
- 76. Mine Hazard Areas Areas that are underlain by, adjacent to, or affected by mine workings such as adits, gangways, tunnels, drifts, or airshafts, and those areas of probable sink holes, gas releases, or subsidence due to mine workings. Factors that should be considered include proximity to development, depth from ground surface to the mine working, and geologic material.
- 77. Mitigation Measures taken to reduce, avoid, or rectify adverse impacts on the environment.
- 78. Moderate-intensity Land Use (Wetland ratings) Land use that includes the following uses or activities: residential (1 unit/acre or less), moderate-intensity open space (parks), moderate-intensity new agriculture (orchards and hay fields), paved trails, building of logging roads.
- 79. Monitoring Evaluating the impacts of development proposals on the biological, hydrological, and geological elements of natural systems, and assessing the performance of required mitigation measures through the collection and analysis of data by various methods for the purpose of understanding and documenting changes in natural ecosystems and features, including gathering baseline data.
- 80. Mosaic of Wetlands Any group of wetlands that meet the following criteria: Each patch of wetland is less than 1 acre (0.4 hectares), and each patch is less than 100 feet (30 meters) apart, on the average, and the areas delineated as vegetated wetland are more than 50% of the total area of the wetlands and the uplands together, or wetlands, open water, and river bars. If these criteria are not met, each area should be considered as an individual unit.

- 81. Multi-family Residence A building containing two or more dwelling units, including but not limited to duplexes, apartments, and condominiums.
- 82. Native Vegetation Plant species that are indigenous to the area.
- 83. Navigable Waters When used in context with commercial or industrial water-dependent and water-related uses, navigable waters means aquatic areas where draft is deep enough to accommodate the vessels that are inherent to the intended use. Navigable waters also include recreational accessible waters under the Public Trust Doctrine such as waters which can be accessed by recreational boats, including canoes and kayaks.
- 84. Neighborhood Plan Sub-elements of the Comprehensive Plan that specify uses allowed and densities required for specific neighborhoods.
- 85. Nexus A rational relationship between a probable adverse impact from a proposed development on a legitimate governmental interest or purpose. For example, the nexus between a proposal's predicted impact on a riparian area and documented current available inventory of the same riparian area (or buffer).
- 86. Nonconforming Structure or Building. A structure or building, the size, dimensions, or location of which was lawful prior to the adoption, revision, or amendment to the Code but that fails by reason of such adoption, revision, or amendment to conform to the present requirements of the current regulations.
- 87. Nonconforming Use. A use or activity that was lawful prior to the adoption, revision or amendment of the Code but that fails by reason of such adoption, revision, or amendment to conform to the present requirements of the current regulations.
- 88. Nonconforming Lot. A lot, the area, dimensions, or location of which was lawful prior to the adoption, revision, or amendment of the Code but that fails by reason of such adoption, revision, or amendment to conform to the present requirements of the current regulations.
- 89. No Net Loss of Ecologic Function Maintenance of the aggregate total of the City's shoreline ecological functions, including processes. (See definition of ecologic function.) The no net loss standard requires that the impacts of shoreline development and/or use, whether permitted or exempt, be identified and mitigated such that there are no resulting significant adverse impacts on shoreline ecological functions. Each project shall be evaluated based on its ability to meet the no net loss goal commensurate with the scale and character of the proposed development. The baseline for no net loss shall be the level of shoreline ecological functions and environmental resource productivity as established in the 2004 City of Bellingham Shoreline Characterization and Inventory and as established by a required critical area report as part of the application submittal requirements specified in ATTACHMENT 1.
- 90. Open Space Public or privately owned land that is undeveloped and may not be developed due to designation, deed restriction or conservation easement.

- 91. Ordinary High Water Mark (OHWM) The mark on lake, stream and marine shorelines which will be found by examining the beds and bank and ascertaining where the presence and action of waters are so common and usual, and so long continued in all ordinary years, as to mark upon the soil a character distinct from that of the abutting upland in respect to vegetation as that condition exists on June 1, 1971, as it may naturally change thereafter, or at it may change thereafter in accordance with permits issued by a local government or the Department of Ecology: Provided, that in any area where the ordinary high water mark cannot be found, the ordinary high water mark adjoining salt water shall be the line of mean higher high tide, and the ordinary high water mark adjoining fresh water shall be the line of mean high water which is elevation 9.38 feet City Datum, or as determined by the National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration in case of sea level rise, shall be used as the point of beginning for determining shoreline jurisdiction.
- 92. Photic Zone The area between the OHWM and approximately -30 feet Mean Lower Low Water (MLLW).
- 93. Practical Alternative An alternative that is available and capable of being carried out after taking into consideration cost, existing technology, and logistics in light of overall project purposes, and has less impacts to critical areas.
- 94. Preservation (Protection/ Maintenance) Removing a threat to, or preventing the decline of, wetland conditions by an action in or near a wetland. This includes the purchase of land or easements, repairing water control structures or fences, or structural protection such as repairing a barrier island. This term also includes activities commonly associated with the term "preservation." Preservation does not result in a gain of wetland acres, may result in a gain in functions, and will be used only in exceptional circumstances.
- 95. Primary Association Use of a habitat area by a listed or priority species for breading/spawning, rearing young, resting, roosting, feeding, foraging, and/or migrating on a frequent and/or regular basis during the appropriate season(s) as well as habitats that are used less frequently/regularly but which provide for essential life cycle functions such as breeding/nesting/spawning.
- 96. Protected marine waters waters which are not directly influenced by wave action or currents, or, those waters which are within the confines of a marina as defined.
- 97. Public Access The general public's ability to be in, on or traveling upon the water, get to the water's edge or have a view of the water and the shoreline.
- 98. Public Interest The community's concern with and right to long term protection of the public health, safety and welfare, which may be, or is likely to be, adversely impacted to a significant degree by particular uses or development actions, whether public or private.

- 99. Public Zone A zoned area or general use type intending to apply to major parcels of land within the city limits which are owned by public agencies and used for public purposes.
- 100. Qualified Professional A person with expertise in the pertinent scientific discipline directly related to the critical area in question. The qualified professional shall have a minimum of a B.S. or B.A., or equivalent certification, and a minimum of five years of directly related work experience.
- 101. Recharge The process involved in the absorption and addition of water to ground water.
- 102. Re-establishment The manipulation of the physical, chemical, or biological characteristics of a site with the goal of returning natural or historic functions to a former wetland. Activities could include removing fill material, plugging ditches, or breaking drain tiles. Re-establishment results in a gain in wetland acres.
- 103. Rehabilitation The manipulation of the physical, chemical, or biological characteristics of a site with the goal of repairing natural or historic functions of a degraded wetland. Activities could involve breaching a dike to reconnect wetlands to a floodplain or return tidal influence to a wetland. Rehabilitation results in a gain in wetland function but does not result in a gain in wetland acres.
- 104. Repair or Maintenance An activity that restores the character, scope, size, and design of a serviceable area, structure, or land use to its previously authorized and undamaged condition. Activities that change the character, size, or scope of a project beyond the original design and drain, dredge, fill, flood, or otherwise alter critical areas are not included in this definition.
- 105. Restoration The manipulation of the physical, chemical, or biological characteristics of a site with the goal of returning natural or historic functions to a former or degraded wetland. Includes "re-establishment" and "rehabilitation".
- 106. Right-of-way Land which is dedicated to a city for purposes of public circulation and/or utilities.
- 107. Riparian Habitat Area— (Also referred to as a 'buffer.') Areas adjacent to aquatic systems that contain elements of both aquatic and terrestrial ecosystems that mutually influence each other. The width of these areas extends to that portion of the terrestrial landscape that directly influences the aquatic ecosystem by providing shade, fine or large woody material, nutrients, organic and inorganic debris, terrestrial insects, or habitat for riparian-associated wildlife. Widths shall be measured from the ordinary high water mark or from the top of bank if the ordinary high water mark cannot be identified. It includes the entire extent of the floodplain and the extent of vegetation adapted to wet conditions as well as adjacent upland plant communities that directly influence the stream system. Riparian habitat areas

- include those riparian areas severely altered or damaged due to human development activities.
- 108. Rough Proportionality Test A case-by-case determination by the government that a particular condition of approval on a proposed project is reasonably related to both the character and the degree of a probable impact of the project on the public health, safety and welfare.
- 109. Sediment Transport The natural movement, transportation or relocation of weathered rock down a river, creek, or stream.
- 110. Seep A spot where water oozes from the earth, often forming the source of a small stream.
- 111. Seismic Hazard Areas Areas that are subject to severe risk of damage as a result of earthquake-induced ground shaking, slope failure, settlement, or soil liquefaction.
- 112. SEPA Washington State Environmental Policy Act, Chapter 43.21C RCW.
- 113. Setback The distance measured in feet that a particular land use or development footprint must be located from a required buffer edge.
- 114. Shall A mandate, the action must be done.
- 115. Shorelands Those lands extending landward for 200 feet in all directions as measured on a horizontal plane from the ordinary high water mark (OHWM) of SMA shorelines; all of the 100-year floodplain as measured from the edge of the associated floodway, except for Whatcom Creek east of I-5 i.e. Reach 4, 5 and a portion of 3, which includes only that floodplain portion within 200 feet of the floodway; and all wetlands and river deltas that are associated with the areas specified above and are subject to the provisions of RCW 90.58.
- 116. Shorelines All of the water areas of the state as defined in RCW 90.58.030 including reservoirs and their shorelands together with the lands lying underneath them except:
 - a. Shorelines of statewide significance; and
 - b. Shorelines on segments of streams upstream of a point where the mean annual flow is twenty (20) cubic feet per second or less and the wetlands associated with such upstream segments; and
 - c. Shorelines on lakes less than twenty (20) acres in size and wetlands associated with such small lakes.
- 117. Water areas of the state that are 'shorelines' within the City of Bellingham include Bellingham Bay, Lake Whatcom, Lake Padden, Squalicum, Whatcom and Chuckanut Creeks, and that portion of Padden Creek that is tidally influenced (upstream to McKenzie Avenue).
- 118. The Shoreline Base Maps indicate only which water bodies within the City are subject to shoreline jurisdiction and the regulations within this Program but NOT the extent of their associated jurisdictions.

- 119. Shoreline Management Act (SMA)– RCW 90.58
- 120. Shoreline Mixed Use Combination of water-oriented and non-water-oriented uses within the same structure or development area.
- 121. Shorelines of the State The total of all "shorelines," as defined in RCW 90.58.030(2)(d), and "shorelines of statewide significance" within the state, as defined in RCW 90.58.030(2)(c).
 - a. Shorelines of Statewide Significance (SSWS); (RCW 90.58.030.2.e.)
 - b. All waters of Puget Sound including Georgia Strait and the Strait of Juan de Fuca lying waterward of the extreme low tide line (MLLW) but not adjacent tidelands and shorelands (Waters of Bellingham Bay).
 - c. Lakes or reservoirs with a surface acreage of 1,000 acres or more (Lake Whatcom) and the shorelands adjacent to such per RCW 90.58.030
- 122. Should Means that the particular action is required unless there is a demonstrated, compelling reason, based on the policy of the Shoreline Management Act and this Title, against taking the action.
- 123. Significant Measurable, detectable or likely to have noticeable influence or effect.
- 124. Silt Fencing Fencing designed to prevent the loss of topsoil from site.
- 125. Single-family Residence A detached dwelling designed for and occupied by one family including those structures and developments within a contiguous ownership which are a normal appurtenance.
- 126. SMA Floodway RCW 90.58.030 2 g:
 - a. Areas flooded with reasonable regularity: "Those portions of the area of a river valley lying streamward from the outer limits of a watercourse upon which flood waters are carried during periods of flooding that occur with reasonable regularity, although not necessarily annually."
 - b. Identified by soil and vegetation: Floodway to be "identified, under normal condition, by changes in surface soil conditions or changes in types or quality of vegetative ground cover condition."
 - c. Not to include lands protected from floods by legal dikes and levees: "The floodway shall not include those lands that can reasonably be expected to be protected from flood waters by flood control devices maintained by or maintained under license from the federal government, the state, or a political subdivision of the state."
- 127. Small Wetland Creation Wetland created for the purpose of mitigation or habitat conservation
- 128. Soil Duff Partially decayed organic matter (leaves, twigs, needles) on top of the top layer of soil.
- 129. Soil Survey The most recent soil survey for the local area or county by the Natural Resources Conservation Service, U.S. Department of Agriculture.

- 130. Species Any group of animals classified as a species or subspecies as commonly accepted by the scientific community.
- 131. Species Habitat The specific area or environment in which a particular species of plant or animal lives. An organism's habitat must provide all of the basic requirements for life.
- 132. Species of Local Importance Those species of local concern due to their population status or their sensitivity to habitat manipulation, or that are game species.
- 133. Species, Priority Any fish or wildlife species requiring protective measures and/or management guidelines to ensure its persistence at genetically viable population levels as classified by the Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife, including endangered, threatened, sensitive, candidate and monitor species, and those of recreational, commercial, or tribal importance. WAC 173-26-020 (25).
- 134. Species, Threatened, Sensitive and Endangered As defined in both any fish or wildlife species that is likely to become an endangered species within the foreseeable future throughout a significant portion of its range without cooperative management or removal of threats, and is listed by the state or federal government as a threatened species. WAC 173-26-020 (25) and WAC 232-12-297.
- 135. Story That portion of a building included between the upper surface of any floor and the upper surface of the floor next above, except that the topmost story shall be that portion of a building included between the upper surface of the topmost floor and the ceiling or roof above. If the finished floor level directly above a basement, cellar, or unused under-floor space is more than 6' above grade, as defined in the building code adopted by the City, or more than 50% of the total perimeter or is more than 12' above grade as defined at any point, such basement, cellar or unused under floor space shall be considered a story..
- 136. Stream means those areas where surface waters produce a defined channel or bed. A defined channel or bed is an area that demonstrates clear evidence of the annual passage of water and includes, but is not limited to, bedrock channels, gravel beds, sand and silt beds, and defined channel swales. The channel or bed need not contain water year round. This definition includes drainage ditches or other artificial water courses where natural streams existed prior to human alteration.
- 137. Sub-basin or Sub-drainage Basin The drainage area of the highest order stream containing the subject property impact area. Stream order is the term used to define the position of a stream in the hierarchy of tributaries in the watershed. The smallest streams are the highest order (first order) tributaries. These are the upper watershed streams and have no tributaries of their own. When two first order streams meet, they form a second order stream, and

- when two second order streams meet they become a third order stream, and so on.
- 138. Substantial Development means any development of which the total cost or fair market value exceeds six-thousand four hundred sixteen dollars (\$6,416) or as amended by the state office of financial management, or any development which materially interferes with the normal public use of the water or shorelines of the State.
- 139. Surety A financial guarantee (bond or assignment of funds, or comparable instrument) established to ensure that work required by approval of a shoreline permit is completed satisfactorily.
- 140. Temporary means used or active for a limited and relatively short period of time. For purposes of this SMP, a temporary use is, in general, for not longer than three or four years and said use shall not make permanent improvements that cannot be abandoned when vacating the structure at the end of the temporary period.
- 141. Tidelands Land on the shore of marine water bodies between the line of ordinary high tide and the line of extreme low tide.
- 142. Total Maximum Daily Load (TMDL) of Pollutants Established for waterways which fail to meet certain standards for water quality. Describes the amount of each pollutant a waterway can receive without violating water quality standards; takes into account pollution from all sources.
- 143. Unavoidable Adverse impacts that remain after all appropriate and practicable avoidance and minimization have been achieved.
- 144. Unprotected waters surface water that is not protected by breakwater, jetty or groin and is under direct influence of wave and or current.
- 145. Vessel means a floating structure that is designed primarily for navigation, is normally capable of self-propulsion and is used as a means of transportation, and meets all applicable laws and regulations pertaining to navigation and safety equipment on vessels, including, but not limited to, registration as a vessel by an appropriate government agency.
- 146. Waterfront District Formerly referred to as the 'New Whatcom Special Development Area.' The area has been renamed the 'Waterfront District.' Other applicable phrases that are related to this area include 'Waterfront District Master Plan' and 'Development Agreement.'
- 147. Water Quality A term used to describe the chemical, physical, and biological characteristics of water, usually in respect to its suitability for a particular purpose.
- 148. Water Quality Standards State-adopted and EPA-approved ambient standards for water bodies. The standards prescribe the use of the water body and establish the water quality criteria that must be met to protect designated uses.

- 149. Water-dependent A use or portion of a use which cannot exist in any other location and is dependent on the water by reason of the intrinsic nature of its operations. Examples of water-dependent uses may include ship cargo terminal loading areas, ferry and passenger terminals, barge loading facilities, ship building and dry docking, marinas, boat ramps and transient moorage, aquaculture, float plane facilities and sewage treatment outfalls.
- 150. Water-enjoyment A recreational or other use facilitating public access to the shoreline as a primary characteristic of the use. A water-enjoyment use also provides for recreational use or aesthetic enjoyment of the shoreline for a substantial number of people as a general characteristic of the use and which through the location, design and operation assures the public's ability to enjoy the physical and aesthetic qualities of the shoreline. In order to qualify as a water-enjoyment use, the use must be open to the general public and the shoreline-oriented space within the project must be devoted to the specific aspects of the use that fosters shoreline enjoyment. Primary water-enjoyment uses may include, but are not limited to, parks, piers, view towers, interpretive centers and other improvements facilitating public access to shorelines of the state. General water-enjoyment uses may include but are not limited to restaurants, museums, aquariums, scientific/ecological reserves, resorts and convention centers, and public markets, PROVIDED, that such uses conform to the above water-enjoyment specifications and the provisions of the Master Program.
- 151. Water-oriented Refers to any combination of water-dependent, water-related, and/or water-enjoyment uses and serves as an all encompassing definition for priority uses under the SMA.
- 152. Non-water-oriented Uses Describes those uses which have little or no relationship to the shoreline and are not considered priority uses under the SMA. Examples include professional offices, automobile sales or repair shops, mini-storage facilities, multi-family residential development, retail facilities, department stores and gas stations.
- 153. Water-related A use or a portion of a use which is not intrinsically dependent on a waterfront location but whose economic viability is dependent upon a waterfront location because:
 - a. There exists a functional requirement for a waterfront location such as the arrival or shipment of materials by water or the need for large quantities of water, or
 - b. The use provides a necessary service supportive of the water-dependent commercial or industrial activities and the proximity of the use to its customers makes its services less expensive and/or more convenient. Examples include, but should not be limited to, manufacturers of large materials for which transportation cost becomes a significant factor, professional services serving primarily water-dependent activities, warehousing of goods transported by water, seafood processing plants,

- hydroelectric generating plants, gravel storage when transported by barge, oil refineries where transport is by tanker and log storage.
- 154. Watershed The entire region drained by a waterway that drains into a lake, reservoir, bay, or other water body; the total area above a given point on a stream that contributes water to the flow at that point; the topographic dividing line from which surface streams flow in two different directions.
- 155. Weir An obstruction placed in a stream/river intended to back-up or divert the flow of water or net/trap species or objects that make their way past a certain point.
- 156. Wetland Types The descriptive wetlands taxonomic classification system of the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service.
- 157. Wetlands Areas that are inundated or saturated by surface water or ground water at a frequency and duration sufficient to support, and that under normal circumstances do support, a prevalence of vegetation typically adapted for life in saturated soil conditions. Wetlands generally include swamps, marshes, bogs, and similar areas. Wetlands do not include those artificial wetlands intentionally created from non-wetland sites, including, but not limited to, irrigation and drainage ditches, grass-lined swales, canals, detention facilities, wastewater treatment facilities, farm ponds, and landscape amenities, or those wetlands created after July 1, 1990, that were unintentionally created as a result of the construction of a road, street, or highway. Wetlands may include those artificial wetlands intentionally created from non-wetland areas created to mitigate conversion of wetlands.
- 158. Zoning To designate by ordinance, including maps, areas of land reserved and regulated for specific land uses.

B. ACRONYMS

ADA	Americans with Disabilities Act	
ACZA	Ammoniacal copper zinc arsenate	
BMC	E I	
CMZ	Channel migration zone	
CPTED	Crime Prevention through Environmental Design	
DNR	Washington State Department of Natural Resources	
EPA	United States Environmental Protection Agency	
FWHCA	Fish and Wildlife Habitat Conservation Area	
GMA	Growth Management Act	
ICT	Inter-jurisdictional Coordinating Team	
LID	Low Impact Development	
LWD	Large woody debris	
LWMP	Lake Whatcom Management Program	
MHHT	Mean higher high tide	
MLLW	Mean lower low water	
WDSDA	Waterfront District Special Development Area	
OHWM	Ordinary high water mark	
RCW	Revised Code of Washington	
SBO	Silver Beach Ordinance	
SCI	2004 City of Bellingham Shoreline Characterization and Inventory	
SEPA		
SMA	Shoreline Management Act	
SMP	Shoreline Master Program	
SSWS		
TMDL	MDL Total maximum daily load	
USC	United States Code	
WAC	Washington Administrative Code	
WDFW		
WDMP	VDMP Waterfront District Master Plan	
WFG	WFG Waterfront Futures Group	

1	22.11	SHORELINE DESIGNATION MAPS, SHORELINES OF
2		STATEWIDE SIGNIFICANCE AND DEVELOPMENT
3		REGULATION MATRICES
4	22	2.11.10 SHORELINE DESIGNATION MAPS
5	22	2.11.20 SHORELINES OF STATEWIDE SIGNIFICANCE MAP
6	22	2.11.30 DEVELOPMENT REGULATION MATRICES
7		
8	A	. Natural
9	В	Urban Conservancy
10	C. Shoreline Residential	
11	D. Urban Maritime	
12	E. Aquatic	
13	F.	Waterfront District
14		
15		
16		

2

3

APPENDIX A – SHORELINE CHARACTERIZATION AND INVENTORY

2

APPENDIX B – RESTORATION PLAN

2

3

APPENDIX C – SHORELINE ENVIRONMENTAL DESIGNATION CRITERIA

2

APPENDIX D – CMZ DOCUMENTATION

1	This page intentionally left blank
2	
3	
4	
5	
6	
7	
8	
9	
10	
11	
12	
13	
14	
15	
16	